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WISDOM INHERITED. JOURNEY ENDURES

——— WITH ONE HEART,
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“With One Heart e Lightning Speed ® Turning the Tide” These three principles embody the Group’s

approach to steady growth, unifying our team, enhancing operational efficiency, and breaking
through conventional boundaries to create long-term value for shareholders.
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In the face of an uncertain
market environment, “With
One Heart” serves as
the foundation of Karrie’s
steady progress. We place
great importance on
teamwork and alignment
across all levels, from
management to the front
line, working together to
implement each strategic
initiative with cohesion and
strong execution, ensuring
the Group moves forward
with stability amidst
change.
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“Lightning Speed” is about
moving with purpose and
efficiency. We continuously
optimize capacity and
streamline workflows to
accelerate decision-making
and resource deployment,
ensuring fast, precise
responses to customer and
market needs.

TURNING THE TIDE

EMA B AESEH - &
BEFFREFES - %
WM RIET - RWRB R
Hl - EREEAR ETESR
RIFHENR - AARKRERE
AFrEhge o

Driving forward with the
spirit of “Turning the tide”,
we actively expand into
new platforms, engage new
customers and embrace
technological innovation
to push beyond limits,
relentlessly pursuing
breakthroughs and
growth and injecting new
momentum into its future
development.
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Mr. YAM Chung Shing (Chairman)
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Dr. LAU Kin Wah (Chairman) (re-designated
on 6 September 2024)
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Key Information for Shareholders

FERRESR

FINANCIAL CALENDAR 2025
Financial Year End
31 March 2025

Announcement of 2024/25 results
25 June 2025

Last day to register for the entitlement to attend and
vote at the 2024/25 Annual General Meeting
29 August 2025

2024/25 Annual General Meeting
5 September 2025

Last day to register for 2024/25
Final Dividends
10 September 2025

2024/25 Final Dividend expected Payment Date

30 September 2025
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SHARE CAPITAL g 7=
As at
BZE
31 March 2025 30 June 2025
—EB-EHF —E-RHF
=HB=+—H NA=1H
Authorised (HK$) ERE (BT 400,000,000 400,000,000
Issued (HK$) (excluding Treasury ERTET)(TEERE
Shares) =R 1) 202,111,320 202,111,320

MARKET CAPITALISATION
As at 31 March 2025
(Closing Price: HK$0.82)
HK$1,657,312,824

As at 30 June 2025
(Closing Price: HK$0.88)
HK$1,778,579,616

™{E
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(KH{E:0.82%8T)
1,657,312,8247% 7T

BEE-—_E-_#%,~A=1+H
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Key Information for Shareholders

STOCK CODE

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”)

Main Board

1050

BOARD LOT

2,000 ordinary shares of Karrie International Holdings
Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”) (the “Share(s)”)

SHAREHOLDER SERVICES

Any matters relating to your shareholding, such as transfer
of shares, change of name or address, and loss of share
certificates should be addressed in writing to the Hong
Kong branch share registrar of the Company:

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Rooms 1712-16, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2862-8628

Fax: (852) 2529-6087

INVESTOR RELATIONS
For enquiries, please contact:

Ms. Lam Nok Wun, lsabella
Senior Corporate Communications Manager

Karrie International Holdings Limited
9th Floor, Southeast Industrial Building
611-619 Castle Peak Road

Tsuen Wan, New Territories

Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2411-0913
Fax: (852) 2415-1608
Email: ir@karrie.com
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Corporate Calendar

TR AREH®

6H

June

7R
July

8H
August

SERBERMERDEEHBETLORBETETHER,  REBENEERR
MENESRA  BREBRERBER -

The Group's Thailand factory has successfully fulfilled its first data center
related orders for a new customer, earning recognition for its production
capabilities and delivery competence, with related business showing steady
growth

BT B S B R EE S (UNICEF)H % “Say Yes To Breastfeeding & 7L &%
MREIEREE PEEMNBREXREIRGESBEX -
The Group was consecutively awarded the “Say Yes To Breastfeeding Friendly
Workplace” certificate by UNICEF Hong Kong, demonstrating Karrie’s
unwavering support for employee welfare and social care culture.

MEBLLEBZERARAIZBLFRTESTRERZEERE A%
“HE+XA—BRER -

Mr. Lam Yin Shing Donald was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director and member of the Audit Committee of the Company, effective 1
July 2024.

BHERBNEBRERAE  BHEFEINELER THBHETED
EHBEREEEMKE -

The Group hosted its inaugural Share Award Presentation Ceremony to
commend outstanding employees for their exceptional contributions, while
encouraging all staff to drive long-term value creation and performance
growth.

EREEREEBFEIBIERBAS X FTATE|JFTE BSuper MD * B E &= 1l
EATHBIEZER EORARA -

The Group was accredited as a “Super MD” under the Employee Retraining
Board (ERB) Manpower Developer Award Scheme, recognising its sustained
investment in talent training and development.

REFREBLRERRFRALARERABOF+HER) BEER
FREMERBKNFELELNHELN -

The Group received the BOC Hong Kong Corporate Low-Carbon
Environmental Leadership Award (10 Years+ EcoPioneer), acknowledging its
ongoing efforts in energy conservation, carbon reduction, and sustainable
operations.

Ja]

%

BETEARGERERZtnergywiSeEE - ZE RN RN LHIAGE ©
The Group was awarded the Energywi$e Certificate under the Hong Kong
Green Organisation Certification, underpinning Karrie’s commitment to
energy efficiency.

EAKY TREFERL  BRMANETREN  MENEmMAEN
=o

The Group officially established its new Engineering & R&D Centre,
strengthening its innovation and engineering capabilities and accelerating
new product development.

6 KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZRI BB ZERE R 2 A



Corporate Calendar

TERAREH®

SEEBIIXBELIRBHREIFUBEBEARIRIRBES £ &

9A RexdeaEim-
The Group received the “Excellence in Caring Award” and “Leap Forward
Progress Award” under the Industrial Care Recognition Scheme, reflecting its
strong commitment to corporate social responsibility.
REFETNECREHEREIRBAREFEINN0+FHEREF
Rl RERAZFERERELE BOLEEEREREREHRER
ERERETENFERR -
The Group was honoured with the “10+ Outstanding Enterprise Certificate”
under the Partner Employer Award Scheme by the Hong Kong General
Chamber of Small & Medium Business, in recognition of its long-term
contributions to ethical business conduct, corporate responsibility, and
fostering a positive commercial ecosystem with supply chain partners.
BRENGHEBE EQRE ABLENAFRIEESHEFANS

104 BERR BEEPEAD)RENE LEERZIEHAE] YEEHE
October NEEHTNASIANHEEXE) -

Owing to outstanding performance in quality consistency, product assurance,

September

automation innovation, and efficient execution of new projects, the Group
received high commendations from Dell and was presented with the
“Excellence Award,” underscoring its professional execution capability.

REZHRESFEII0+HR RREEEBTIRAGERBNERS

HNEEEE -
The Group was named an “All-round MPF Good Employer 10+,” reflecting

its exceptional practices in employee retirement protection and benefits

management.
KREBEENRERRA - BFESG One Membership& 1§ - #E— P REE
18 EERR HERELRZAEFEEREAR -

November The Group obtained the ESG One Membership certification from the Hong
Kong Productivity Council, further emphasising its continuous commitment to

environmental, social, and governance standards.

RERZEERBE_TFEHABRRANIOMSEMEERHE LMRH
XFREHRE  NECHHIBARHE UREMNEFTHRERBEMER
HETEBIAROHE -
128 - , ol
In recognition of the Group’s outstanding effort and cooperation in the
production and shipment of NEC magnetic-tape products over the past 20
years, NEC extended a letter of appreciation, expressing sincere gratitude for
Karrie's quality contribution for the 10th-generation product.

December

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 4 %} 7




Corporate Calendar

EXREHRE

RZZ-RF-A+H SERMITLIHEZTHE  FENS.02ERHK (K
AILBERBTRBUNFEEREFNLXETEEA@BELN70,019FTKL
T KREFERNZMER L2 HEEL N AURERRBERNEHE
BEM NBERBIER ER2HEARENEFIRER  LE-—FEL
HEEmR KRB EEE NS -

On 10 January 2025, the Group announced a land acquisition agreement
to purchase approximately 70,019 sqm in Amata Industrial Park, Chonburi,
Thailand, for around THB 502 million (approximately HKD115 million). The
site will be developed into a new production facility for server chassis and
related peripheral products, expanding overseas capacity, aligning with global
server demand, and optimising supply chain footprint and regional resilience.

1A

January

R-Z-hE—A+tH KEAHILEERZE  HRARIEIRELN0349
FHOREERE BERR TBLEEKNEARM -

On 10 January 2025, the Group entered into a lease agreement for
approximately 10,349 sqm of factory space in Amata Industrial Park,
designated for warehousing, injection lines, and tooling development
department.

EXNTERUREREREMRERIXEMBI M B ERENRMNZ
FomREEBIINERBBNEL EH

The handover of the acquired land and leased factory in Amata Industrial
Park, Chonburi, Thailand, has been successfully completed, laying a solid
foundation for the Group’s overseas capacity expansion.

3R RENBERZEGRARBRARENRUFERERER L QAR
March WARIXCXIRB FERNEXH /R ERREEHHEOEZHH
BEHRR -
The Group received the “Top 10 Industrial Exporters by Export Volume
in Fenggang Town 2024” award from the Fenggang Town Committee and
People’s Government, recognising its outstanding contributions to local
economic development and export trade.

48 BEEREZERERBERGHRRRAEEUHRE]
The Group received the “Mental Health Friendly Supreme Organisation”

gl recognition from Occupation Safety and Health Council of Hong Kong.
AETELEEZERARAZHTES AT _AF AA-tHEEL

6H e

June Mr. Ho Wai Hon, Brian was appointed as an Executive Director of the

Company, effective 24 June 2025.

8 KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZRI BB ZERE R 2 A
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Revenue (HK$ million)

BA (HE%T)
3,473 938 779
680 2,916

2793 3,075 3,082

2021 2022 2023 2024

Continuing operations
BRISERE
Discontinued operations
BRIEEEE

Basic earnings per share (HK cents)

BREANER (GBAL)

27.2
223
19.1
I I :

3,231

2025

10.1

*2021 *2022 *2023 2024

Include discontinued operations

BEERILBERY

2025

Financial Highlights
MBEBRE

Profit for the year (HK$ million)
FE=RAN (BE&AT)

549

445
286

386
204 204
170
263
182

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

- Continuing operations
BRISERE

- Discontinued operations
BRIEEEEE

Dividends per share (HK cents)
sRKRE (GBl)

11.5
9.5
I 8] SFS| 5.5

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
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Financial Highlights
MBRE

Turnover percentage by business

BREBEINEXERDR

I Metal and Plastic Business
heBBEY

[0 Electronics Manufacturing Services Business

ETERATIRS

Turnover percentage by geographical location
(based on the country in which the final
destination of shipment is located or services are
provided)

RERMEBEINEXERIIR
(REERNEENGIBBREXAERRD &)
Il japan ¥ Hong Kong Mainland China

A7 e RN

Asia (excluding Japan, Hong Kong and Mainland China)
M (MERERA - FERTEAL)

North America*

SIS

W Western Europe
i

20%

2025 8%

23%
1%//. 5

21%

2024 8%

// 19%
1%

2025 2024 % Changes

8- —ZTomE Bt
HKS million BEET
Revenue KA 3,231 2,916 1%
Gross profit £ 472 370 28%
Operating profit g 285 228 25%
Profit for the year FRAMN 204 170 20%
Total assets BEMBE 2,533 2,403 5%
Total equity BEER 1,079 993 9%
In Million HER
Number of Shares anE- ¢! 2,021 2,021 —
Per Share Data BREH
HK cents Al
Basic earnings EXGEA 10.1 8.4 20%
Diluted earnings BERan 10.1 8.4 20%
Total cash dividends per Share gRAETERE 5.5 5.5 —
Net asset value per Share BREEFE 53 49 8%
Financial Ratios BB =
Gross profit margin (%) 18 B E F (%) 14.6 12.7 15%
Net profit margin (%) BB (% 6.3 5.8 9%
Current ratio mEE 1.2 1.1 9%
Quick ratio RE = 0.8 0.7 14%
Net gearing ratio (%) FERENE%) 43 39 10%
Interest coverage MERE L% 9.7 7.5 29%
Dividend payout (%) EELE%® 54.5 65.5 -17%
Revenue to net bank borrowings WABZERTREEL X 9.4 7.7 22%
Non-current assets to total equity (%) FRBEERES BENLE%) 105.8 106.7 1%

* The direct shipments to the US that might be subject to the US import tariff accounted for approximately 1% of its
total turnover for the year ended 31 March 2025.
* BEZCAF-A=ST-BULFE BEREAXBEZEVIRTHMCEEORN  HGHEBEEEEZ1% -

10 KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED E R B R ZERE R 2 7



DEFINITIONS

Basic earnings

Profit attributable to equity shareholders

per Share

Diluted earnings

Weighted average number of Shares

Profit attributable to equity shareholders

per Share

Net asset value

Diluted weighted average number of Shares

Net assets

per Share Number of Shares as at year end
Gross profit Gross profit

margin (%) Revenue

Net profit Profit for the year
margin (%) Revenue

Current assets

Current ratio

Current liabilities

Current assets less inventories

Quick ratio

Net gearing
ratio (%)

Current liabilities

Bank horrowings, leased liabilities and loan from a

controlling shareholder less
cash and bank deposits

Interest coverage

Total equity

Earnings before interest expenses,
tax, depreciation and amortisation

Dividend

Interest expenses

Dividend per Share

payout (%)

Revenue to net

Earnings per Share

Revenue

bank borrowings

Non-current assets

Bank borrowings less cash and bank deposits

Non-current assets

to total equity (%)

Total equity

x 100%

x 100%

x 100%

Financial Highlights

ek
BABANELER
BREREF
. NETHRE
RN L
SREFEET
T ganaTny
EEEHE
SREEFE
- FERE
£
BEEF % 100%
(%) A X
ERRT
B (%) & x 100%
WA
RHAE
T :
Rk paE
YRR &
EES '
b RBaE
BAEE MEAER
TaE RRERETA
H & () ReRETRR
grheE
YEE TR
Flemepx  HE REREHANET
Hex
SRk e
8B — 100%
Fh & H
WABRFHH KA
EELE RTEERRS REARER
FHHEES FrBEE
BRBELEY ExmE
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Chairman's Statement

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND RESULTS
For the year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Year”), the
Group was principally engaged in:

M

12

Metal and Plastic Business (“M&P”): providing
mechanical engineering solutions, manufacturing
and sales of metal and plastic parts, mainly including
moulds and the relevant plastic and metal parts
products for information and communication
technology industry, etc.; and

Electronic Manufacturing Services Business (“EMS”):
manufacturing and sales of magnetic tape data
storage, point-of-sale system, and other computer
peripherals, etc.

Business Review
I.  Results

(@ For the year ended 31 March 2025,
the revenue of the Group from was
HK$3,231,329,000, representing an increase
of approximately 11% as compared to last
year (for the year ended 31 March 2024:
HK$2,915,981,000). Profit attributable to
the equity shareholders of the Company
amounted to HK$204,481,000 (for the year
ended 31 March 2024: HK$169,659,000),
which increased by approximately 21% as
compared to last year. Increment for the
year ended 31 March 2025 was mainly
attributable to the rapid expansion of
the application of generative artificial
intelligence (“Al”), which drove the
significant increase in demand for highly
efficient servers around the world. Certain
new generation server orders of the Group
have proceeded to mass production, driving
the economy of scale and promoting
the overall gross profit and profitability.
Meanwhile, operation of our plant in
Thailand is becoming more sophisticated
and its production process is efficient and
stable. Together with the increase in client
orders, the effects of production expansion
are gradually materializing and bring
positive contribution to the Group during
the year. In addition, the Group successfully
expanded product orders beyond servers,
including rack parts, network exchanger
casings, electric vehicle charger station
casings, which in turn diversified our
revenue sources.

FEEBRRES
BE-_ZEZ_RF=A=+—HILE(XE

El) SEFTERSE:

FeBBEB(ESBR)) 2 H#
BB IEBRTR HERHEE
TELBRBEMG TERBEEM
MBAMXERZER HEZE
BRsBHHTERS &

— BEFEERIEB(EFRID :
%L&%Eﬁmif&ﬁkﬁﬁr“
H&zfﬁ*&/\,w&ﬁmﬂ‘“ B E

(-) #EKEHE
. ¥B&7H7E

@Q BE-_Z_-_HE=A
=t HLEFE &8
2 W A A&3,231,329,000
BrLTEHE_ZT_NF
—A=+—HLHEE

2,915,981,000 7T) & %=
Elﬁﬁﬂi“bﬂiﬁn%
MAQNRE=FEARE
b & A 7%204 481,000
/%71(%@:!:_ — g
—A=+t—HIEEE:
169,659,000/ T) = F
BEAE INT #4921% - EZE
—E-HF=A=+—H
FFEZEETERR
R AE A TE L (ADFE
ARARER  #E32
fj—ﬁm)d(ﬁbﬂﬂ&m;ﬁj:
BELHA -EEBDH
—RAKRBTECEE
EAEE TEHRER
HOHAREBENNEZR
K ge H o B - ZRE R
EEERBRKRA  £E
REERETET BEAeF
FRIBZE  BEMKX
IR FAHEEARILE
HEEB o EBR
A Ih ¥ & 7] AR 28 DA SN Y
EDD;J% E%Tﬁzﬁﬁ&
TR PR IB R
B CBEERTEHEINE
Z BRAREREIAE
%Z AL BhRE ©
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(b)

The revenue of M&P for the year ended
31 March 2025 was HK$2,027,028,000
(for the year ended 31 March 2024:
HK$1,725,255,000), representing a
year-on-year growth of approximately 17%.
Benefited from the steady increase in orders
for server casings and moulds as well as the
increased demand for large charger station
casings products, the overall revenue was
boosted.

The revenue of EMS for the year ended 31
March 2025 increased by approximately 1%
to HK$1,204,282,000 as compared to last
year (for the year ended 31 March 2024:
HK$1,190,648,000). Its performance was
fairly stable during the year.

During the Year, the global market paid
close attention to the changes of Sino-US
trade situation. Although the US government
announced additional reciprocal tariffs on
goods of the PRC during the year, goods of
the Group that were directly exported to
the US and subject to tariffs accounted for
only approximately 1% of our total revenue
of the Year. The short-term effects were
minimal. The Group has continued to stay
highly alert for potential risks and constantly
evaluate and deploy corresponding
strategies, and actively enhanced the
flexibility of the supply chain and business
adaptability to promote overall operational
resilience. For details, please refer to the
voluntary announcement of the Company
dated 7 April 2025.

Chairman's Statement

1,725,255,000/%8 Jt) * %
FRELHI7% XBR
A PR 2S SN AR ER 4R AL AT &8
BEFEA URKER
BIRINRE T SKIE N
HEERBRAER -

BEfRINEBE-_ZT_H
FZA=Z+—HLEHFE
ZWAREFRE EFA
T #91% %£1,204,282,000
BT(EHE_ZT_MF
—A=Z+—HLEFE:
1,190,648,000/% JT) - &
FRIEBKRAREKE
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The production plant of the Group located
at Amata City, Chonburi, Industrial Estate
Thailand continued to expand during the
Year with smooth operation and steady
increase in production capacity. Along with
the new orders of the main supply data
center, the overall increment in orders was
satisfying. In order to cope with long-term
development, the Group acquired 3
parcels of land in Amata Industrial Estate
with a total area of approximately 70,000
square meter in January 2025. The total
consideration amounted to approximately
HK$115,366,000. The Group planned
to build an one-stop production base
which consisted all functions including
moulds development, stamping dies,
plastic injection, spray-painting, computer
numerical control and assembly, to further
optimize its global production capacity
configuration and lay a solid foundation for
its future business development. For details,
please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 10 January 2025.

Before the new production plant is
completed, the Group has rented a
temporary factory nearby. A mould
department and plastic injection line will be
setup and the storage of the existing plant
will be relocated to the new plant in order
to release space for the additional stamping
dies equipment and capacity. Leveraging
on the aforementioned configuration, the
Group will be able to rapidly respond to
customers’ needs, provide comprehensive
rack product production solutions in a
flexible and highly efficient manner, so
as to further materialize the synergy and
complementarity between the production
lines of the PRC and Thailand.
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In addition, while inheriting the
management system of the production plant
in the PRC, the Group actively implemented
localized management structure in
Thailand, continued to build highly efficient
management and engineering project
team, promote local talent cultivation and
formulate a management system that fits the
local culture. Meanwhile, the Group also
introduced automated equipment to reduce
the dependence on manpower in case of
increment of new orders, enhance overall
production flexibility and further promote
the instant capability to respond to the
needs of international clients.
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Production facility located in Amata Industrial Estate, Chonburi, Thailand.

\ AMATA

Handover Ceremony

March 3, 2025 - Thailand

e ‘J £ 5 Land Lot Handover Ceremony
g | v

March 2025 « Thaland

SEER202F3A BN FEAFBE LW NEERMENZNERF
The handover of the acquired land and leased factory in Thailand has been successfully
completed in March 2025.
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In terms of the production plants in the
PRC, the core base located in Yuquan,
Dongguan continued to act as the main
production site of the Group. In order to
cope with the expansion of our servers
business, the Group has expanded its B6
comprehensive production building, to
consolidate the large-scale stamping dies
and storage functions, with an aim to
efficiently support server casings production
with various specifications and cope with
the need for rapid delivery from local and
international customers. We also constantly
enhanced intelligent production capability
of our production plants, optimized team
management and production synergy, and
maintained steady production capacity and
quality.

In order to get familiar with the market and
customers, the Group actively consolidated
and reorganized sales, production and
engineering R&D teams among the PRC,
the US and Taiwan to strengthen local
marketing and technical support capability
in a comprehensive manner. In terms of
product R&D, we further strengthened the
integrated design and process development
capabilities of the “New Product
Technology Development Department”
and “R&D Engineering Center”, promoting
automated, intelligent and energy saving
production. At the same time, we continued
to promote the vision and adaptability to
industry trends of the middle and senior
management team by ways of internal
training program.
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During the Year, various major projects
achieved mass production and were
properly delivered.
consolidating the existing customer

In addition to

base,
new customers with potentials in the
PRC market. Benefited from the positive
sentiments towards the Al server market,
casings and
structural parts continued to increase,

the Group also explored many

orders of related moulds,

product lines such as network equipment,
electric vehicle charging infrastructure
and smart terminals were also gradually
achieving mass production, with the
overall product portfolio becoming more
diversified.

The Group has been publishing
sustainability report (the “Sustainability
Report”) since its listing in 1996 and
separate publication had already been
accomplished. We have established a
systematic Environmental, Social and
Governance (ESG) management structure.
The Sustainability Report covers aspects
including environmental protection, energy
supply

chain monitoring, community involvement

efficiency, employees cultivation,
and corporate governance. It has also
incorporated climate risks and performance
indicators to promote corporate
sustainability development. For details,
please refer to the Sustainability Report to

be published in July 2025.
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Conclusion

The current global political and economic condition
are rapidly changing. Geopolitical conflicts and trade
policy adjustments have made the supply chain even
more uncertain and industry competition increasingly
intense. In the face of multiple challenges, the Group
will adhere to the following core strategies:

With one  Adhering to the strategic goals
Heart: predetermined by the Board, work
together, create consensus, progress

steadily, and explore new prospects;
Lightning  Rapidly respond to customers’ needs and
Speed:  market changes, leverage on the flexible

and highly efficient operating system,
and provide appropriate production
solutions; and

Turning the Continue to promote product
Tide: diversification, market diversification
and internationalization of production
capacity with entrepreneurial spirit,
reduce dependence on a single market,
product and customer, and create a
growth momentum for the Group in the
next phrase.

The Group will continue to serve its customers with
the spirit if professionalism, reliability and innovation,
and strive to achieve the win-win goal of “return for
customer and benefits for the Company”, strengthen
customer trust and enhance market competitiveness.

Dividend Policy

In accordance with the existing dividend policy, which
outlines the factors that should be taken into account
in determining the amount of dividend for distribution,
such as the profit attributable to equity shareholders
of the Company, cash flow and investment budgets.
After careful consideration of the aforementioned
factors, and for the purpose of maintaining the
track record of consecutive annual payment of
dividends since the Company’s listing, the Board has
recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK3.0 cents per share to all the shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the
Company on 12 September 2025.
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Geographical Distribution

The Group has adopted a diversified approach
in product delivery to reduce its reliance on one
single market. Details of the Group’s geographical
distribution are set out in the paragraphs headed
“Segment Reporting” in Note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements of the Group in this annual
report.

Prospects

Looking forward, Al servers and charging stations
related products are expected to be the main
business drivers of the Group. Along with constant
enhancement of localized sales team and production
efficiency, the Group will actively explore new
customers and new products to broaden its business
foundation. In terms of additional reciprocal tariffs
by different countries, the Group will closely monitor
development on policies, make timely arrangements
based on actual circumstances to reduce the potential
impacts on its business and operations.

The complete construction of our plant in Thailand
will remain as one of the Group’s key strategies of
future development. Against the backdrop of uncertain
global trade condition, the Group will replicate
the mature operating structure of its PRC plants to
further expand the production capacity in Thailand,
optimize the one-stop production capabilities from
moulds, stamping dies, plastic injection to assembly,
and enhance the flexibility and scale of local
manufacturing of different products. The synergies
between PRC and Thailand production lines will
further strengthen the resilience and adaptability of
the Group’s global supply chains. Meanwhile, the
Group will continue to strengthen local management
and execution team in Thailand to ensure a robust and
efficient operating system. In terms of the production
base in the PRC, it will continue to act as a pivotal
role, focusing on improving scheduled production
efficiency and quality stability to maintain the balance
and competitiveness of the overall production layout
of the Group.

(=)

(m)
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The global economy and market environment
remain volatile. The Group will respond flexibly
to external changes, respond quickly to customer
needs, continuously improve its process and technical
capabilities, explore new customers and products
area with potential, and attach importance to the
training and development of professional talents
to comprehensively consolidate its competitive
advantages.

In order to seize the market opportunities brought by
the rapid development of artificial intelligence and
data center applications, the Group has completed
the preparation of the next-generation Al servers
prototype and strives to offer it to the preferred list
of major customers of the Group as soon as possible.
Meanwhile, the Group has also provided server
products equipped with air cooling and water cooling
configurations to existing customers to satisfy their
diverse needs. In order to cope with possible changes
in production capacity allocation in the future, the
Group is also actively exploring new customers in the
PRC to enhance the flexible allocation of production
capacity between the PRC and Thailand. In terms of
product diversification strategies, the Group continues
to deploy resources in R&D and expand its server
peripheral product line, including cabinets, racks, rails
and other system components, and actively promotes
the development of water cooling systems and the
application of new materials to further enhance its
overall solution capabilities.

In addition, the Group has gradually introduced Al
technology into inventory management, logistics
scheduling and automated production processes, and
continued to promote cost reduction and efficiency
improvement. In terms of financial management,
the Group will continue to adhere to the principle
of prudent financial management, maintain steady
cash flow and healthy debt ratio, flexibly allocate
resources, monitor operational risks, enhance
corporate resilience, and steadily respond to the
complex and changing operating environment.
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FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Treasury policy

We will continue to follow a prudent policy in managing
the Group’s cash and cash equivalents and maintain
a strong and healthy liquidity position to ensure that
the Group is well-placed to capture future growth
opportunities.

Borrowings

The net interest-bearing borrowings* as at 31 March 2025
were approximately HK$466,349,000 and the net interest-
bearing borrowings ratio (being the proportion of total net
interest-bearing borrowings over total equity) was 43% (as
at 31 March 2024: net interest-bearing borrowings were
approximately HK$383,879,000 and net interest-bearing
borrowings ratio was approximately 39%).

As at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, the Company
and the Group’s subsidiaries provide cross guarantee for
certain banking facilities and borrowings. The financial
position of the Group remains healthy.

g Net interest-bearing borrowings represents bank borrowings,
lease liabilities and loan from a controlling shareholder less
cash and bank deposits.

As at 31 March 2025, bank borrowings amounting
to HK$63,250,000(2024: HK$18,900,000) which
are denominated in THB, HK$164,550,000 (2024:
HK$131,630,000) which are denominated in RMB and
HK$308,359,000 (2024: HK$379,162,000) which are
denominated in HKD.
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As at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, the Company
and the Group’s subsidiaries provide cross guarantee for
certain banking facilities and borrowings. The maximum
liability of the Company at the end of the reporting
period under the guarantees is the amount of the facilities
drawn down by the subsidiaries that are covered by the
guarantees, being HK$536,159,000 (as at 31 March 2024:
HK$$529,692,000). We do not consider it is probable
that a claim will be made against the Company under
the guarantee arrangement to financial institutions in
connection with the banking facilities granted to its
subsidiaries.

Gearing Ratio

The Group monitors its capital structure through gearing
ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is
calculated as bank borrowings, leased liabilities and loan
from a controlling shareholder less cash and bank deposits.
Total capital is calculated as the total equity as shown in
the consolidated statement of financial position. As at 31
March 2025 and 31 March 2024, the net gearing ratios of
the Group were approximately 43% and 39% respectively.
The increase in gearing ratio was a result of the increase
in total bank borrowings during the year ended 31 March
2024.

Non-current Assets to Shareholders’ Fund Ratio

The non-current assets to total equity ratio as at 31 March
2025 maintained at the healthy level of 106% (as at 31
March 2024: 107%), which represents that most of the
Group’s non-current assets, such as plant and machineries
are supported by the stable total equity of the Group.

Capital Expenditure (“CAPEX”)

As at the date of this annual report, the initial estimate
of the CAPEX budget for the financial year 2025/26 is
approximately HK$217,000,000. The CAPEX was mainly
used for construction of factory, acquiring machinery and
equipment and computer system for the year ended 31
March 2025.
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Liquidity and Financial Resources

Currently, the total interest-bearing bank borrowings
are approximately HK$536,159,000. The Group is
confident that with the cash in hand and bank deposits of
approximately HK$191,177,000 and the unutilised banking
facilities of approximately HK$853,675,000, it is able
to meet its current operational and capital expenditure
requirements and to make strategic investments when
opportunities arise.

Exchange Rate Exposure

Most of the Group’s assets, liabilities and transactions
are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, United States
dollar and Renminbi (“RMB”). Foreign currency risk arises
from commercial transactions, recognised assets and
liabilities and net investments in foreign operations that
are denominated in a currency other than the Group’s
functional currency, which in turn exerts pressure on
the Group’s production cost. To mitigate the impact of
exchange rate fluctuation of RMB on its business, the
Group will actively communicate with its customers in
order to adjust the selling prices of its products and may
use foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge against
foreign currency risk (if and when necessary).

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 March 2025, the Group had no significant
contingent liabilities.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
The Company has no significant event after the year ended
31 March 2025 and up to the date of this annual report.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group had approximately 3,650 employees on average
(an average of 3,400 employees in the corresponding
period last year) during the year. With a good reputation
in the local community, the Group rarely encounters major
difficulties in recruiting employees.

Chairman's Statement

AEAER

R B IRTTIEE 8 %494536,159,000
B MFBRESRERBOTHEROAE
191,177,000 8 LB R IR1T AR BB ERR
#7853,675,0008 7T * EE AL HE
NEREEARERN RS KN H
HIEBNRBEERENTEE -

AEBEZAHFNEE  BEREBRS
BIAET ETRAREE - BINE
EBLAERD  KHABAEERBEMA
REREEL ZINERBRIGAREH
MEEEBAINZ EFHE - MEARE
BeAEEKRRNEXREN - BTEREA
REEXRGHEXB2FE  A5H
KiEHREEEFER KMAREE
mZEENMAIREEMINERMSHAY
HOME R R (T E) -

FREE
RZZB_AF=A=+—H SEIE
ERKAREE -

MEMBRER
HE-_E_RAF=A=1+—"HREE2AF
WHE  AARWEE KEHE -

BEERFMBEX
REBRAFERNFHESRE S 43,650
AEFREFH3,400A) - ERAREE
EEMRITRIEFNES - Ut RBE
ABLETRBHEREE o

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 £ #§ 23



Chairman's Statement

Employee remuneration packages include salary
and bonuses which are determined in accordance
with prevailing market standards and the employee’s
performance and experience. The Group will also grant
bonuses to employees with outstanding performance based
on its own audited business performance and the appraisal
and reward system. Other employee benefits include
medical insurance and mandatory provident fund.

In addition, to cope with domestic development in
Mainland China and the actual need for talent retention,
the Group establishes a “Cooperative Home” to encourage
and finance potential elites settled down locally in buying a
flat as a means to retain talents who may otherwise be lost
in the competitive labour market.

Performance Based Incentives

The Group has adopted performance-based bonus system
and objective performance assessment. Employees with
outstanding performance will now receive more bonus
than before the new system was implemented.

DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended to pay a final dividend of
HK3.0 cents per share (2023/24 final dividend: HK4.0
cents per share), to shareholders whose names appear on
the register of members of the Company on 12 September
2025. Together with the interim dividend of HK2.5 cents
per share (2023/24 interim dividend: HK1.5 cents per
share), total dividend paid/payable for this year amounted
to HK5.5 cents per share (2023/24: HK5.5 cents per share).
The final dividend will be subject to the approval of the
shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual
general meeting (the “AGM”) of the Company to be held on
5 September 2025.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee
comprising three independent non-executive Directors
whose duties include resolving issues in relation to
audit such as reviewing and supervising the Company’s
financial reporting process and internal control systems.
The audit committee and the management have reviewed
the accounting principles and major policies adopted
by the Group and have discussed the auditing, internal
control and financial reporting in the current year with the
external auditors. The audit committee has reviewed the
consolidated annual results of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2025.

APPRECIATION

We would like to thank our customers, suppliers, bankers,
shareholders and others who have extended their
invaluable support to the Group, and my fellow Directors,
managers and all staff for their considerable contributions
to the Group.
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APPENDIX 1

75 55 (B BE E P BB 2 B ER B A a8 FU30% 3 A | R F K B
All dividend paid shown below is in HK cents per Share
TOEFRRMNIKEZBRE2AENGFTE

Bt 8% —

Dividend and Dividend Policy:

BB R B BRR:

An unbroken 29 years’ record of dividend payment
TN F AR B AL K A B

The Group’s policy to distribute 30% or more of its profits attributable to shareholders as dividend

Interim Final  Special
Interim Final ~ Subtotal ~ Special ~ Special ~ Subtotal Total Dividend Payout Ratio
R R 15
ol R Mt BERE BEIRE RENG Bt BRE kB E
(excluding)* (Including)*

(FBHEER)* (BEEA):
1996/97 Nil & 5.40 5.40 Nil & Nil & Nil & 5.40 24%  NATER
1997/98 Nil & 1.00 1.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 1.00 13% NATER
1998/99 2.00 2.00 4.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 4.00 58%  N/A FiEf
1999/00 2.20 2.20 440 Nil & Nil & Nil & 440 77%  NATi@ER
2000/01 1.10 3.80 490 Nil & 6.20 6.20 11.10 69% 156%
2001/02 5.00 5.90 10.90 5.00 14.10 19.10 30.00 50% 138%
2002/03 8.00 11.00 19.00 Nil & 5.00 5.00 24.00 60% 75%
2003/04 8.00 12.00 20.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 20.00 87%  NAT@EMA
2004/05 8.50 12.50 21.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 21.00 58%  N/AREMA
2005/06 9.00 13.00 22.00 Nil & 3.00 3.00 25.00 48% 55%
2006/07 8.50 3.00 11.50 Nil & Nil & Nil & 11.50 38% NATER
2007/08 0.75 Nil & 0.75 Nil & Nil & Nil & 0.75 27%  NATER
2008/09 Nil & 1.50 1.50 Nil & Nil & Nil & 1.50 39% NATER
2009/10 Nil & 1.00 1.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 1.00 45%  NATER
2010/11 Nil & 1.10 1.10 Nil & Nil & Nil £ 1.10 N%  NATER
2011/12 Nil & 1.00 1.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 1.00 38% NATER
2012/13 Nil & 1.20 1.20 Nil & Nil & Nil & 1.20 61% NATER
2013/14 Nil & 1.00 1.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 1.00 58%  NATER
2014/15 0.50 1.80 2.30 Nil & 1.00 1.00 3.30 61% 87%
2015/16 0.75 2.75 3.50 Nil & Nil & Nil & 3.50 59%  NATER
2016/17 1.30 4.20 5.50 Nil & 1.00 1.00 6.50 65% 77%
2017/18 1.60 4.75 6.35 2.55 Nil & 2.55 8.90 69% 97%
2018/19 3.00 5.00 8.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 8.00 72%  NATER
2019/20 4.00 5.00 9.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 9.00 71%  NATER
2020/21 4.00 7.00 11.00 0.50 Nil & 0.50 11.50 49% 52%
2021/22 4,50 4.00 8.50 1.00 Nil & 1.00 9.50 31% 35%
2022/23 4.00 1.50 5.50 Nil & Nil & Nil & 5.50 29%  NATER
2023/24 1.50 4.00 5.50 Nil & Nil & Nil & 5.50 66%  NATER
2024/25 2.50 3.00 5.50 Nil £ Nil £ Nil & 5.50 55% N/ARER
Remarks: * Excluding special dividend *Including special dividend
B * T RIEERRKE CEERRIRE
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EEWE

APPENDIX 2 Ft g% =

Inventory & Debtor Turnover

FEREVIREEH

—A—— Inventory turnover 17 & 85 H]

No. of days
A& ——— Debtor turnover & BRI H]

19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25

(No. of days) (H &) 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25

Inventory turnover

5 & i & 5 81 56 99 78 73 66
Debtor turnover
Jr& Uk B 1 & 5P 38 69 55 53 78 70

Inventory turnover = (Based on year end inventory value/cost of revenue) x 365 days

FEREH=-NFEFEE WAKRE) x365H

Debtor turnover = (Based on year end trade and bills receivables/revenue) x 365 days

FBUREBES=-AFEESREBRBUKIER WA) x365H
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ERHRE

APPENDIX 3

B 8% =

Gross Profit Margin & Net Profit Margin
BERENRAF

—A—— Gross Profit margin 2B EF] (%)
—l— Net Profit margin 24T (%)

19/20 20/21 21/22% 22/23* 23/24% 24/25%
(%) 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25
Gross profit margin
EREN 18.2 27.2 14.2% 10.9% 12.7* 14.6*
Net profit margin
2 PR A A 8.6 12.8 8.3* 5.9* 5.8* 6.3*
HK$(million)
(B&EET)
Revenue
WA 2,902 3,473 3,075* 3,082* 2,916* 3,231*
Profit for the year
F 2 250 445 254 182* 170% 204*
* Include continuing operations only

* O REBERELKERYR
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EEWE

APPENDIX 4 Ff $% P9
Industrial Businesses CAPEX
I¥EXBETEERE Operating
Industrial profit for
businesses industrial
CAPEX businesses
THEBETE TEXEK
BERE ety
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
300,000 300,000
250,000 250,000
200,000 “77° 200,000
150,000 ©TTTTTTTTTTTTISSSISSl oo oot oooooooooooi Tttt e “77° 150,000
100,000 "~ 7T T T T T " " ] 77" 100,000
50,000 "~~~ - - - - - - - IS - - - - - - - - - -~ - - - - - - -~ I - - -~~~ ] “=7° 50,000
or T T T T T 10
20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 25/26*
(HK$’000)
(F#7x) 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 25/26*

Industrial businesses

CAPEX

TXEXEBETEERE 79,418 220,318 136,381 152,450 162,797 217,000
+

Operating profit for Not
industrial businesses applicable
THEEBLL R 302,993 310,256 210,785 228,372 285,026 3 A
* Budget

*  EE
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are
committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) and to enhance corporate
value and accountability.

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Year”) the Group
has applied the principles of the recently promulgated
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out
in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”) and complied with the code provision
(the “Code Provisions”) of the CG Code, save for the
deviation from Code Provisions B.2.2 and C.2.1 of the
CG Code. This report describes our Group’s corporate
governance practices and explains the said deviations from
the CG Code.

Code Provision B.2.2 of CG Code stipulates that every
director, including those appointed for a specific term,
should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years.

According to the Company’s Bye-laws, at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being or, if their number is not 3 or a multiple of 3, the
number nearest to one-third but not greater than one-
third shall retire from office provided that notwithstanding
anything contrary in the Company’s Bye-laws, the
Chairman of the Directors and/or the Managing Director
of the Company shall not, whilst holding such office, be
subject to retirement by rotation or be taken into account
in determining the number of Directors to retire in each
year. Furthermore, any Director appointed to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board should hold office
only until the next following annual general meeting and
would then be eligible for re-election. The Chairman and/
or the Managing Director of the Group will consider to
voluntarily retire at the annual general meeting at least
once every three years in line with Code Provision B.2.2
of the CG Code. As such, the Company considers that
sufficient measures have been taken to ensure good
corporate governance of the Company.

REEEZBARFBRR(TRR] #EzE M
RAGCEEBEEMBEN  ARF KEH
BAR(REE]) —HEAFRBTETR
BECEEER-

RBE_Z-_AF=A=+—HItFE
(REEDAN AEEEERB&IBEM
VEHREBHAERIMERARFES L
MRATERRA DM EECIZEEER
ERTA(EERSTADABEEZR
Bl X 3& <7 BT A& <F Al g 2 (1< B 32 )D(BR
TIREEDSEEARTR ZFRIMEXB.2.2
RC215N  AREEFMAKE 2
EEREN  WEEBLOEERTAZR
AlERREECEEARTANTA -

EEFRTAZTAIRXB22RES
ZEZ(EREEECHZES)IRED
B=FHmERE K-
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Corporate Governance Report

Moreover, Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates
that the roles of chairman and chief executive should
be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. The Company does not segregate the roles of its
chairman and chief executive officer and Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai
(“Mr. Ho”) currently holds both positions.

Being the founder of the Group, Mr. Ho has substantial
experience in the manufacturing industry, as well as in the
property development and cultural related business. At
the same time, Mr. Ho has the appropriate management
skills and business acumen that are the pre-requisites for
assuming the role of the chief executive officer. The Board
believes that vesting the roles of both the chairman and the
chief executive officer in the same person would provide
the Group with strong and consistent leadership and allow
the Group to be more effective and efficient in developing
long-term business strategies and executing business
plans. Hence, the Board considers that there is no need to
segregate the roles of the chairman and the chief executive
officer and both roles should continue to be performed
by Mr. Ho. The Board believes that the balance of power
and authority is adequately ensured by the operation of
the Board which comprises experienced and high calibre
individuals with a sufficient number thereof independent
non-executive Directors.

The Company will continue to review its practices
from time to time to achieve high standard of corporate
governance.

A. BOARD OF DIRECTORS
1. The Board of Directors

1.1 As at 31 March 2025, the Board consisted of
seven Directors, comprising Mr. Ho Cheuk
Fai (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer),
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia, Mr. Zhao
Kai and Mr. Chan Raymond as executive
Directors, and Mr. Fong Hoi Shing, Dr. Lau
Kin Wah and Mr. Lam Yin Shing, Donald as
the independent non-executive Directors.
The Board has the collective responsibility
for the leadership and promotion of the
success of the Group’s business by directing
and supervising the Group’s affairs. Mr.
Ho Wai Hon, Brian was appointed as an
executive Director with effect from 24 June
2025.
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1.2

1.3

During the Year and up to the date of this
annual report, the Company appointed Mr.
Ho Wai Hon, Brian as an executive Director
and Mr. Lam Yin Shing, Donald (“Mr. Lam”).
Each of Mr. Ho Wai Hon, Brian and Mr. Lam
had obtained the legal advice as referred
referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing
Rules on 23 June 2025 and 27 June 2024,
respectively, and each of Mr. Ho Wai Hon,
Brian and Mr. Lam has confirmed that he
understood his obligations as a director of a
listed issuer.

The Board is committed to the Group’s
objectives of enhancing the Shareholders’
value and provision of superior products
and services. The Board is collectively
responsible for formulating the overall
objective and strategy of the Group;
monitors and evaluates its operating
and financial performance and reviews
the standard of corporate governance of
the Group. It also makes decisions on
matters such as approving the annual
results, interim and quarterly results,
connected transactions, appointment and
re-appointment of Directors, declaring
dividends and adopting accounting policies.
The Board has delegated the authority and
responsibility for implementing business
strategies and management of the daily
operations of the Group’s businesses to the
management.

The Board conducts regular scheduled
meetings on a quarterly basis. Ad-hoc
meetings are convened when circumstances
require.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ERER 2 7
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board had convened nine Board
meetings during the Year and considered,
reviewed and approved the Group’s annual
results for the year ended 31 March 2024,
quarterly and interim results of the Group
for the Year.

The attendance records of Board meetings
and general meetings held during the Year
are set out below:

EEERAFENER
RAAXREE WEEE
ZREEEBREEC
TE_ME=ZA=1+—HZ
EFEEBERREAFEZ
TERPHES -

NTRAEFEEEES
BENMBRERREGHOLEL
8% -

Attendance of individual Directors
at Board meetings and general
meetings during the Year

XEEEEERRRAEEE
BRI ESWHEER
No. of board  No. of general
meetings meetings
attended/held attended/held
Exg BRRAXE
HERE HERE
BFRE™ BBRH™
Executive Directors BITEE
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai fa] k2 38 5 4 9/9 1/1
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia fR & kN8 9/9 11
Mr. Zhao Kai Mkt 9/9 1/1
Mr. Chan Raymond PR 3% S 9/9 1/1
Independent Non-executive HBVHEHTEE
Directors
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing 77 YR 5 A 9/9 1/1
Mr. Yam Chung Shing* EEHF L 4/4 1/1
Dr. Lau Kin Wah BlfEEBt 9/9 1/1
Mr. Lam Yin Shing, Donald?  #K % B 55 &£+ 8/8 1/1

* resigned on 6 September 2024

£ was appointed on 1 July 2024

A list of Directors and their roles and
functions was published on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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1.4 To maximize the effectiveness of the Board

and to encourage active participation and
contribution from Board members, the
Board has established an audit committee, a
nomination committee and a remuneration
committee. Detailed descriptions of each of
these Board committees are set out below.
All of these committees adopt, as far as
practicable, the principles, procedures and
arrangements of the Board in relation to
the scheduling and proceeding of meetings,
notice of meetings and inclusion of agenda
items, records and availability of minutes.

The Board has devised its specific written
terms of reference setting out its duties,
responsibilities, powers and functions which
include the followings:

e developing and reviewing the
Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making
recommendations to the Board;

e reviewing and monitoring the
training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior
management;

e reviewing and monitoring the
Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

e developing reviewing and monitoring
the code of conduct applicable to
employees and Directors; and

e reviewing the Company’s compliance
with the code and disclosure in the
corporate governance report in its
annual report.
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Board Composition

2.1 As at 31 March 2025, the Board comprised
seven Directors: four executive Directors
and three independent non-executive
Directors. Mr. Ho Wai Hon, Brian was
appointed as an executive Director with
effect from 24 June 2025. Mr. Ho Wai Hon,
Brian is the son of Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai, an
executive Director, the chairman of the
Board and the chief executive officer of the
Company.

2.2 The attributes, skills and expertise among
the existing Directors are considered
appropriate so as to effectively lead,
supervise and manage the Group, taking
into account the scope and nature of the
operations. The Directors have a mix of core
competencies in areas such as accounting
and finance, business and management,
production and quality control techniques,
supply chain management, industry
knowledge and marketing strategies. Details
of the experience and qualifications of
Directors and senior management are
set out in the section headed “Senior
Management Profile” in this annual report.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity
policy, which sets out the purpose and
principles regarding board diversity for the
purpose of achieving the Company’s strategic
objectives of balanced diversity at the Board
as for as practicable. Directors’ appointment
will be based on merit and candidates will
be considered against measurable objectives,
taking into account the Company’s business and
development.

Selection of candidates will be based on a
range of diversity criteria, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural background and
ethnicity, in addition to educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

EESAK

21 RZE-_RE=A=+—
H ZEE2htEtRES
MK BRIENBRITE
ER=2BIUIEMITE
E-R-ZE_RAENA
A fETEEE
ZEABPITES - &
TFREBERRARNITE
ECEBERTBELEM
BB EZT o

22 BASEECERERER
MEms  BEESEAMA
HWeREE R kEaE
MBREASHEZRAN
W ENEERER -
BEEEFS BN
K% BEERERE-
BN R
HAE#EE «  HEXEE -
TENHEETERES
EEES - EHESEES
MEBABZ2REBLE
FEERBRAFRF =
BEBABZEAER]
—ff e

ESERESZNILEE
ARARMEETEKEZ T
BR - ETPHIEFSEZ L
WEZRERA - LERAQA
E=EEeREFEAEIEZTE
RBREBIR - EFEZRERA
BEASER AR ER
RERGLZE  RIEATGENE
EEREEA-

REANKERRIE —FRT
ZERE - BREATRRR
MR~ Fik - XIEB R RER
KD - MEHBEER R BEEK
B XBE - MR R RISFIR -
R AR HY IR TE 4K IR AT Bk AE Y
REAERESSRHMNE
BRELNERME °

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 £ $§ 35



Corporate Governance Report

36

During the Year, the nomination committee
and Board reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board and was of the opinion
that the Board composition is well balanced and
diversified, and with the appropriate structure,
size and necessary skills, knowledge, experience
and diversity of perspectives required for the
business of the Group. The Board also reviewed
and evaluated the board diversity policy and its
implementation, and considered it to be effective
during the Year.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board
comprises at least 1 female Director. The Board
considers that the gender diversity in respect
of the Board is satisfactory and will continue to
maintain a diverse Board.

To develop a pipeline of potential successor to
ensure gender diversity, the Board will engage
human resources agencies and/or through open
selection process to identify potential successors
for the Board as and when appropriate and
enhance gender diversity in the coming years
and will emphasize gender as a factor to be
taken into consideration for achieving the Board
diversity.

As at 31 March 2025, the ratio of female to male
in the workforce (excluding Directors) was 34:66.
For details of gender distribution, please refer to
the environmental, social and governance report
of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2025.

On 25 March 2019, the Board adopted a separate
nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”),
which provides the key selection criteria,
nomination process and principles of the Board
in making decisions in the appointment and re-
appointment of directors and succession planning
of directors, to emphasise our commitment on
transparent nomination process.
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The Board comprises of seven members
including one female Director as at 31 March
2025. The Company shall continue to adopt
measures encouraging gender diversity in the
Board composition. The Company shall maintain
at least one female Director. The nomination
committee of the Company (the “NC”) which
includes one female Director as a committee
member, shall review the situation of gender
diversity from time to time so as to reach the
target of gender diversity in the Board. The
Board considers by engaging human resources
agencies and/or through open selection process
to identify potential successors for the Board. In
recognition of the importance of gender diversity,
the Company has taken and will continue to take
steps to promote gender diversity in the Board so
as to ensure appropriate gender diversity in the
Board is always achieved.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of

Directors

4.1 At each annual general meeting of the
Company (“AGM”), one-third of the
Directors are required to retire from office
by rotation. The Directors, since his last
election or appointment who has been the
longest in office shall retire and be eligible
for re-election at the AGM. Pursuant to the
bye-laws of the Company, the Chairman
and/or the Managing Director of the Group
shall not, when holding such office, be
subject to retirement by rotation or be taken
into account in determining the number of
Directors to retire in each year. To comply
with Code Provision B.2.2 of the CG Code,
the Chairman and/or the Managing Director
of the Group will voluntarily retire at the
AGM at least once every three years.

4.2 As at 31 March 2025, the independent non-
executive Directors are appointed for a
fixed term not exceeding three years. All
independent non-executive Directors are
subject to the requirements of retirement by
rotation and re-election by Shareholders at
the AGM in accordance with the Company’s
bye-laws.
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4.3 The names and biographical details of the
Directors who will offer themselves for
election or re-election at the forthcoming
AGM are set out in the circular to
Shareholders to assist Shareholders in
making an informed decision on their
elections.

Liability Insurance for the Directors

The Company has put in force appropriate
insurance coverages on directors’ and officers’
liabilities arising from the Group’s business.
The Company reviews the extent of insurance
coverage on an annual basis.

Directors’ Continuous Professional
Development

Every newly appointed Director will be given
an induction. As part of the ongoing process
of directors’ training, the company secretary
of the Company (the “Company Secretary”)
continuously updates all directors on latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements.
All Directors are encouraged to attend
external forum or training courses on relevant
topics which may count towards continuous
professional development training.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ERER 2 7

43 BREERRBAFRE
tEREBETESRIHS
MERHRBRR 2@
KA ABBEER K
REFELAIBRE ©

EEWEIRRE

ARREREERITHARR
BITASERBMIEZE
TREEERR  ARFEE
FRARBAREZEHE -

EECRBEEXRE

BRFTESHERHET -
EREEZRHEEN 2 — 6
- ARABREAWE (AR
ENTHRAEREETEHNEH
EHRAREMEREER
ELBEHMERER -EFE
ZBERBEF LRI RN
BRREZERE LIFIR
B ERREEXERET

—#5 -



Corporate Governance Report

For the Year, all Directors have participated in
appropriate continuous professional development
activities either by attending training courses,
seminars, conferences and forums or by reading
materials relevant to the Group’s business and
Directors’ duties and responsibilities. Each
of them has provided a record of training
they received for the Year to the Company. A
Directors’ training course was held on 5 March
2025 concerning review of the Corporate
Governance Code and related Listing Rules and
proposed amendments to the further expansion
of the paperless listing regime and other rules.
The training received by each Director for the
Year is summarized as below:
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Attending

training courses,

seminars,

Reading conferences
materials and forums
IR

GEEE

RMEHBEER LE V& R

Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai fa] =2 4 o A
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia fR & kN8
Mr. Zhao Kai Mkt
Mr. Chan Raymond PR 3% S SR 4
Independent Non-executive BUHHATEE
Directors
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing 3B A
Mr. Yam Chung Shing* EEH A
Dr. Lau Kin Wah BliEmdt
Mr. Lam Yin Shing, Donald? PR B 58 A

* resigned on 6 September 2024
" was appointed on 1 July 2024
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Corporate Governance and Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer

The chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”)
should be responsible for ensuring that directors
receive adequate, clear, complete and reliable
information in a timely manner.

The Chairman should:

e  ensure that the Board works effectively and
performs its responsibilities, and that all key
and appropriate issues are discussed by it in
a timely manner;

e ensure that good corporate governance
practices and procedures are established;

e encourage the Directors with different views
to voice their concerns, allow sufficient
time for discussion of issues and ensure
that Board decisions fairly reflect Board'’s
consensus;

e ensure that appropriate steps are taken
to provide effective communication with
shareholders and that their views are
communicated to the Board as a whole; and

e promote a culture of open and active
discussion by facilitating the effective
contribution of non-executive directors
in particular, and ensuring constructive
relations between executive and non-
executive Directors.

The chief executive officer of the Company
(“CEQ”) should be responsible for managing the
Group’s business including the implementation
of strategy and initiatives with the support of
executive Directors and senior management and
within those authorities delegated by the Board.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ERER 2 7

TEERAREIERTHRAR

ARRIEREFE(ERDE
BERRESERKEI RS
ME - MBEBEMIITLAEE
FEEMT I e ml B¢ o

EREE:

s WREZSHBMEE
HETERAERE @ L RH
WIEEEMEESRA
HEIT W

e MRARAHERFH
CERERFRNMER:

s FIBBAIEERNES
MRELAGRINSE
H HBTELEERE
FE e ARERE
FENRERALERR
EFxgmAI:

e MHERRIEESRERE
HEERBEEBE UK
FERAR B R Al EE 2
EEE=EE M

o REAH EEF®HH
Xt REEEHR
FRTER)HEZTSHE
HAERER - LHEERA
TEFEENTESRZ
BT RER LMK -

ARRTTHAAR ((TTHRAR])
EEMATEERSRER
AEBWMHMB N EFSREHRE
T BEEERASENER
BREBTRELERTE -



Corporate Governance Report

Independent Non-executive Directors

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three
independent non-executive Directors and one of
them has appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management
expertise. Pursuant to Rule 3.10A of the Listing
Rules, the number of independent non-executive
Directors represents no less than one-third of the
Board.

The Company has received from each of its
independent non-executive Directors an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and having reviewed
the independence of each of the independent
non-executive Directors against the independent
criteria as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules, the Company considers that all of the
independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

Any re-election of an independent non-executive
Director who has served the Board for more than
nine years, his/her further appointment should be
subject to a separate resolution to be approved
by shareholders of the Company.

Independent View Mechanism

The Board should comprise at least three
independent non-executive Directors. As at
the date of this annual report, a majority of the
independent non-executive Directors of the
Company has served less than 9 years on the
Board. At least one of the independent non-
executive Directors must have appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise. The
Company must appoint independent non-
executive Directors representing at least one-
third of the Board. The Company shall appoint a
sufficient number of independent non-executive
Directors to meet the minimum number required
above within three months after failing to meet
the requirement(s).
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All Board committees comprise a majority of
independent non-executive Directors.

Directors should disclose to the Company at
the time of their appointments, and in a timely
manner for any changes, the number and
nature of offices held in public companies or
organisations and other significant commitments.
The identity of the public companies or
organisations should also be disclosed.

When selecting independent non-executive
Directors, the candidates’ availability should
be considered as sitting on a Board involves a
significant time commitment. Independent non-
executive Directors must dedicate time to reading
materials prior to Board meetings in order to
make the hours spent in meetings effective. They
also have to learn to understand the Company’s
complex business and operational details, market
forces and future perspectives.

The nomination committee of the Board should
be aware of the factors which may affect an
individual’s time commitment to the Company.

Upon reasonable request, Directors may seek
independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense. All
Directors should have access to the advice
and services of the company secretary of the
Company to ensure that Board procedures, and
all applicable law, rules and regulations, are
followed.

Having reviewed the existing independent
view mechanism, the Board was satisfied with
the implementation and effectiveness of the
independent view mechanism for the year ended
31 March 2025.
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B. BOARD COMMITTEES
1.  Remuneration Committee (the “RC”)

1.1

The RC meets at least once a year. Mr.
Yam Chung Shing resigned as the chairman
of the RC, Dr. Lau Kin Wah has been re-
designated from a member to the chairman
of the RC and Mr. Fong Hoi Shing has
been appointed as a member of the RC,
with effect from 6 September 2024, As at
31 March 2025 and as at the date of this
annual report, the RC is chaired by Dr. Lau
Kin Wah and comprises two other members,
namely Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia and
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing. The RC members
comprise one executive Director and two
independent non-executive Directors.
The quorum necessary for the transaction
of business by the RC is two. The terms
of reference of RC shall be updated from
time to time to comply with the new
requirements set out in the CG Code
and are published on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

1.2 The principal responsibilities of the RC are

e to formulate remuneration policy
of the Group, review and make
recommendations to the Board in
respect of the remuneration policy;

e to consider salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and
responsibilities and employment
conditions elsewhere in the Group;

e to conform with any requirement,
direction, and regulation that may
from time to time be prescribed by the
Board or contained in the constitution
of the Company or imposed by the
Listing Rules or any applicable law;

e to make recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration of non-executive
Directors;
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to determine the remuneration
packages, terms of service contract,
equity-based remuneration and share
award plan of the executive Directors
and the senior management; and

to review and/or approve matters
relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

1.3 The RC met once during the Year. The
contents are as follows:

approving the terms of letters of
appointment of INEDs appointed
during the Year;

approving the remuneration packages
of INEDs appointed during the Year;

recommending to the Board regarding
the re-appointment of directors subject
to the re-election at the AGM; and

reviewed its terms of reference, the
remuneration policy of the Group
and the remuneration packages of
Directors and senior management
staff. It also assessed the performance
of the Directors and evaluated the
remuneration policy.
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The attendance record of the meeting of the
RC during the Year is set out below:

FHEZEEeRAFES
Em N FRERT

No. of
attended/held
e
CE VS
Mr. Yam Chung Shing EFEHEE 1/1
(chairman of the RC)* (FWZESE/E)*
Dr. Lau Kin Wah gifeEmt 11
(chairman of the RC)* (FFWZEeFE)*
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia fR & kN8 11
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing® FEWE e 0/0
E resigned on 6 September 2024 * RZZE-_MENARA
BT
@  was appointed on 6 September 2024 @ RIZEZWMFNARH
EEE
# re-designated as chairman of the RC on 6 # RZZTZWMFENAKA

September 2024

Remuneration of Directors and Senior
Management

The particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration
and the five highest paid individuals as required
to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix D2 to
the Listing Rules are set out in Note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.

Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5 of the CG Code,
the remuneration of the members of the senior

HERFHEZEGLTE

EEREREEAEHMH

B IE R B8R D278 T #
EEHREEHe R AZRS
FMACZE—FFBER
RNERAEH 256 T MK
B 5E26 ©

management by band for the Year is set out 25 5& B f@/\ Eﬂﬁ?@ﬂ%@
below: Flas
Number of
persons
Remuneration bands (HK$) BN AR B (B W) A
1 to 1,000,000 121,000,000 2
1,000,001 to 2,000,000 1,000,0012 2,000,000 1
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28

Audit Committee (the “AC”)

2.1

2.2

Mr. Lam Yin Shing, Donald was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director
with effect from 1 July 2024. Mr. Yam
Chung Shing resigned as the member of
the AC with effect from 6 September 2024.
The AC comprises the independent non-
executive Directors as at 31 March 2025
and as at the date of this annual report:

Mr. Fong Hoi Shing
(chairman of the AC)

Mr. Yam Chung Shing*

Dr. Lau Kin Wah

Mr. Lam Yin Shing, Donald*

* resigned on 6 September 2024

5 was appointed on 1 July 2024

The Board is of the opinion that members
of the AC have sufficient accounting
and financial management expertise or
experience to discharge their duties.

The terms of reference had been adopted
for the operations of the AC. The terms of
reference of the AC were posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. The main duties of the AC
include:

* to review interim and annual results
and review the risk management
and internal control systems, the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal
audit function during the regular Board
meetings during the Year;
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to review and supervise the Group’s
financial reporting process including
the review of quarterly, interim and
annual results of the Group;

to review the external auditors’
appointment, remuneration and any
matters relating to their resignation or
termination;

to review and monitor the external
auditor’s independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with applicable
standards;

to examine the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control system which
involves regular review in various
corporate structures and business
process;

to review the internal audit function of
the Group and its effectiveness;

to realize corporate objective and
strategy by taking into account the
potential risk and the nature of
its urgency in order to ensure the
effectiveness of the Group’s business
operations. The scope of such reviews
includes finance, operations, regulatory
compliance, internal control systems
and risk management; and

to discuss the risk management
and internal control systems with
management to ensure that the
management has performed its duties
of establishing effective systems.
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2.3 The AC convened two meetings during

the Year and reviewed the interim
results of the Group for the six months
ended 30 September 2024 and the
annual results of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2024. The AC had also
reviewed the Group’s financial reporting
system, internal control system, external
auditor’s independence, remuneration
and effectiveness of the audit process, the
effectiveness of the internal audit function,
risk management system and associated
procedures to ensure their adequacy and
effectiveness and its other duties under the
CG Code. The Company Secretary keeps all
minutes of the AC. The attendance record of
the meeting of the AC during the Year is set

2.3
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out below: REEERAFEER
HE ST

No. of
attended/held
R/
BRRHY

Mr. Fong Hoi Shing 7Bt
(chairman of the AC) (BEEZET/E) 2/2
Mr. Yam Chung Shing* EEHM L L 1/1
Dr. Lau Kin Wah ZllEEE L 2/2
Mr. Lam Yin Shing, Donald? R B o A ¢ 1/1

* resigned on 6 September 2024

e was appointed on 1 July 2024

48 KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ERER 2 7

g RZZE-—WMFNAKA
BT

J R-ZFE-_FE+LA—H

BZE



Corporate Governance Report

3. Nomination Committee (the “NC”)

3.1

The NC was established in January 2022.
Mr. Yam Chung Shing resigned as the
chairman of the NC, Dr. Lau Kin Wah has
been re-designated from a member to the
chairman of the NC and Ms. Chan Ming
Mui, Silvia has been appointed as a member
of the NC with effect from 6 September
2024. The NC comprises two independent
non-executive Directors and one executive
Director, namely Mr. Fong Hoi Shing, Dr.
Lau Kin Wah and Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia
as at 31 March 2025. Dr. Lau Kin Wah,
the independent non-executive Director,
was appointed as the chairman of the
NC. At least one member of NC is female
(other gender). The Company adopted the
Nomination Policy. The nomination process
of Directors, including independent non-
executive Directors, is included in the
Nomination Policy.

3.2 The duties of the NC are as follows:

e to review the structure, size and
composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the
Board at least annually and make
recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement
the Company’s corporate strategy;

e to identify, and assess the suitability
and qualification of, candidates to
become Board members and select or
make recommendation to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships;

e to assess the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors;
and
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e to make recommendation to the Board
on the appointment or re-appointment
of Directors and succession planning
for Directors, in particular, the
chairman of the Board and the chief
executive of the Company.

3.3 The Board has adopted the Nomination
Policy, which set out the selection criteria
in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate as Director. Such criteria include
but are not limited to:

*  reputation for integrity;

e accomplishment, experience and
reputation in the relevant industries/
sectors;

e commitment in respect of sufficient
time, interest and attention to the
Company’s business;

e diversity in all aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age,
cultural/educational and professional
background, skills, knowledge and
experience;

e ability to assist and support
management and make significant
contributions to the Company’s
success;

e compliance with the criteria of
independence as prescribed under
Rules 3.10A and 3.13 of the Listing
Rules for the appointment of an
independent non-executive Director;
and

e any other relevant factors as may be
determined by the Board from time to
time.
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The NC and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various
channels, including but not limited to
internal promotion, re-designation, referral
by other member of the management and
external recruitment agents.

The nomination procedures are as follows:

e The chairman of the Board shall
nominate suitable candidates to the
Board and therefore shall convene a
meeting, and invite Board members,
for consideration by the Board.
The Board members may also
nominate candidates for the Board’s
consideration.

e In the context of appointment of any
candidate to the Board, the Board shall
undertake adequate due diligence in
respect of such individual and make
approval.

e In the context of re-appointment of any
existing member(s) of the Board, the
Board shall consider for the candidates
to stand for re-election at a general
meeting.

e  Please refer to the “Procedures for
a Shareholder to Propose a Person
for Election as a Director”, which is
available on the Company’s website,
for procedures for Shareholders’
nomination of any proposed candidate
for election as a director.

e The Board shall have the final decision
on all matters relating to candidates to
stand for election at a general meeting.
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3.6 The NC will review the board diversity 36 REZEGHEEER
policy of the Company, as appropriate, Ewa ARAEFT K
to ensure its effectiveness and discuss B R R
may revisions that may be required and HIT2 B8 - WalamEm
recommended any such revisions to the EFELER BRER
Board for consideration and approval. ExgEZEEML-

3.7 The NC meets at least once a year. The 3.7 BEEL-REBRARA
quorum necessary for the transaction of ZEg -REZEER
business by the nomination committee is BEBZEEANBRM
two. During the Year, the NC met once. The AN REE - REEZES
attendance record of the meeting of the NC BIIT—REHE - BEBZE
during the Year is set out as below: EgNAFESERZILH

JE SR -
No. of
attended/held
HERE
BRERE
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing 7B EE 1/1
Mr. Yam Chung Shing EEHLE 1/1
(chairman of the NC)* (lREZEEELE)*
Dr. Lau Kin Wah Bl Eml L 1/1
(chairman of the NC)* (lEEZESE/FE)*
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia® PR & R/ 4B 0/0
g resigned on 6 September 2024 E RZE-_MFNLARA
B 1
" was appointed on 6 September 2024 " RZTE_MFERRAKRA
EZE
g re-designated as chairman of the NC on 6 : RZF_MFAANA
September 2024 HERREZEGLRE
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C. SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

1.1

1.2

The Company has adopted a Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of the Group (the
“Company’s Model Code”) on terms no less
exacting than the required standard set out
in Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model
Code”) contained in Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules.

Having made specific enquiries to all Directors,
they have confirmed that they had complied
with the required standards set out in both the
Company’s Model Code and the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 March 2025.

D. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

1.

Financial Reporting

1.1 The Board acknowledges its responsibility
for preparing the Group’s accounts which
gives a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company and of the Group
on a going concern basis, with supporting
assumption or qualification as necessary.
In preparing the accounts for the Year, the
Directors have selected suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently,
made judgments and estimates that are
prudent and reasonable.

1.2 The management of the Company provides
explanation and information to the Board
as to enable the Board to make informed
assessments of the financial and other
information put before the Board for
approval.

C.

D.

ESETESXZ

1.1

1.2

ARTERMARBESF L
RSB OBETA (AT
RAEFA) - KL TR L
7 45 81 M 6% C3FT B L 2 &)
EFRTEHZHHZLTA
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1.3 The Board endeavours to ensure the making
of balanced, clear and understandable
assessments of the Group’s position and
prospects and extending the coverage of
such information to include annual, interim
and quarterly reports, price-sensitive
announcements and financial disclosures
as required under the Listing Rules, reports
to regulators as well as any information
that is required to be disclosed pursuant to
statutory requirements.

Internal Controls

The Board is responsible for the Group’s system
of risk management and internal controls
and is committed to managing business risks
and maintaining sound and effective internal
control systems to safeguard the Shareholders’
investment and the Group'’s assets.

During the Year, the internal audit department
of the Group (the “Internal Audit Department”)
under the supervision of the Board and the AC,
has reviewed and reported on the adequacy of
effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group, covering financial,
operational, compliance and risk management
control functions annually. Based on the results
of the review, the Board considers that the
Group’s risk management and internal control
systems were effective and adequate during the
Year.

The Board adopted the risk management
policy and internal risk management audit
plan, including structure and system of risk
management of the Group. The Internal Audit
Department together with the AC will review
the adequacy of the effectiveness of the risk
management at least once a year.

The Board had reviewed the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function and considered all these to be effective
and adequate during the Year.
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The internal control system is designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
of no material misstatement or loss and to
manage instead of eliminating risks of failure
in operational systems and achievement of the
Group's objectives.

The Internal Audit Department performs regular
audit reviews and reports risks and key controls
of the Group to the Board and the AC. The
responsible department heads will be notified of
the control deficiencies noted for rectification.
For the Year, the Internal Audit Department
mainly conducted operational management audit
over process of manufacturing, procurement
management, logistics management, import
and export customs activities and consumable
material management etc and other items with
higher risk index. The audit results have been
presented to the senior management, the AC and
the Board.

For the purpose of handling and disseminating
inside information pursuant to Rules 13.09 and
13.10 of the Listing Rules and Part XIVA of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Group
has taken various procedures and measures,
including arousing the awareness to preserve
confidentiality of inside information within the
Group, signing of confidentiality agreement,
sending blackout period and securities dealing
restrictions notifications to the Directors and
relevant employees regularly, disseminating
information to specified persons on a need-to-
know basis and observing the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission in June 2012
stringently.
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3.

56

Risk Management

I.  Risk Management
Risks can be viewed as the combination of
the probability of an event and the impact
of its consequences. Events with a negative
impact represent risk that can prevent value
creation or erode existing value. In order to
deliver value to our shareholders and reduce
loss of the Company, we must understand
the types of risks faced by our corporation
and address them appropriately.

Generally, risks to the Group’s success
can be grouped into four categories: (1)
Strategic, (2) Operational, (3) Compliance
and (4) Financial & Reporting. Specific
examples of each type of risks are included
in the table below:

Reduction in business
vitality (due to change in
business strategy, customer
spending pattens, product
discovery & development,
changing technology, etc.)

Strategic o

e Loss of intellectual
property & trade secrets

e Competition for talent
e Negative impact to
reputation

Operational Disruption to product

supply

e Counterfeiting

e |nefficient use of
resources/increase cost of

materials

e Physical property/damage/
disruption

¢ Discontinuation of global
data flows
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Compliance e Violation of laws or
governing areas such as

(@) Environmental
(b) Employee health & safety

(c) Protection of personal
data

(d) Local tax and statutory
laws

Financial & e Currency exchange,
Reporting funding and cash flow,
credit risk

e Financial misstatement

Risk Management System

The Company established an enterprise
risk management system for ensuring the
appropriate control and governance on
the principal risks that are exposed to the
Group, which includes:

e specifying the concept of risk
management, and determining the
scope of risk management;

e specifying the risk reporting process
and establishing risk governance
framework to identify and assess the
possible impact on the Group;

e establishing risk governance control
points for establishing relevant
countermeasures against the main
control matters involving risks; and

e establishing monitoring plan in terms
of priority, conducting monitoring and
review twice a year.
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Risk Management Framework

The Board is playing the role as an
overseer, and the AC is responsible for risk
governance, report the effectiveness of
the risk system of the Group to the Board
and the actual risk executor is the person
in charge of each department. The Board
assigns the representative of the Executive
Committee the responsibility of being in
charge of implementing the risk measures.
The internal audit department of the Group
will conduct an independent annual review
on the risk management system of the
Group according to the audit plan on risk
management, and submit the report to the
Board.

Risk Identification

The Group identifies risks through a mixture
of top-down and bottom-up approaches,
thereby conducting analysis and appraisal
on risk, and identifying the source, type and
index of risks.

For top-down approach, the representatives
of Executive Committee and Risk
Management Department have to conduct
risk identification through questionnaires.

For bottom-up approach, the person-in-
charge of the risk will collect the risks from
each department, complete the risk register
under the assistance of risk executor, and
submit to risk management department or
report to respective management personnel.
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V. Risk Assessment

The risk is then classified into two levels,
namely intrinsic risk and residual risk. The
risk assessment calculates the risk index on
these two levels according to the established
methods in respect of the possible impact
of each risk on the Group. It controls the
sum of all risk indices on residual risk
within the risk limit pre-set by the Group
through taking control action and mitigation
measures.

VI. Risk Handling

The sum of risk indices shall at no time
exceed the cap of risk preference of the
Group. The control measures shall be taken
to conduct risk governance on any risk with
high risk index in a timely manner. Such risk
governance aims at reducing the possibility
of occurrence or mitigating the impact
of risk (and may not be fully eliminated).
Each of the proposed risk management
measures/countermeasures is assigned to
a person in charge with an estimated date
of completion, so as to enable the person-
in-charge of risk to monitor the process
of management easier to ensure risk
countermeasures have come into force.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Board has adopted a whistleblowing policy
(the “Whistleblowing Policy”) since June 2022.
The purpose of the Whistleblowing Policy is
to commit to the highest possible standards of
openness, probity and accountability. It provides
the employees of the Group with protection,
support, reporting channels and guidance on
whistleblowing. The nature, status and the
results of the complaints received under the
Whistleblowing Policy are reported to designated
officers and the AC. No incident of fraud or
misconduct that have material effect on the
Group’s financial statements or overall operations
took place for the year ended 31 March 2025
has been discovered. The Whistleblowing Policy
is reviewed annually by the AC to ensure its
effectiveness.
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5. Anti-corruption

The Group has developed and implemented
anti-corruption and anti-bribery systems.
Under the authorisation of the management,
the Internal Audit Department implements
daily anti-corruption and anti-fraud measures,
including handling complaints, ensuring the
protection of whistleblowers, conducting internal
investigations, and reporting to the Board. For
any discovered corrupt or fraudulent behavior,
the Group takes remedial measures and
preventive methods to avoid similar incidents in

future.

The Group regularly provides anti-corruption
compliance training to senior management
and employees, such as “ICAC Anti-corruption
Business Ethics Training”, enhancing their
understanding of relevant laws and regulations.
Relevant policies and explicit provisions
prohibiting violations have incorporated in the
Employee Handbook and the Employee Code of
Ethics. During the year, all new employees have
received anti-corruption compliance training;
all board members have received director
responsibility training, including supervising the
Group's anti-corruption and antibribery matters.

6. Auditors’ remuneration

During the Year, the fees paid to KPMG, the
Group’s external auditor, were HK$3,417,000
for audit services of the Group, and for non-
audit related services, were approximately
HK$1,336,000, representing mainly taxation
services and other non-audit service fees.
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E. COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

1.

The Company strives to convey to Shareholders
pertinent information in a clear, detailed, timely
manner and on a regular basis and to take into
consideration their views and inputs, and to
address the Shareholders’ concerned. Their views
are communicated to the Board comprehensively.

The Company adopted a shareholders’
communication policy (the “Shareholders’
Communication Policy”) and reviews it on
an annual basis to ensure its effectiveness.
The purpose of this policy is to ensure the
Shareholders are provided with prompt and
equal access to information about the Company
(including but not limited to its financial
performance, corporate goals and strategies,
significant developments, corporate governance
and risk exposure), in order to enable the
Shareholders to assess the Company’s overall
performance, exercise their rights in an informed
manner and engage actively with the Company.

The Company communicates with the
Shareholders through the publication of annual
reports, interim reports, announcements,
circulars, results announcements and news
releases. All communications to Shareholders
are also available on the Company’s website at
www.karrie.com.

The Company convened general meetings
according to the Listing Rules and had provided
sufficient notice for Shareholders. The AGM
provides a valuable communication platform
between the Board and Shareholders, which
available to Shareholders for asking queries
about company's business and affairs. The
chairman of the Board, executive Directors,
independent non-executive Directors and
relevant senior executives will make an effort to
attend to answer Shareholders’ questions.

Separate resolutions are proposed at general
meetings on each substantially separate issue,
including the election of individual Directors.
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All votes of the Shareholders at a general meeting
must be taken by poll according to the Listing
Rules. The chairman of the meeting will therefore
demand a poll for every resolution put to the
vote of the AGM pursuant to bye-law 66 of the
bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”).

INVESTOR RELATIONS

1.

Results announcement

The Board recognizes that effective
communication with investors is the key to
establish investor confidence and to attract new
investors.

Annual reports and interim reports are prepared
and issued to all Shareholders within the
prescribed periods stipulated by the Listing
Rules. All results announcements and reports
are published on the Company’s website and the
Stock Exchange’s website. The Company can still
provide the Shareholders and investors with an
adequate degree of transparency and information
of the financial position of the Company.

Communication of media, analysts and
investors

The Group endeavours to enhance the
transparency. We have close communication
with media, analysts and both institutional and
individual investors after the release of the
interim and final results by way of presentation,
luncheons, meetings or telephone conferences
etc. according to circumstances from time to
time in order to share the performances of the
Group during the relevant period and to report
the new development and strategy of the Group’s
business. There is also ample opportunity for
all parties to ask questions and to communicate
the Group
shall reply and handle rapidly, as we have

with each other. Furthermore,

received enquiries from media and individual
Shareholders.
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Tea-Break with individual investors

Since the first quarter of 2004/05, the Group
has been arranging tea-break with individual
investors from time to time to build up an
interactive and direct communication channel.
This allows individual investors talking to the
management of the Group. Meanwhile, the
Group would give an update about the status
of the Group’s development and share of their
feelings toward the Group. The next tea-break
will be held on 16 August 2025. Interested
investors are invited to visit the Company's
website at www.karrie.com for more details.

Website

The Group regularly releases corporate
information, such as awards received, and the
latest news of the Group’s developments on its
Company’s website. The public are welcome to
give their comments and make their enquiries
through the Company’s website, the management
will give their prompt response.

Shareholder Communication Policy

The Board has reviewed the Shareholders’
Communication Policy and its implementation
and effectiveness for the year ended 31 March
2025. The Company has provided appropriate
communication channels to the Shareholders
in accordance with the Shareholders’
Communication Policy and therefore the
existing Shareholders’” Communication Policy in
appropriate to the Company and considered that
the Shareholders’” Communication Policy was
effective during the Year.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

1.

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a
Special General Meeting

Pursuant to Section 74 of the Bermuda
Companies Act, members holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the company
secretary of the Company at 9/F, Southeast
Industrial Building, 611-619 Castle Peak Road,
Tsuen Wan, New Territories, Hong Kong, to
require a special general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting
shall be held within two months after the deposit
of such requisition. If within twenty-one days
of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionists, or
any of them representing more than one half of
the voting rights of all of them, may themselves
convene a meeting, but any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration
of three months from the date of deposit of the
requisition.

Procedures for which enquiries may be put to
the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their
enquiries to the Board in writing at the
Company’s head office and principal place of
business or the Company’s website.
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Procedures for putting forward proposals by
shareholders at the shareholders” meeting
Pursuant to Section 79 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, shareholders representing
not less than one-twentieth of the total voting
rights of all shareholders; or not less than 100
shareholders may make requisition in writing to
the head office and principal place of business of
the Company:

(@) to give to shareholders of the Company
entitled to receive notice of the next annual
general meeting notice of any resolution
which may properly be moved and is
intended to be moved at that meeting; and

(b) to circulate to shareholders entitled to have
notice of any general meeting sent to them
any statement of not more than 1,000 words
with respect to the matter referred to in any
proposed resolution or the business to be
dealt with at that meeting.

Any enquires or suggestions by Shareholders can
be sent in writing to the Board or the company
secretary of the Company at our head office
and principal place of business at 9/F, Southeast
Industrial Building, 611-619 Castle Peak Road,
Tsuen Wan, New Territories, Hong Kong or email
ir@karrie.com to the Company.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is an employee of the
Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the
Group’s affairs and assists the Board in functionary
effectively. All Directors also have access to the
advice and services of the Company Secretary. During
the Year, the Company Secretary has confirmed
that he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training in accordance with the relevant
requirements under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, the Company has amended its Bye-
laws. Pursuant to the announcement dated 15 July
2024 in relation to the amendments to the Bye-laws
and the approval of the resolution in relation to the
amendments to the Bye-laws at the annual general
meeting held on 30 August 2024 (the “2024 AGM”),
the amended and restated Bye-laws which came into
effect after the conclusion of the 2024 AGM were
published on 30 August 2024 on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Z R B B 2= R E R 2 7

REARE

NRAMERAAFREE  BHAKHE
WEEERBEMABLHHESTS
BEMEE - 2REFHIBER
AWEREREER LIRS - F
N RRMECEER  BRLET
MAB29RMERTE - EITHIR
THNEMREREXEE -

BERXH

KEE - REMEFITRARIMEA] - 1R
BT _NF+A+HBBEBABE
RAIAAM A ERR=ZFT_HFEN
A=THBRRBEFANE ([2024K R
REDBBTEBIEBIIRES QT
MAIE R - ZNERTR2024 88 R
AERBEER IR T -_MNFE
NAZ+BRIZERAR R B uh & B
ZET#B UL o



Senior Management Profile

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. HO Cheuk Fai, aged 79, was appointed as a Director
of the Company in October 1996 and is the chairman
and chief executive officer of the Company as well as the
founder of the Group. He is also the director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Prior to founding the Group in
1980, Mr. Ho has experience in factory management for
several decades and in running operations specializing in
manufacturing plastic, metal and electronic products. He is
responsible for the Group’s overall corporate strategies and
objectives. He is also a director of New Sense Enterprises
Limited, Honford Investments Limited, Castfast Properties
Development Co., Ltd. and The Wedding City Co., Limited,
a corporate substantial shareholder of the Company, and
the husband of Ms. Ho Po Chu, who is a member of
management team. He is also the father of Mr. Ho Wai
Hon, Brian, an executive Director.
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Senior Management Profile

Mr. Ho was appointed as member of the 10th Guangdong
Provincial Committee of Political Consultative Conference
in January 2008 and was reappointed as a member
of the 11th Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference, Dongguan City, Guangdong Province in
January 2007. He was also awarded as the Honorable
Citizen of Dongguan City and Honorable Citizen of
Yixing City. The solid business knowledge and working
experience gained by Mr. Ho throughout the years
are recognized by the industries. He was awarded the
Honorary Fellowship of the Professional Validation
Council of Hong Kong Industries in October 2020. He
was also the Honorary Vice-Chairman of The Hang Seng
University of Hong Kong — Foundation and the Honorary
Director of Hong Kong CPPCC (Provincial) Members
Association Foundation. Mr. Ho currently participates in
affairs of different social and commercial associations,
which include Former Guangdong Province CPPCC
Members Association, Overseas Friendship Association
of Dongguan, Former Dongguan City CPPCC Members
Association, The Association of the Hong Kong Members
of Dongguan’s (Hong Kong & Macau) CPPCC, Guangdong
Overseas Chinese Enterprises Association, Hong Kong
Metals Manufacturers Association, World Dongguan
Entrepreneurs, Dongguan City Fenggang Association of
Enterprises with Foreign Investment, Federation of Hong
Kong Guangdong Community Organisations, Hong Kong
Fenggang (Dongguan) Natives Association Limited, The
Hong Kong Chinese Importers’ & Exporter’s Association,
Dongguan Foundation for the Disabled and Dongguan City
Fenggang Industrial Development Association (3R 52 11 Bl

EXEREESD).
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Senior Management Profile

Ms. CHAN Ming Mui, Silvia, aged 53, was appointed
as an executive Director in November 2010. She is
also a member of the remuneration committee and the
nomination committee and is the General Manager —
Human Resources and Administration of the Group and
responsible for the overall operation of human resources,
administration and IT department of the Group. Ms. Chan
is one of the members of the Executive Committee and
Internal Audit Committee of the Group. She is also the
director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Ms. Chan
graduated from The City University of Hong Kong majoring
in Public Administration and Management. She also holds a
Master of Business Administration from Wrexham Glyndwr
University in the United Kingdom. She joined the Group in
1996 and has over 25 years’ experience in administration
and management.

Mr. ZHAO Kai, aged 50, was appointed as a Director of
the Company in November 2012. He has been appointed
as the General Manager and the Convener of Executive
Committee of the Group with effect from 1 April 2013,
responsible for overall manufacturing management
and operation of the Group. Mr. Zhao graduated from
Xihua University (formerly known as Sichuan Institute of
Technology) in the PRC with a Bachelor Degree in Foundry
Engineering. He has over 20 years’ experience in metal
plastic, mould engineering and project management and
more than 15 years’ experience in production management
and operation. Mr. Zhao joined the Group in December
2011.

Mr. CHAN Raymond, aged 58, was appointed as an
executive Director in June 2016. He is also the Marketing
Executive General Manager and a member of the Executive
Committee of the Group, responsible for the Group’s
marketing and business development. He is also the
director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. He joined the
Group in 1985 and has over 30 years’ experience in sales
and marketing.
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Mr. Ho Wai Hon, Brian, aged 35, was appointed as an
executive director and the head of finance and accounting
department of the Company in June 2025. Mr. Brian Ho
graduated with a Bachelor of Science with Honours in
Economics from University of York, United Kingdom in July
2011 and obtained a Master of Science (MSc) in Investment
Analysis in Aston Business School, United Kingdom in
March 2013. Mr. Ho has over ten years of experience
in finance, management and the property industry. He
started his career as an assistant to the general manager
of Karrie Industrial Company Limited, a subsidiary of the
Company, from November 2012 to June 2014. He has been
an assistant to the chairman of Karrie Industrial Company
Limited since July 2014 and head of finance and accounting
department of the same company since November 2017.
Mr. Brian Ho is the son of Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai, chairman
of the Board and chief executive officer of the Company.
Mr. Brian Ho was appointed as an executive director of
KRP Development Holdings Limited (“KRP”) in September
2020 (Stock Code: 2421), the shares of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He is responsible
for overall corporate strategies and planning, business
development and corporate relationship functions of KRP.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. FONG Hoi Shing, aged 61, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in December
2004. He is also the chairman of the audit committee
and a member of the remuneration committee and the
nomination committee. He has extensive experience in
accounting, finance and management. He holds a master
degree in professional accounting, a postgraduate diploma
in corporate administration and a higher diploma in
accountancy from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
He is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a Chartered Secretary,
a Chartered Governance Professional and an associate of
the Chartered Governance Institute and the Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute.
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Senior Management Profile

Dr. LAU Kin Wah, mH, /7, aged 65, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director, a member of
the audit committee, the chairman of the remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Company.
Dr. Lau has rich and extensive experience in business
operation and management and is the founder, chairman
and managing director of Hanville Co. Ltd. He holds a
Doctor of Business Administration from Bulacan State
University in Philippines and becomes a prominent figure
in watch and clock industry. He graduated from the Lee
Wai Lee Technical Institute in the 1980s. He was presented
with the 20th Anniversary Award for Outstanding Graduate
by the VTC in 2002. Also, he was an awardee of the Young
Industrialist Awards of Hong Kong in 2004 and conferred
the VTC Honorary Fellowship in 2013. On 1 July 2013 he
was appointed a justice of the peace.

Dr. Lau is also a Vice-Convenor of The Employees
Retraining Board Industry Consultative Networks (Business
Services), a Chairman of Education Bureau Curriculum
Development Council Ad Hoc Committee on Applied
Learning Chinese (for non-Chinese speaking students),
a Member of Hong Kong Productivity Council Hong
Kong Watch & Clock Technology Centre Management
Committee and an Advisor of Hong Kong Brand
Development Council.

Mr. LAM Yin Shing, Donald, aged 61, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director and a member of the
audit committee of the Company with effect from 1 July
2024. He has extensive experience in banking industry. He
has been with Hang Seng Bank Limited (the “Bank”) for
the past 21 years, lastly as Head of Commercial Banking
(Greater China) and a member of the Bank’s Executive
Committee before his retirement in January 2024. He
planned, directed and managed the Bank’s commercial
banking business in the Greater China region as well as
the functional departments of global trade and receivable
finance, global payment solutions, insurance sales and
corporate wealth management. Prior to this, he had been
with HSBC Hong Kong for 14 vyears lastly as Head of
Corporate Marketing and Planning for value transformation
of the corporate and institutional banking business, before
serving briefly as finance director of a HK-listed company
in Hong Kong for less than 3 years.
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Senior Management Profile

He is a certified banker of the Hong Kong Institute of
Bankers and a chartered banker of the Chartered Banker
Institute, UK. He obtained his Bachelor of Social Science
(First Class Honor) in Economics and Management
Studies from the University of Hong Kong in 1987 and
Master of Science in e-Commerce and Master of Business
Administration both from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong.

Mr. Lam is an active participant in various community
services. He served as board member, second vice
president, campaign committee chairman and member
of Executive Committee of the Community Chest from
2021 to 2022; a member of Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of Guangxi Autonomous Region
from 2013 to 2022; a member of Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of Changsha City from 2008 to
2012; and a member of Disciplinary Committee of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants from
2076 to 2022.

With effect from 19 April 2024, Mr. Lam has been
appointed as an executive director of each of Chinney
Investments, Limited (“Chinney”) (Stock Code: 216) and
Hon Kwok Land Investment Company, Limited (“Hon
Kwok”) (Stock Code: 160). He is primarily responsible for
the overall financial management of Chinney and Hon
Kwok. Chinney and Hon Kwok are the listed companies
in Hong Kong listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. He has also been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of Best Pacific International
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 2111) with effect from 25
June 2024, which is also a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Senior Management Profile

MANAGEMENT

Ms. HO Po Chu, aged 76, is the Director of Administration
of the Group. She is also a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Group. Ms. Ho is one of the founding members
of the Group in 1980. She is mainly responsible for
supervising human resources and overall administration of
the Group. She is also the wife of Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai, who is
one of the executive Directors, the chairman and the chief
executive officer of the Company.

Mr. LO Wai Kit, aged 55, is the Marketing General
Manager of the Group and a member of the Executive
Committee of the Group, responsible for the Group’s
business development and product management. Mr. Lo
graduated from The Hong Kong Baptist University with a
Bachelor of Arts (Honors) in Sociology. He has over 25
years’ experience in sales and marketing.

Mr. FUNG Siu Nang, aged 51, has served the Group
for over 26 years and holds the degree of Bachelor of
Science in Engineering Physics from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He is the Operation and Quality
General Manager of the Group and a member of the
Executive Committee of the Group. He is responsible
for quality system and system integration operations
management of the Group and has extensive experience
in quality management and project engineering operation
management.
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Report of the Directors

The Board has the pleasure of presenting the report
together with the audited financial statements of the Group
for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is an investment holding company. The
Group is principally engaged in

— Metal and Plastic Business (“M&P”): providing
mechanical engineering solutions, manufacturing
and sales of metal and plastic parts, mainly including
moulds and the relevant plastic and metal parts
products for information and communication
technology industry, etc.; and

—  Electronic Manufacturing Services Business (“EMS”):
manufacturing and sales of magnetic tape data
storage, point-of-sale system, and other computer
peripherals, etc.

Further discussion and analysis of the Group’s activities as
required under Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), including a
discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group, an indication of likely future developments
in the Group’s business and an analysis using financial
key performance indicators, can be found in Chairman’s
Statement on pages 12 to 29, in Report of the Directors in
pages 74 to 120 and Financial Highlights on pages 9 to 11
of this annual report.

A discussion on the Group’s compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group is contained in Corporate Governance Report on
pages 30 to 66 of this annual report.

The Group’s turnover by principal product business
segment and geographical locations for the Year are set out
in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.
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DIVIDENDS

The Board has recommended to pay a final dividend of
HK3.0 cents per share (2023/24 final dividend: HK4.0
cents per share), to shareholders whose names appear on
the register of members of the Company on 12 September
2025. Together with the interim dividend of HK2.5 cents
per share (2023/24 interim dividend: HK1.5 cents per
share), total dividend paid/payable for this year amounted
to HK5.5 cents per share (2023/24: HK5.5 cents per share).
The final dividend will be subject to the approval of the
shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming AGM to
be held on 5 September 2025.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

Details of the Group’s results for the Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 133 of this
annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment
of the Group and of the Company during the Year are set
out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements of
this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 March 2025, the Company had a total of
2,021,459,200 ordinary Shares (of which 346,000 Shares
were repurchased by the Company and held as treasury
shares). Details of the share capital of the Company are set
out in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements of
this annual report.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out in Note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company’s reserves
of approximately HK$248,115,000 mainly representing the
contributed surplus and retained earnings were available
for distribution to the Company’s shareholders.

DONATIONS
Charitable and other donations made by the Group during
the Year amounted to HK$416,000.

Report of the Directors
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Report of the Directors

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANIES' LISTED SECURITIES

The Company repurchased a total of 346,000 shares on the
Stock Exchange during the year ended 31 March 2025 at
an aggregate consideration of HK$265,320 and these shares
were held by the Company as treasury shares. Details of
these transactions are as follows:

BE HEIWEEAQXFT LHES

ARATIREBE-_ZE_AFE=A=+—8”
1 F A 7 B 32 P B [B] #£346,000 A% A%
19 B EE 5265320 7T © 1%
ERMBAREFEETRD - FHE
Aot

Number Highest Lowest
of Shares price paid price paid Aggregate
Month/year repurchased per Share per Share consideration
- 4El BREN BREN
/R Bt 8 REES &K B R KE
(HK$) (HK$) (HK$)
(&) (B 7T) (B 7T)
December 2024
—EMNF+TZA 346,000 0.77 0.76 265,320
346,000 265,320
The Board believes that the repurchase of shares reflects ZTEEZZHERBRORBTESTSER
the Board’s confidence in the Company’s long-term FIRHEIFEMERNEL @ BARRERT

strategy and development while maintaining sufficient
financial resources and will benefit the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not redeemed
any of its shares during the Year and neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities (including treasury
shares) during the year.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group has recognized the importance of good
utilization of resources long time ago and not to exploit the
rights of using resources for the next generation. The Group
adheres to the vision of the Chairman, Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai,
that is with heartfelt dedication in all details, and saves
resources for the next generation. As such, the Group’s
production adheres to the concept of reducing energy or
material consumption from the sources with the adoption
of various environmental friendly measures and addition of
energy-saving equipment. With the concept of green and
cleaner production implemented in practice, the Group
continues to formulate policies for green production and
energy-saving policies, while introducing different kinds of
environmentally friendly equipment to attain the objectives
of cleaner production and environmental protection and
to comply with relevant environmental regulations. It is of
paramount importance to have effective communication
and understanding between the Group and its stakeholders
including Shareholders, partners, employees, suppliers,
regulators and the public in coming up with benchmarks
and regarding key issues.

In accordance with Rule 13.91 and the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report Guide contained in
Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules, the Company’s
Sustainability Report will be available on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website at the same time
as the publication of the annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and the risk of non-compliance
with such requirements. The Group has been implementing
system and allocating staff resources to ensure ongoing
compliance with rules and regulations.

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the
Company’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong and the PRC while
the Company itself was incorporated in Bermuda and its
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Our establishment and operations accordingly shall comply
with relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong, Bermuda
and the PRC. The Group had complied with all relevant
applicable laws and regulations in all material respects.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group ensures all staff are reasonably remunerated
and it regularly reviews and improves its policies on
remuneration and benefits, training, occupational health
and safety.

The Group maintains good relationship with its customers.
A customer complaint handling mechanism is in place
to receive, analyse and study complaints and make
recommendations on remedies with the aim of improving
service quality.

The Group is in good relationship with its suppliers and
conducts a fair and strict appraisal of its suppliers.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group adopts an integrated top-down and bottom-
up approach in identifying risks and thereby conducts risk
analysis and assessment to identify the sources, categories

and indicators of risks. The followings are the key part of
the risks and uncertainties identified by the Group:

(1) Industrial Business:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Concentration of clients

The customers in industrial business of the
Group are mainly concentrated in global leading
technology corporations. The Group may be
unable to attract new customers if no new
product has been developed. The concentration
of customers and/or the concentration of
geographical location that exceeds an acceptable
level may increase the business risk and may
reduce the market share of the Group. The Group
may also be exposed to the risk of significant
reduction in profit in case a few important clients
are lost.

Supplies of raw materials

Since market fluctuations may lead to delay,
shortage and price fluctuation in raw materials
supply, these may heighten the Group’s risks in
maintaining timely delivery to customers and a
fall in profit.

Volatile in global economy and market
environment

Geopolitical conflicts and trade policy
adjustments, especially the additional reciprocal
tariffs on goods of the PRC, have made the
supply chain even more uncertain and industry
competition increasingly intense.
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The Group has already adopted the following
corresponding measures to mitigate operational risks:

(i) Concentration of clients:

The Group adopt practical measures of
“recruiting talents, innovating research and
development, diversifying products, extending
the production bases and market expansion” and
provide solutions to our customers so as to meet
the constant challenges. The Group also adopted
the core strategy of “with one heart, lightning
speed and turning the tide”.

(i) Supplies of raw materials:
The Group will seek to stock up sufficient raw
materials in accordance with market conditions
and sales and production plan, in order to stay
clear of short-term fluctuation in market supply
and price.

The Group always values clients and suppliers as
long-term close partners. The Group will timely
communicate with upstream and downstream
suppliers over the market status of the raw
materials and will proactively search for solutions
to achieve a win-win business partnership.

(iii) The Group has continued to stay highly alert
for potential risks and constantly evaluate and
deploy corresponding strategies and actively
enhanced the flexibility of the supply chain
and business adaptability to promote overall
operational resilience.

Furthermore, the future plant in Thailand will
further enhance the synergies between PRC
and Thailand production lines so as to maintain
the balance and competitiveness of the overall
production layout of the Group.

Finance 2)
Foreign currency risks arising from dealings with
customers and suppliers in foreign currencies are
discussed in the Chairman’s Statement of this annual
report. Other financial risks and uncertainties are set

out in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements

of this annual report.
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SHARE SCHEME

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Old Scheme

The share option scheme was adopted on 24 August
2012 (the “Old Scheme”) and was terminated on
24 August 2021 by shareholders of the Company.
The shareholders of the Company adopted another
share option scheme on 24 August 2021 (the “2021
Scheme”). The termination of the 2021 Scheme and
the adoption of a new share option scheme were

A.

approved by the Shareholders (the “New Scheme”) on
30 August 2023. The key terms of the Old Scheme are
summarized as below:

(i)

(if)

(a)

The Old Scheme is a share incentive
scheme which is established to recognise
and acknowledge the contributions which
the eligible participants have made or will
make to the Group or invested entity (as
defined in the Old Scheme).

The Old Scheme will provide the eligible
participants with an opportunity to have a
personal stake in the Company with a view
to motivating the eligible participants to
utilise their performance and efficiency for
the benefit of the Group or invested entity;
and attracting and retaining or otherwise
maintaining an ongoing relationship with the
eligible participants whose contributions are
or will be beneficial to the long term growth
of the Group or invested entity.

The Board may at its discretion grant options to:

(a)

any director (whether executive, non-
executive or independent non-executive
director), employee (whether full time or
part time employee), consultant, customer,
supplier, agent,
partner or advisers of or contractor to the
Group or invested entity; and

partner, joint venture
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(b) any discretionary trust whose discretionary
objects include any director (whether
executive, non-executive or independent
non-executive director), employee (whether
full time or part time employee), consultant,
customer, supplier, agent, partner, joint
venture partner or adviser of or contractor
to the Group or invested entity.

(iii) The total number of shares that may be issued

(iv)

by the Company if all options granted under the
Old Scheme have been exercised was 1,150,000,
which represented approximately 0.06% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at 30
June 2025.

The overall limit on the number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Old Scheme and any other share option
schemes for the time being of the Company shall
not, in aggregate, exceed such number of Shares
equaling to 30% of the Shares in issue from time
to time. No option may be granted under the Old
Scheme or any other share option scheme of the
Company if it will result in the above-mentioned
30% limit being exceeded.

The total number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Old Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company must not, in aggregate,
exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the
date of approval of the Old Scheme by the
Shareholders (the “Old Scheme Limit”), unless
Shareholders’ approval has been obtained.
Options lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the Old Scheme or any other share option
scheme of the Company will not be counted for
the purpose of calculating the Old Scheme Limit.
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Unless approved by Shareholders in
a general meeting, no option may be
granted to any eligible participant which, if
exercised in full, would result in the total
number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options already granted
or to be granted to such eligible participant
(including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such new
grant exceeding 1% of the Shares in issue as
at the date of such new grant.

Any grant of options to a director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the
Company or its subsidiaries or any of their
respective associates under the Old Scheme
must be subject to the prior approval of
the independent non-executive Directors
(excluding any independent non-executive
Director who is a grantee of the relevant
options).
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(c)  Where any grant of options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-
executive director of the Company or any
of their respective associates would result
in the Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options already granted and
to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person
in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such grant:

(1) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of
the Shares in issue, and

based
on the closing price of the Shares at
the date of each grant, in excess of
HK$5,000,000.

(2) having an aggregate value,

then such further grant must be subject to
the approval by Shareholders at a general
meeting taken on a poll.

(vii) The period within which the options must be

exercised will be specified by the Company at
the time of grant, but shall expire no later than 10
years from the relevant date of grant.

(viii) At the time of grant of the options, the Company

(ix)

may specify any minimum period(s) for which an
option must be held before it can be exercised.
The Old Scheme does not contain any such
minimum period.

At the time of the grant of the options, the
Company may specify any performance target(s)
which must be achieved before the options can
be exercised. The Old Scheme does not contain
any performance targets.
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(x)

(xi)

A non-refundable remittance of HK$10 by way
of consideration for the grant of an option is
refunded to be paid by each grantee upon
acceptance of the opinion.

Subject to adjustments made in a situation
contemplated under the Old Scheme, the
subscription price in respect of any option shall
be at the discretion of the Board, provided that it
shall not be less than the highest of:

(@) the closing price of a share as shown in the
daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant (which must be a
business day) in respect of such option;

(b) the average of the closing prices of the
shares as shown in the daily quotations
sheet of the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the
relevant date of grant in respect of such
option; and

(c) the nominal value of a share.

The Old Scheme was terminated on 24 August
2021 (the “Termination Date”), and no further
options has been granted under the Old Scheme
since the Termination Date.
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(xii) Details of movements of the outstanding options

(xii) RAFERBEAERTZH

granted under the Old Scheme during the Year RATE B B R B B 1B 40
are as follows: Ik
Number
Nurber Nurmber Number ~ of options Nurmber
Price  of options ofoptions of options lapsed/  of options
Exercise Closing ~atexercise  outstanding granted  exercised  cancelled  outstanding
Date Price  Exercise Price before date at during during during ~at 31 March
Category of Eligible Participants  of Grant per share ~ Period date of grant ~of options 1 April 2‘)2; the year the year the year . 2%25
ZEC[ ut- Sl
HERE RBRE  BA-A  RARE  WMAEE  RAEE ZASt-8
RAAH kR HAGE Ry i K4/ME HAGE
RERSHZEH ReA®  SRORER 7RH ZE# ZBR BREEE BREHE BBREHE REEEE BRENS
(HKS) (HKS) (HKS) (000) (000) ('000) (000) (1000)
(&7) (&7) (1) () () () () (F)
Other Eligible
Participants
EHARKZAE
Employees 11/08/2014 0419 01/08/2015- 0420 = = = = = =
4 10/08/2024
11/08/2014 0.41901/08/2017- 0420 - - - - - —
10/08/2024
271012016 0.70 01/0712017- 0.69 - 180 - - - 180
26/102026
271012016 0.70 010712018~ 0.69 - 380 = = (50) 330
26/10/2026
271012016 0.70 01072019~ 0.69 - 1,440 - - (800) 040
26/10/2026
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On 11 August 2014, a total of 18,000,000 share
options (the “2014 Share Options”) were granted
to certain qualified participants of the Group
(including an executive director of the Company)
under the Old Scheme. The total estimated fair
value at the measurement date of the 2014 Share
Options was approximately from HK$3,168,000
to HK$3,492,000. The closing price of the Shares
immediately before the date of grant was HK$0.42
per share.

On 27 October 2016, the Company granted a
total of 24,700,000 share options (the “2016
Share Options”) to certain qualified participants
of the Group (including executive directors of
the Company) under the Old Scheme. The total
estimated fair value at the measurement date of
the 2016 Share Options was approximately from
HK$5,903,000 to HK$6,694,000. The closing price
of the Shares immediately before the date of grant
was HK$0.69 per share.

On 20 April 2021, the Company granted a total
of 15,000,000 share options (the “2021 Share
Options”) to certain qualified participants of
the Group (including executive directors of the
Company) under the Old Scheme. The total
estimated fair value at the measurement date of
the 2021 Share Options was approximately from
HK$3,764,000 to HK$3,780,000. The closing price
of the Shares immediately before the date of grant
was HK$1.49 per share.

Save as disclosed above, no share options had
been further granted under the Old Scheme up to
the Termination Date of the Old Scheme, no share
options had been cancelled or lapsed under the
Old Scheme during the Year, and no share options
granted remained outstanding under the Old
Scheme as at 31 March 2025.

The estimate of the fair value of the 2014 Share
Options, 2016 Share Options and 2021 Share
Options granted were measured based on the
Trinomial Model, after taking into account the
terms and conditions under the Old Scheme upon
which the share options were granted.
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A professional actuarial firm has been engaged
in the year of 2014/15, 2016/17 and 2021/22 to
perform a valuation of the share options granted
under the Old Scheme.

According to the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standard 2 (“HKFRS2”), the fair value of the share
option on the date grant should be amortised in
profit or loss as expenses over the period from
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the date of grant until they are exercisable by the REHBEERARTITEER
grantee. The expenses required to be reported ¥ E&ﬁﬁfiﬁj?ﬁ‘:?@ 5 iR P A
for share options granted from 1 April 2014 to 31 fr e BEAR_T—MNFMA—
March 2025 under the Old Scheme are estimated AT -_HAF=-A=+—H
as follows: BREBEEFERLEOBRERR
EERNTHETHET:
Financial Year
HHEE

201415 201516 2016/17 ~ 2017/18  2018/19  2019/20  2020/21  2021/22  2022/23  2023/24  2024/25

(Actual)  (Actual)  (Actual) (Actual) (Actual) (Actual) (Actua) (Actual) (Actual) (Actual)  (Actual) Total

2014/15  2015/16  2016/17 ~ 2017/18  2018/19  2019/20  2020/21  2021/22  2022/23  2023/24  2024/25

(BB) (BR) (EW) (E®) (BB (ER) (EW) (EW) (BB (BB) (BW) &%
Pilepenses  BREKH

(HK$'000) (fAm) 10671020 2561 2908 1,186 20 — 3768 = = — 10
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Employee share option expenses charged to the
consolidated profit or loss are determined with
the trinomial model valuation model based on
the following assumptions:

(1) The share options were granted on 11
August 2014:

Date of valuation 11 August 2014

Date of grant 11 August 2014

Option value HK$0.176-

HK$ 0.194
Market price at date of grant HK$0.405
Exercisable price HK$0.419
Risk-free interest rate 1.97%
Life of options 10 years
Expected Volatility 52.84%

(120 months)

Expected Dividend yield 2.47%
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(2)

The share options were granted on 27

October 2016:

Date of valuation

Date of grant

Option value

Market price at date of grant

Exercisable price
Risk-free interest rate

Life of options

Expected Volatility (120
months)

Expected Dividend yield

27 October 2016

27 October 2016

HK$0.239-

HK$ 0.271

HK$0.70

HK$0.70
1.00%

10 years

51.27%

5.00%
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3)

The share options were granted on 20 April
2021:

Date of valuation 20 April 2021
Date of grant 20 April 2021
Option value HK$0.2509-

HK$ 0.2520
Market price at date of grant HK$1.69
Exercisable price HK$1.69
Risk-free interest rate 0.05%
Life of options 1 year
Expected Volatility 44.58%

(120 months)

Expected Dividend yield 5.00%

Note: The vesting of the share options is subject to
the performance of the Group.
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There are several relevant measures that may
be considered to assess the financial impact
of the share option schemes, including the
expense of share-based transactions under
generally accepted financial reporting standards
(e.g., HKFRS2). The expense of the share-based
transactions is attributed over the period from
the original transaction date (i.e., grant date) to
the date when the recipient’s entitlement to the
payment has been fully realized (i.e., vested).

The expected volatility is based on the historic
volatility, adjusted for any expected changes
to future volatility based on publicly available
information. Change in the subjective input
assumptions could materially affect the fair value
estimate.

The result of the trinomial model can be
materially affected by changes in these
assumptions so an option’s actual value may
differ from the estimated fair value of the options
due to limitations of the trinomial model.

In assessing the value of the share options
granted during the Year and the expense
of share-based transactions under HKFRS2
requirement, the trinomial option pricing model
has been used. The trinomial model is one of
the generally most accepted methods used to
calculate the value of options and expense of
share-based transactions.

The parameters of the trinomial model include
the risk free rate, dividend yield, exit rate and
trigger price multiple. The risk free rate has
made reference to the yield of exchange fund
notes as at the grant date. The dividend yield
makes reference to the dividend history and it is
assumed that the grantee will exercise the option
in accordance with their sub-optimal exercise

policy.
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The 2021 Scheme

No share option has been granted under the 2021
Scheme since its adoption on 24 August 2021 and up
to its termination date on 30 August 2023. The key
terms of the 2021 Scheme are summarized as below:

(if)

The 2021 Scheme is a share incentive
scheme which is established to recognize
and acknowledge the contributions which
the eligible participants have made or will
make to the Group or invested entity (as
defined in 2021 Scheme).

The 2021 Scheme will provide the eligible
participants with an opportunity to have a
personal stake in the Company with a view
to motivating the eligible participants to
utilise their performance and efficiency for
the benefit of the Group or invested entity;
and attracting and retaining or otherwise
maintaining an ongoing relationship with the
eligible participants whose contributions are
or will be beneficial to the long term growth
of the Group or invested entity.

The Board may at its discretion grant options to:

(a)

any director (whether executive,
nonexecutive or independent non-executive
director), employee (whether full time or
part time employee), consultant, customer,
supplier,
partner or advisers of or contractor to the

agent, partner, joint venture

Group or invested entity; and

VAR
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(iii)

(iv)

(b) any discretionary trust whose discretionary
objects include any director (whether
executive, non-executive or independent
non-executive director), employee (whether
full time or part time employee), consultant,
customer, supplier, agent, partner, joint
venture partner or adviser of or contractor
to the Group or invested entity.

The overall limit on the number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under
the 2021 Scheme and any other share option
schemes for the time being of the Company
shall not, in aggregate, exceed such number of
Shares equaling to 30% of the Shares in issue
from time to time. No option may be granted
under the 2021 Scheme or any other share option
scheme of the Company if it will result in the
abovementioned 30% limit being exceeded.

The total number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the 2021 Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company must not, in aggregate,
exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the
date of approval of the 2021 Scheme by the
Shareholders (the “2021 Scheme Limit”), unless
Shareholders’ approval has been obtained.
Options lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the 2021 Scheme or any other share option
scheme of the Company will not be counted
for the purpose of calculating the 2021 Scheme
Limit.
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Unless approved by Shareholders in
a general meeting, no option may be
granted to any eligible participant which, if
exercised in full, would result in the total
number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options already granted
or to be granted to such eligible participant
(including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such new
grant exceeding 1% of the Shares in issue as
at the date of such new grant.

Any grant of options to a director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of
the Company or its subsidiaries or any
of their respective associates under the
2021 Scheme must be subject to the prior
approval of the independent non-executive
Directors (excluding any independent
nonexecutive Director who is a grantee of
the relevant options).

Where any grant of options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent nonexecutive
director of the Company or any of their
respective associates would result in
the Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options already granted and
to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person
in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such grant:

(1) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of
the Shares in issue, and

(2) having an aggregate value, based
on the closing price of the Shares at
the date of each grant, in excess of
HK$5,000,000.
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then such further grant must be subject to
the approval by Shareholders at a general
meeting taken on a poll.

(vi) The period within which the options must be
exercised will be specified by the Company at
the time of grant, but shall expire no later than 10
years from the relevant date of grant.

(vii) At the time of grant of the options, the Company
may specify any minimum period(s) for which an
option must be held before it can be exercised.
The 2021 Scheme does not contain any such
minimum period.

(viii) At the time of the grant of the options, the
Company may specify any performance target(s)
which must be achieved before the options can
be exercised. The 2021 Scheme does not contain
any performance targets.

(ix) A non-refundable remittance of HK$10 by way
of consideration for the grant of an option is
refunded to be paid by each grantee upon
acceptance of the opinion.

(x) Subject to adjustments made in a situation
contemplated under the 2021 Scheme, the
subscription price in respect of any option shall
be at the discretion of the Board, provided that it
shall not be less than the highest of:

(@) the closing price of a share as shown in the
daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant (which must be a
business day) in respect of such option;

(b) the average of the closing prices of the
shares as shown in the daily quotations
sheet of the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the
relevant date of grant in respect of such
option; and

(c) the nominal value of a share.
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(xi) Since the adoption date of the 2021 Scheme and
up to the termination date of the 2021 Scheme,
no share options had been granted, exercised,
vested, outstanding, lapsed or cancelled under
the 2021 Scheme. As at the termination date
of the 2021 Scheme, no share options was
outstanding under the 2021 Scheme.

(xii) The 2021 Scheme was terminated on 30 August
2023 and no further share options has been
granted under the 2021 Scheme since the
aforesaid termination date.

The New Scheme

A new share option scheme of the Company was
approved by the Shareholders of the Company and
adopted on 30 August 2023 (the “New Scheme”) and
is valid for 10 years. No option has been granted,
exercised, vested, cancelled or lapsed under the New
Scheme during the Year. No options has been granted
since the adoption of the New Scheme, accordingly,
there was no outstanding options as at 31 March
2025. Unless otherwise specified, capitalised terms
used in this section shall have the same meanings as
those defined in the circular of the Company dated 31
July 2023 (the “Circular”). The key terms of the New
Scheme are summarized as below:

(i) The New Scheme is to motivate the Eligible
Participants to optimise their performance and
efficiency for the benefit of the Group; and
attract and retain or otherwise maintain ongoing
business relationship with the Eligible Participants
whose contributions are, will or expected to be
beneficial to the Group.
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(iii)

(iv)

The Board may at its discretion grant Options to
any (a) Employee Participant; (b) Related Entity
Participant; and (c) Service Provider.

Any grant of Options to any Director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the
Company or any their respective associates must
be approved by all of the independent non-
executive Directors excluding, for all purposes,
any independent non-executive Director who is a
proposed Grantee.

Where any grant of Options to an independent
non-executive Director or a substantial
Shareholder of the Company, or any of their
respective associates, would result in the total
number of the Shares issued and to be issued
in respect of all options (including the Options)
an awards granted to such person under the
New Scheme and all other share schemes in any
12-month period up to and including the date of
such grant representing in aggregate over 0.1%
of the Shares in issue (excluding treasury shares),
such grant of Options must be approved by the
Shareholders in general meeting in the manner
set out in Rule 17.04(4) of the Listing Rules. The
Grantee, his associates and all core connected
persons of the Company must abstain from
voting in favour at such general meeting. The
Company must send a circular to its shareholders
containing the information required under the
Listing Rules.

The maximum number of Shares which may be
issued in respect of all options and awards to be
granted under the New Scheme and any other
share schemes shall not, in aggregate, exceed
10% of the Shares in issue as at the Adoption
Date (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”), i.e.
202,145,920 Shares, representing 10% of the total
issued shares of the Company (excluding treasury
shares) as at the date of this annual report.
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(vi)

(vii)

The maximum number of Shares which may be
issued in respect of all options and awards to be
granted under the New Scheme and any other
share schemes to Service Providers must not, in
aggregate exceed 1% of the number of Shares
in issue as at the Adoption Date (the “Service
Provider Sub-limit”), i.e. 20,214,592 Shares,
representing 1% of the total issued shares of the
Company (excluding treasury shares) as at the
date of this annual report.

The Board may seek separate Shareholders’
approval in general meeting to grant Options
beyond the Scheme Mandate Limit provided that
the Options in excess of the Scheme Mandate
Limit are granted only to the Eligible Participants
specified by the Company before such approval
is sought and the Company must issue a circular
to the Shareholders containing such relevant
information from time to time required by the
Listing Rules in relation to any such proposed
grant to such Eligible Participants.

(viii) The Company may seek approval by the

Shareholders in general meeting for refreshing
the Scheme Mandate Limit and the Service
Provider Sub-limit after three (3) years from the
date of the first Shareholders’ approval for such
limits or for the last refreshment (as the case may
be). Any refreshment within any three year period
must be approved by the Shareholders, with any
controlling shareholders and their associates (or
if there is no controlling shareholder, Directors
(excluding independent non-executive Directors)
and the chief executive of the Company and their
respective associates) abstaining from voting in
favour of the relevant resolution at the general
meeting. The total number of Shares which may
be issued in respect of all options and awards
to be granted under all of the share scheme(s)
under the scheme mandate as refreshed must
not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue (excluding
treasury shares) as at the date of approval of the
refreshed scheme mandate.
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(ix)

(xi)

(xii)

The maximum number of Shares issued or to
be issued in respect of all options and awards
granted to a Grantee at any one time or in
aggregate under the New Scheme and all other
share schemes (excluding any options and
awards lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the respective share schemes) in any 12-
month period up to and including the date of
such relevant grant should not exceed 1% of
the issued share capital (excluding treasury
shares) of the Company (the “Individual Limit”).
Where any grant of Options to a Grantee may
result in exceeding the Individual Limit, the
Company shall not grant such Options unless
it is separately approved by the Shareholders
in general meeting, with such Grantee and his
close associates (or associates if the Grantee is a
connected person) abstaining from voting.

The period within which the Options must be
exercised will be specified by the Company at
the time of grant, but shall expire no later than 10
years from the relevant date of grant.

At the time of grant of the Options, the Company
may specify any minimum period(s) for which an
Option must be held before it can be exercised.
The New Scheme does not contain any such
minimum period.

At the time of the grant of the Options, the
Company may specify any performance target(s)
which must be achieved before the Options can
be exercised. The New Scheme does not contain
any performance targets.

(xiii) A non-refundable remittance of HK$1 by way

of consideration for the grant of an Option is
refunded to be paid by each Grantee upon
acceptance of the Option.
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(xiv) Subject to adjustments made in a situation
contemplated under the New Scheme, the
subscription price in respect of any Option shall
be at the discretion of the Board, provided that it
shall not be less than the highest of:

(@) the closing price of a share as shown in the
daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant (which must be a
business day) in respect of such option;

(b) the average of the closing prices of the
shares as shown in the daily quotations
sheet of the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the
relevant date of grant in respect of such
option; and

(c) the nominal value of a share.

(xv) The New Scheme shall remain in force for a
period of 10 years commencing on the date of
the adoption of the New Scheme by reduction
of the Company period on 30 August 2023.
Accordingly, the remaining life of the New
Scheme is approximately 8 years.

(xvi) The vesting period granted under the New
Scheme shall be no less than 12 months.

For more details, please refer to Appendix Il to the
Circular.
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SHARE AWARD PLAN

The share award plan (the “Share Award Plan”) was
approved by the shareholders of the Company and adopted
on 30 August 2023, which was subsequently amended on
25 June 2025. The Share Award Plan is valid for 10 years.
Accordingly, the remaining life of the Share Award Plan is
approximately 8 years. Following the introduction of the
treasury share regime under the Listing Rules, to benefit
from such treasury share regime by allowing flexibility in
managing the capital structure through share buy-back and
resale of treasury shares of the Company and to reduce
administrative costs, on 25 June 2025, the Board passed a
resolution to amend the terms of the Share Award Plan to
the effect that the Company may use treasury shares for
the purpose of the Share Award Plan, where appropriate,
in particular, the Company may, in addition to issue new
Shares, transfer treasury shares, if any, to fund any awards
granted under the Share Award Plan. 5,720,000 share
awards had been granted under the Share Award Plan
during the Year. The Awarded Shares to be vested to the
relevant grantees will be funded by the existing Shares out
of the trust established for the purpose of the Share Award
Plan. Unless otherwise specified, capitalised terms used in
this section shall have the same meanings as those defined
in the Circular. The key terms of the Share Award Plan have
been summarized as below:
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(iii)

(iv)

The purpose and objective of the Share Award Plan is:
(@) to recognise and reward the contribution of certain
Eligible Participants to the growth and development of
the Group and to provide incentives in order to retain
them for continual operation and development of the
Group; and (b) to attract suitable personnel for further
development of the Group.

The Board may at its discretion grant an Award to any
(i) Employee Participant; (ii) Related Entity Participant;
and (iii) Service Provider.

The maximum number of Shares which may be
issued in respect of all options and awards to be
granted under the Share Award Plan and any other
share schemes shall not, in aggregate, exceed 10%
of the Shares in issue as at the Adoption Date, i.e.
202,145,920 Shares, representing 10% of the total
issued shares of the Company (excluding treasury
shares) as at the date of this annual report.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued
in respect of all options and awards to be granted
under the Share Award Plan and any other share
schemes to Service Providers must not, in aggregate
exceed 1% of the number of Shares in issue as at the
Adoption Date, i.e. 20,214,592 Shares, representing
1% of the total issued shares of the Company
(excluding treasury shares) as at the date of this annual
report.

The maximum number of Shares issued or to be issued
in respect of all options and awards granted to a
Selected Participant at any one time or in aggregate
under the Share Award Plan and all other share
schemes (excluding any options and awards lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the respective share
schemes) in any 12-month period up to and including
the date of such relevant grant should not exceed 1%
of the issued share capital of the Company (excluding
treasury shares). Where any Award to a Selected
Participant may result in exceeding the Individual
Limit, the Company shall not grant such Awards
unless it is separately approved by the Shareholders
in general meeting, with such Selected Participant
and his close associates (or associates if the Selected
Participant is a connected person) abstaining from
voting.
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(vi)

(vii)

Where any Award to a Director (other than an
independent non-executive Director) or chief
executive of the Company, or any of his associates
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued in
respect of all awards granted to such person under
the Share Award Plan and all other share award plans
(excluding any awards lapsed in accordance with the
terms of the respective share award plans) in any 12-
month period up to and including the date of such
relevant grant, representing in aggregate over 0.1% of
the issued share capital of the Company (excluding
treasury shares), such further Award must be approved
by the Shareholders in general meeting, with such
Selected Participant, his associates and all core
connected persons of the Company abstaining from
voting in favour at such general meeting.

Where any Award to an independent non-executive
Director or substantial shareholder of the Company, or
any of his associates would result in the Shares issued
and to be issued in respect of all options and awards
granted to such person under the Share Award Plan
and all other share schemes (excluding any options
or awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
respective share schemes) in the 12-month period up
to and including the date of such grant, representing
in aggregate over 0.1% of the issued share capital of
the Company (excluding treasury shares), such Award
must be approved by the Shareholders in general
meeting, with such Selected Participant, his associates
and all core connected persons of the Company
abstaining from voting in favour at such general
meeting.

(viii) The vesting period of Award granted under Share

Award Plan shall be not less than 12 months. There
is no amount payable on acceptance of the Award
and no purchase price is payable by the Eligible
Participants upon vesting of the Awards.

For more details, please refer to Appendix IV to the

Circular.
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(ix) Details of the movements of the Awarded Shares (ix) RIERMDEBR TN AFE 2 &
under the Share Award Plan during the Year are as B ip B EF BT
follows:

Number  Number

Number ~ Number ~ Number of of

of of of Awarded  unvested

Closing ~ unvested ~ Awarded ~ Awarded  Shares  Awarded
price  Awarded  Shares  Shares  lapsed/  Shares

Purchase before  Sharesas  granted  vested cancelled as at

Date price  Fairvalue  Vesting date at1April  during  during  during 31 March

Grantees of grant per Share perShare  Period o grant 2024 theYear  the Year the Year 2025
k- g -2

CRIRE RAEE RAERE RMEREE ey
mA-B% ERF BHE A¥/ME =1-8

SRERG SRRG RiEE BEZE XBRG RBRO RARN ABEER
ARA RERH REER OVE BRE  B% RGHE #E L $E RH#E

(000)  (000) ~ (000)  (000)  (000)
() () () () ()

(i) Directors/Chief
Executives

EZRRATHAR

Mr. Zhao Kai 01/08/2024 — 077 01/08/2025 0.79 — 300 - — 300

Ms. Chan Ming Mui,
Silvia 01/08/2024 = 077 01/08/2025 0.79 — 300 = = 300
G N

Mr. Chan Raymond ~ 01/08/2024 — 077 01/082025 079 — 300 — —~ 300
REXLE

Mr. Ho Wai Hon,
Brian* 01/08/2024 — 0.77 01/08/2025 0.79 — 200 — — 200
g AL

(i) Other Eligible

Participants
AHRER2EE

Employees 01/08/2024 — 077 01/08/2025 0.79 - 4,620 —
3

4,620

*  was appointed on 24 June 2025 2 R-B-_RAFEFRNA-+MBEEEE
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The vesting of the awarded Shares above is subject to the
achievement of certain vesting conditions as set out in the
individual grant letters of the grantees. The Group has a
standardized performance appraisal system in place for its
employees to comprehensively evaluate their performance,
satisfaction of certain key performance indicators and
contribution to the Group. The Company will determine
whether the grantees meet the individual performance
target based on their performance appraisal results for
the relevant year/period. In case of partial achievement
and satisfaction of the performance targets, the applicable
awarded Shares may be vested in proportion to the
performance targets actually achieved for the relevant year/
period. For details of the fair value of awards at the date
of grant and the accounting standard and policy adopted,
please refer to Note 2(s) to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

According to the Scheme Mandate Limit, the maximum
total number of new Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options and awards to be granted under
the Share Award Plan together with the New Scheme
(collectively the “Share Schemes”), and other share
schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the
Adoption Date. Accordingly, the number of Options and/
or Awards available for grant under the Scheme Mandate
Limit of the Share Schemes at the beginning and the end
of the Year were 202,145,920 and 196,425,920 Shares in
aggregate, respectively.

In addition, the Service Provider Sublimit in respect of the
total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options and awards to be granted under the Share
Schemes, and other share schemes of the Company must
not in aggregate exceed 1% of the total number of Shares
in issue as at the aforesaid adoption date. Accordingly, the
number of Options and/or Awards available for grant under
the Service Provider Sublimit at the beginning and the
end of the Year were 20,214,592 and 20,214,592 Shares in
aggregate, respectively.

As the Awarded Shares to be vested to the relevant
grantees will be funded by the existing Shares out of
the trust established for the purpose of the Share Award
Plan, the number of Shares that may be issued in respect
of options and awards granted under all schemes of the
Company during the Year divided by the weighted average
number of Shares in issue (i.e. 2,016,325,784) is nil.

it 52 B AR {0 B9 5 B 7B 1 A R A E B
BYRMENETHRBERAERRT
EE - ARERBEE(CEREZE
- HETHRAMEETIMNTIERA -
XEBEREIEEHREEREEH
R B ° AR IR AR AR RS
BVAR AT b A RAET R B B A A B
AR - MRBOBRL mEEXEBR
AT REEFE HHERERN
XERBENLIRTERNERRND
FERBEFANRREEBELRMEA
MEtERRBRFRE  FLHAE
= Bf 75 R BT FE209) ©

REMBE - REBEAAFROEE LR
AT EITRIFT AR D Gt ElE R IR 1) 12 B
FEAEIRGEEDEEEaTEH
BEBITRMDBERT10% - Btk - RFE
NFEE KR EIR - RIBET SRR A 7
REMBERER SBHEBEHS
Al /202,145,920 1% }196,425,920f%

gEAN - IRIBEA A A AR &2 M H A AR D
EIR TR EERE R R T17T
FETHNFTRODBHEGTRBIEEE
DIEREE TEEAREMBAEE T
R BREN1% - Bt RAFERNRA
ERERE - BRIBREIEHE DIBRSE
AHETFHERER SREHEEH
3 Bl 20,214,592 1% £2.20,214,592 % °

MR EEBREE AR ANERKRD -
bR ARMNER G S MR ZAETF
MIRAERNDRERES - NFER © BA
NEEFRDIN0E)  BIEARQT
BB H MR E R BB A 1T
MR DB EREEEITIRMG A INEFS
2 (802,016,325,7840) A Z -

106 KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED E R B R E R 2 7



PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws and there was no restriction against
such rights under the laws of Bermuda.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of
the shares in the Company.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on
pages 285 to 286 of this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company’s Bye-laws provides that the Directors shall
be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against
any actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
as a result of any act or failure to act in carrying out their
functions.

The Company has arranged directors” and officers’ liability
insurance cover in respect of legal action against the
Directors during the Year.

ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

The Group did not have any material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures during
the year ended 31 March 2025.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD BY THE GROUP
As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not hold any
significant investment.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2025, a banking facility of the Group is
secured by the property, plant and equipment with an
aggregate carrying amount of HK$17,037,000 (as at 31
March 2024: HK$15,630,000).

As at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, the Company
and the Group’s subsidiaries provide cross guarantees for
certain banking facilities and borrowings. The maximum
liability of the Company at the end of the reporting
period under the guarantees is the amount of the facilities
drawn down by the subsidiaries that are covered by
the guarantees, being HK$536,159,000 (as at 31 March
2024: $529,692,000). We do not consider it is probable
that a claim will be made against the Company under
the guarantee arrangement to financial institutions in
connection with the banking facilities granted to its
subsidiaries.

SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are
set out in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 March
2025 are set out in Notes 20 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Directors who held office as at the date of this annual
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia

Mr. Zhao Kai

Mr. Chan Raymond

Mr. Ho Wai Hon, Brian

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing

Dr. Lau Kin Wah

Mr. Lam Yin Shing, Donald
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Mr. Fong Hoi Shing, Dr. Lau Kin Wah and Mr. Lam Yin
Shing, Donald entered into an appointment letter with
the Company for a term of one year with effect from 1
July 2024 subject to extension by mutual agreement and
retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company as and when required under the
bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”).

Furthermore, pursuant to Bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws,
any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy on the Board shall hold office only until the next
following annual general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election at that meeting. Mr. Ho
Wai Hon, Brian was appointed as an executive Director
by the Board with effect from 24 June 2025 to fill a casual
vacancy on the Board. In accordance with Bye-law 86(2)
of the Bye-laws, Mr. Ho Wai Hon, Brian shall retire from
office at the AGM and being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-election.

In accordance with Bye-laws 87 of the Company’s Bye-laws
and paragraph B.2.2 of the Corporate Governance Code as
set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. Ms. Chan Ming
Mui, Silvia, Mr. Chan Raymond and Mr. Fong Hoi Shing
will retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. All such Directors, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS OF
APPOINTMENT

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract or letter
of appointment, as applicable, with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

During the Year, no transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance to which any of the Group companies was
a party and in which a Director was materially interested,
either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year
or at any time.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, for the
year ended 31 March 2025, there were no such rights
to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of Shares
or debentures of the Company granted to any Directors
or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of
age, nor were any such rights exercised by them. There
was no arrangement to which the Company and any of
its subsidiaries is a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors, or their respective spouse or children
under 18 years of age, to acquire such rights in any other
corporation.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the Year, the Group did not enter into any
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction
that are not exempted from annual reporting requirement
under the Listing Rules. The related party transactions set
out in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements are
not the connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

EERRG  ZHFEREHNZRH
RERRN  ARBHEMBRARNRAKEF
EAEAERBERITIRARRZE
ﬁﬁK AEFERAMERAEERK
MEzBEBRS  THHAEH -

ESREROIESZER
BRAFHRBEN BE_T_RF=A

=T-HIEFE YEREFHREFLZ
BT \BEATFEETARBEAR

IS E 2N - MEFINETE
EAZEREN: BRRREMBRRIR

BERTAZHBREEFTARE AR
TN\ AT FZ A AR EAEA
BZEAZEEN -

BEXZRBFERERS

REEZA  NEB W MET AR LR
AT FERERTENTERR 2B E
RPXFBFEBERS - NG BHE
MeE32fit cBEAECRSERNBR
BERXSHIN ETMBRUNMAENFERE
R e

110 KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ERER 2 7



DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS IN
SHARES

As at 31 March 2025

The interests and short positions of the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company in the shares and the
underlying shares of the Company and any associated
corporations (as defined in Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) (a) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO; or (b) otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO); or (c) as otherwise notified to the Company and
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

(A) Interests in the Company
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Number of ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

BREGMBRZEERHUE

Personal
interests

BARS

Family
interests Other interests

XEER

% of issued
share capital

RREAML

Corporate/
Total interests

atEE

EEEET
s

Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai miEE L s 278,712,000
(Note 1)

(Bt &)

6,700,000
(I\{Qte 3)
(M=)

11,382,000
(the 4)
(P )

Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia /&% £/

Mr. Zhao Kai iz e

Mr. Chan Raymond BRXEE 4,752,000
(Ngte 5)
(WR)
Mr. Ho Wai Hon, Brian 8T %&4 3,298,000
(Note 6)

GiERY

110,350,000
(Ngte 1)
(M &E—)

1,077,608,000
(N\qte 2)
(Bz=)

1,466,670,000 72.57

6,700,000 0.33

11,382,000 0.56

4,752,000 0.24

3,298,000 0.16
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112

Number of ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

BREEATZEERHA
Personal Family Corporate/ % of issued
interests interests  Other interests  Total interests  share capital
B AR FREL .1 § AiEE  BRAW
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing nEREE 42,000 — — 42,000 0.00
(Note 7)
(&)
Ms. Ho Po Chu KL 110,350,000 538,712,000 817,608,000 1,466,670,000 72.57
(Note 8) (Note 8) (Note 2)
GEY GEY) (FtzE=)
Notes: Bt 5 -

1.

Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai’s personal interest consisted of
278,712,000 Shares. He is deemed to be interested in
110,350,000 Shares held by his spouse, Ms. Ho Po Chu,
as beneficial owner.

The 1,077,608,000 Shares comprised (i) 487,608,000
Shares held by New Sense Enterprises Limited (“New
Sense”); and (ii) 330,000,000 Shares held by Castfast
Properties Development Co., Limited (“Castfast
Properties”), 87% of the issued share capital of which
is beneficially owned by Honford Investments Limited
(“Honford Investments”), where New Sense and Honford
Investments are each wholly-owned by TMF (B.V.l.) Ltd.
(“TMF”) as trustee for a discretionary trust, which is a
family trust with Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai as settlor (“The Ho
Family Trust”), and (iii) 260,000,000 Shares held by
The Wedding City Co., Limited (“The Wedding City”),
90% and 10% of the issued share capital of which is
beneficially owned by Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai and Ms. Ho
Po Chu, respectively. Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai is deemed to
be interested in the 817,608,000 Shares in (i) and (ii)
as founder of The Ho Family Trust and in 260,000,000
Shares in (iii) through The Wedding City. Ms. Ho Po Chu
is the beneficiary of The Ho Family Trust and is thus
deemed to be interested in the 817,608,000 Shares held
under The Ho Family Trust. Therefore, the interests of
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai and Ms. Ho Po Chu in the 817,608,000
Shares duplicate with each other.
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3. Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia beneficially owns 6,400,000
Shares, and is interested in 300,000 awarded shares
granted to her under the Share Award Plan, which remain
unvested as at the date of this annual report.

4. Mr. Zhao Kai beneficially owns 11,082,000 Shares, and
is interested in 300,000 awarded shares granted to him
under the Share Award Plan, which remain unvested as at
the date of this annual report.

5. Mr. Chan Raymond beneficially owns 4,452,000 Shares,
and is interested in 300,000 awarded shares granted to
her under the Share Award Plan, which remain unvested
as at the date of this annual report.

6. Mr. Ho Wai Hon, Brian was appointed as executive
Director on 24 June 2025 and beneficially owns
3,098,000 Shares and is interested in 200,000 awarded
shares granted to him under the Share Award Plan, which
remain unvested as at the date of this annual report.

7. The personal interests of Mr. Fong Hoi Shing comprise
42,000 Shares.

8.  The personal interests of Ms. Ho Po Chu comprise
110,350,000 Shares. Ms. Ho Po Chu is also deemed
to be interested in (a) 278,712,000 Shares held and
260,000,000 Shares deemed to be held by her spouse,
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai, and (b) 817,608,000 Shares referred to
in Note 2 above.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company or their respective associates
had any interests and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) (a) as recorded in the register maintained by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or (b)
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (c)
pursuant to the Model Code as at 31 March 2025.
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Report of the Directors

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at 31 March 2025, none of Directors were interested
in any business apart from the Company’s business which
competed or was likely to complete, either directly or
indirectly with the businesses of the Company and its
subsidiaries to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

The power to make material business decisions for the
Group is vested in the Board. Whenever the Board
considers that there may be a conflict of interest between
the Group and any Director, such Director will be required
to abstain from voting. Therefore, the Board is capable of
carrying on the Group’s business independently of, and at
arm’s length, from the business of Directors.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2025

The interests or short positions of the persons (other than a
Director or Chief Executive of the Company) in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or be directly or
indirectly interested in 5% or more of the nominal value
of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances of general meetings, or as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO are as follows:

EENBBERCES
R-_ZE-_RAF=ZA=+—8 HEE=Z
K% ET AR BISI0E TR B ek
BEARRR R EWB AR ER BT K
AREBABRFZEMER (KRR ER
BRON PR R -

AEEZEABEREDNZRTESE

Ewm EEFQRARAELREE
%Eﬁi$‘$lﬁﬂ @TﬁHT ' %%%%%Hﬁ
ERERZE Bt EFSFEEB LN
&ﬂ?ﬁéi%%i‘“ﬁﬁg %ﬁ;‘%lZ%
& o
FERRE

R-ZB-HE=A=+—H

BEEFRBEKOEXVIEFE2RES
DHWEE  ATALTFBEESEEAA
AZEEITBAB)REARA RGN &I
EBROFHERIAE  HEEHIHE
BEHREAETMERBRAmMES%KIA LR
Bm - WERERRERENMAERBLT
BESREFRBEAR R BER(EFESL)D
FBFEFEZELMZERE KR

Number of ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
BREBEIEBLZEEREYE

Corporate/Other Shareholding
Name of Shareholder Personal interests interests percentage
EEERY
B RE 18 A 5 HittfE s KREDL
New Sense 487,608,000 — 24.12%
(Note 1M 5% —
Castfast Properties 3 #% /5 b 2 330,000,000 — 16.33%
(Note 2fff 5 =)
The Wedding City %& £ 3, 260,000,000 - 12.86%
(Note 3/ &£ =)
Honford Investments — 330,000,000 16.33%
(Note 2Mf 7 =
TMF = 817,608,000 40.45%

(Note 4 zF PT)
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Notes:

1. The entire issued share capital of New Sense was owned by
TMF as trustee for The Ho Family Trust.

2. 87% of the issued share capital of Castfast Properties is
beneficially owned by Honford Investments. The entire issued
share capital of Honford Investments was owned by TMF as
trustee for a discretionary trust, The Ho Family Trust. The
interests of Honford Investments duplicate with those of the
Castfast Properties.

3. 260,000,000 Shares were beneficially held by The Wedding
City. 90% and 10% of the issued share capital of which is
beneficially owned by Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai and Ms. Ho Po Chu,
respectively. The interests of The Wedding City therefore
duplicate with those of Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai referred to in Note
2 to the section “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in
Shares — (A) Interests in the Company” above.

4. TMF is deemed to be interested in these Shares held by New
Sense, Castfast Properties and Honford Investments by virtue of
acting as the trustee for The Ho Family Trust.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, no
person, other than the Directors and chief executives of
the Company, whose interests are set out in the section
“Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in Shares”
above, had an interest or short position in the Shares and
underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or be directly or indirectly
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class
of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances
of general meetings, or that was required to be recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the
SFO.
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Report of the Directors

UPDATES ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION UNDER RULE
13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Change of information of the Directors, which is required
to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing

Rules are set out below:

Name of Director

EEHR

BB EHREI351BOIGEEEZES
EREH

BIE LR AIZE13.51B(1)f
EEEREHFHIWT

RATREZ

Detail of Change
SEFRE

Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai
o] 2 928 5 A

Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia
R kMR

Mr. Zhao Kai
ol A

Mr. Chan Raymond
RE XS4

annual salary increased from HK$4,838,400 to HK$4,862,400
(excluding discretionary bonus) with effect from 1 July 2024, which is
determined by the Board with reference to his experience, performance
and duties as well as the prevailing market conditions.

F #7H4,838,400/8 7T IE NN 54,862, 4008 T (TRIEMELL) =T
THFEER—BAER EFMBEEFEL2ZHEIERE KB BE
NERMBBEAMETE °

annual salary increased from HK$980,496 to HK$1,016,496 (excluding
discretionary bonus) with effect from 1 July 2024, which is determined
by the Board with reference to her experience, performance and duties
as well as the prevailing market conditions. She has been appointed as
a member of the nomination committee of the Company with effect
from 6 September 2024.
F % 1980,496/8 TL I 21,016,496 8 T(TBEWMEILALA) B -F
“HEELA-BAR EFMHEFS2ZEIMERR £ BE
BEAITSBBEAMETE -RZZT_MWFAARRE  REEREARAR

annual salary increased from HK$1,312,308 to HK$1,345,296
(excluding discretionary bonus) with effect from 1 July 2024, which is
determined by the Board with reference to his experience, performance
and duties as well as the prevailing market conditions.

FHH1,312,308/8TCIEINZET,345 2968 L (T RENEREL) B=F
“HELA-RAN EFMHEFE2EETERR £ BE

ERITMSEAMEE -

annual salary increased from HK$1,122,000 to HK$1,152,000
(excluding discretionary bonus) with effect from 1 July 2024, which is
determined by the Board with reference to his experience, performance
and duties as well as the prevailing market conditions.

F % 01,122,0008 7N ET1,152,0008 T (T RIEWERL) BT
THFEER—BAER EFMBEEFE2ZHEIERE L% BE
RERIMBEAMETE °

116 KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ERER 2 7



Name of Director

EEas

Report of the Directors

Detail of Change
BEFR

Mr. Fong Hoi Shing
TREAE

Dr. Lau Kin Wah
Qg EFE L+

Mr. Yam Chung Shing
TEHLE

Mr. Lam Yin Shing, Donald
MAE BT £

Mr. Ho Wai Hon, Brian
A& T k4

annual salary increased from HK$150,000 to HK$170,000 (excluding
discretionary bonus) with effect from 1 July 2024, which is determined
by the Board with reference to his experience, performance and duties
as well as the prevailing market conditions. He has been appointed as
a member of the remuneration committee of the Company with effect
from 6 September 2024.

% H1150,00078 TLIE AN E170,0008 T (T EEMEREL) BTN
FEA-BER EFMEESS2LEETHERR £ BENME
RIMGERAMEE RZZE-_MFNALARNE  BEZE/ARAHFMEZ

= A B =
E@E -

annual salary increased from HK$150,000 to HK$170,000 (excluding
discretionary bonus) with effect from 1 July 2024, which is determined
by the Board with reference to his experience, performance and
duties as well as the prevailing market conditions. He has been re-
designated from a member to the chairman of each of the remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Company with effect from
6 September 2024.

FHH150,00078 TLIEINE170,0008 T (T REBMERL)  B-F_H
FEA-BER EFMEESS2EETHERR £ BENME
RIMSBEAMEE R-ZT-_MWFNLARNE  RAXRAFMEES
KENEZZEEXNERHTRER -

He has resigned as an independent non-executive Director, the member
of the audit committee, the chairman of the remuneration committee
and the chairman of the nomination committee of the Board with effect
from 6 September 2024 due to his other business commitments.
RAHMBAAZSHEZE  EFTESSBIFENTES  EXELEE
KE  FMZEEFRERREZZEGEIFERE BT -_MOFAAN
B &R -

He has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director and
a member of the audit committee of the Company with effect from 1
July 2024.
REZERARRRZBIUFNTESLRERZBEENE -1
FtA—BRERER-

He has been appointed as an executive Director and the head of
Finance and Accounting Department with effect from 24 June 2025.
REZETRATESRYENEE BT AF A AA-THAEL
2 o

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 £ 117



Report of the Directors

DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO RULE 13.21 OF THE
LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company did
not have any other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.21
of the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 March 2025.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year ended
31 March 2025 attributable to the Group’s major suppliers
and customers are as follows:

Purchases
The largest supplier 49%
Five largest suppliers combined 63%
Sales
The largest customer 37%
Five largest customers combined 90%

None of the Directors, their close associates, or any
shareholders (which, to the knowledge of the Directors,
owned more than 5% of the Company’s share capital
(excluding treasury shares)) had a beneficial interest in the
Group’s major suppliers or customers noted above.

DIVIDEND AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
Assuming that the final dividend is approved by the
shareholders of the Company at the AGM, for the purposes
of ascertaining the entitlement to the final dividend, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 11 September 2025 to Friday, 12 September
2025 (both dates inclusive) during which period no
transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for
the final dividend, all properly completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 10
September 2025. It is expected that the final dividend
will be payable and issued to those entitled on or around
Tuesday, 30 September 2025.

WEEHREB21KEH 2B E
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A=+t—Hit  ARB L ERE LTHR
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hAREPFH1h 90%
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PRAREEETBEHEH TP 2 EE
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND CLOSURE OF
REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purposes of ascertaining the entitlement to attend
and vote at the AGM to be held on 5 September 2025, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 1 September 2025 to Friday, 5 September 2025
(both dates inclusive) during which period no transfer of
shares will be registered. In order to qualify to attend and
vote at the AGM, all properly completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 29 August 2025.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on public
information available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, the Company maintained
sufficient public float, being 25% of the issued share
capital of the Company as required under the Listing Rules.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as set out in the section of “Share Schemes” in this
annual report, no equity-linked agreements were entered
into by the Group, or existed during the year ended 31
March 2025.
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Report of the Directors

AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by Messrs.
KPMG who shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment.

A resolution for their re-appointment as auditors of the
Company will be proposed at the AGM.

The Company has not changed its auditors in the past three
years.

On behalf of the Board

Ho Cheuk Fai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 June 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (f&5

Independent Auditor’s Report To the shareholders of
Karrie International Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Karrie International Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and
its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 130 to 286,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2025, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
cash flow statement for the year then ended and notes,
comprising material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2025 and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with
the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(“the Code”) together with any ethical requirements that
are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in Bermuda, and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrBHEHIAIN  LABTIIR)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

Timing of revenue recognition

Refer to note 24 to the consolidated financial statements

and the accounting policy note 2(v).

The Key Audit Matter
BREITER

REETEE

FARBFASZTHIOIBREBEEFZIEXZHE -
RRBARGEEMBHRR 2B RS
EBZER UWFEHILEBEFE
%%%Aﬁﬁﬁ%&ﬁﬂ?%%Lﬂ

BB EETCYHELEHREHER
ZER -

WARRE™E

R A RE N 24 R BT it 20v) .2
B IR o

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEETNANEEZEE

The principal activities of the Group are the
manufacture and sales of metal and plastic
products and electronic products.
EEETI2NFRNERHEDSRERBER - A
NESFEM-

The revenue is recognised when the goods are
delivered to the customer’s designated location
which is considered to be the point in time when
the Group transfers the control over goods to the
customers.

WAEERZXETPHEEZWE Bl E5EK
EmZFIEEBRREEPH®ER -

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of
inventories included the following:

FERBWAER KR ZEARRFBREUT:

e  obtaining an understanding of and assessing
the design,
effectiveness of the Group’s key internal
controls in relation to revenue recognition;

o THENFHA %%E%%WAﬁWZ@ﬁW
HBIEH 2 REF B REFRZAMIME:

implementation and operating

e inspecting key customer contracts to
identify terms and conditions relating to
goods acceptance and assessing the Group's
revenue recognition policies with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

. Aﬁ@ﬁ@ﬁé%%%ﬂ\EW%Wﬁ@
IR RGN A RSB RRITEERIZ
Kt EEEZWARBEEK:
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Independent Auditor’s Report

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5HEHABIN - LABITIIR)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)
Timing of revenue recognition (continued)

The Key Audit Matter
BREITER

RREFSHE)
W A BB B (42

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEZETNNEBEZSEE

The Group’s sales contracts with customers,
which principally comprise of large-sized
international technology corporations, have a
variety of terms and conditions. Such terms may
affect the timing of the recognition of sales to
those customers. The Group evaluates the terms
of each sales contract in order to determine the
appropriate timing of revenue recognition.

BEEEEXP(TEERALBBEMERAR)FIL
ZIHERHNERB—RIRGER RGN - %F
GFRAE e ERAUELEPETHEZR

He BEEBERESHEAONARBEBZEH
FEREECTWARRBZBERM -

We identified the timing of revenue recognition
as a key audit matter because each sales contract
may have different terms and conditions which
increases the risk of error in the recognition
of revenue and because it is one of the key
performance indicators of the Group and could
be subject to manipulation to meet targets or
expectations.
EEERISBBREFEERIERB ZIWAMRER
ZEEIRERESFFER ASHEAWIATD
[R] 6k % K fR 4 - [ T T BE 38 0 U A FE 38 88 R 2
%o AR AR BESEHET-RBERESA
BR AREXIASBANEKBEREIYE -

e comparing, on a sample basis, specific
revenue transactions recorded before and
after the financial year end date with goods
delivery documents and underlying sales
invoices to determine whether the revenue
had been recognised in the appropriate
financial period; and

s MBELBEFRANERZARZABRAR
ZEMBAHERERBMINXE - MEE

HEARARSEBE ZFHATUER K
e inspecting underlying documentation

for manual journal entries relating to
revenue raised during the year which were
considered to specific risk-based criteria.

s BRENGKTRARFEARWABRZT
B AS D8R BB -
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Independent Auditor’s Report

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrBHEHIAIN - LABTIIR)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)
Valuation of inventories

Refer to note 14 to the consolidated financial statements

and the accounting policy note 2(1)(i).

The Key Audit Matter
HRETER

B 42 B 3 0 (4)
7R

2 B4 2 B 75 2 25 414 B 420000
A -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEZETNMNEEZEE

The carrying value for inventories as at 31 March
2025 was HK$501 million, which represented
19.8% of the Group’s total assets.
R-ZZ_RF=A=+—RH ' EBE&EEFE%R@
{8 /501,000,0007T ' HERN BEHEEEERE
19.8% °

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. The Group maintains its
inventory levels based on customer orders and
forecast demand.
FERAAEAZERFEHZBEEMR
B BERERBEEPAIENBHFILEREE
BKF -

A significant proportion of the Group's products
are manufactured to meet specific customer
requirements. There is a risk that inventories may
be stated at more than their net realisable value
if a customer experiences financial difficulty or
there is a demand issue with a customer's product
that includes a component manufactured by the
Group.

EEBENATSEMERAMEABERZEX
Ml - MREFEBUBRE  AEPZEM
(s EEEENATFESREE ]
SR FER ARG E R E R FEIIRZE

Gy o
AR

124

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of
inventories included the following:

BEENFEBRECETREFERUATSEE:

e obtaining an understanding of and
assessing the design and implementation
of the Group’s key internal controls over
the process for assessing provisions for
inventories;

o  TEMFME EXEEBENEFERERE
ZRRFZABEAIIES 2R REME:

e assessing whether the inventory items in the
inventory ageing report were categorised
in the appropriate ageing bracket by
comparing individual items therein with
supplier invoices and other underlying
documentation on a sample basis;

o FBBEMERLEBRBERENMHEAMMBEREX
HEFERRBEAZLFERBEREWE
BREE 2 RERIER:

e selecting inventory items, on a sample
basis, at reporting date and comparing
their carrying value to their subsequent
selling prices as indicated in sales invoices
subsequent to the reporting date;

s MEEEBNBSAZFEERR  LBHEEM
ERHFEAREERELZEE
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Independent Auditor’s Report

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5HEHABIN - LABITIIR)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)
Valuation of inventories (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
BREITER

RREFSHE)
FEMEGE)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEZETNNEBEZSEE

Management assesses the level of provisions for
inventories required at each reporting date after
considering inventory ageing and other relevant
factors. This assessment involves significant
management judgement.
EREGEMAFEZRREEMABEERR  »©
FEBSEFEATEERBIKE - & EY
KEBEXNEEEHE -

We identified the valuation of inventories as
a key audit matter because the Group held
significant inventories at the reporting date and
because of the significant degree of management
judgement involved in evaluating the provisions
for inventories.

FEFEHEINSEREASZTE AR BF
lKﬁ%E%ﬁKin AREFEFERRE
w7 EANE IR B A -

e obtaining an understanding of the
Group’s inventory write-down policy and
assessing whether this policy appropriate
with reference to the Group’s current
circumstances and the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards; and

s T BEREZFEMRBE  AFHZF
BREEDARBRR BEEEZERRR
YHARITEHENBRR:

e examining the subsequent utilisation or
release of stock write-downs recorded as
at the end of previous financial year and
additional write-down recognised in the
current year in respect of stocks on hand as
at previous financial year to assess whether
the judgement made by management in
estimating the write-downs in the prior year
indicated possible management bias.

e ERHENL-—SFFERENMB2ER
HEE - URPEHR E - FREZFHEF
EREAFEER ZHMOR - FHEEEBIAE
HEEMREEFEERERE:
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Independent Auditor’s Report

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrBHEHIAIN - LABTIIR)

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR'S REPORT
THEREON

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included
in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal
control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

REMBHRRREAZBMBEUIN

.

B S~

EEFHEAMELSREE - HiLERER
TERERAZ2HES - BETEREK
EMBBRRREEZLHBEHRE -

S ik
mE W

REBFTHEAVWBRR 2B  BF
ZEERMEEMER  HEHBRES
ZREMEEROTEEAMBHRANK
BEHEBTBETATEZIENEEE
REEAEUFFEERERRL 2
B e

ERNEFERT2IE REER
REMEEFHEEAERRML  FF
FEREZFE -HEEIE BFRE

ERHE -
ESRGEMBRRARZER

EXZFAERBEBEAMAERMG
(BB B HREEAEADREBL(A
ARz BBEERBBEEMT B L
RAEMBHRE YTHERRA/ERSE
MBEBRRZBE T FEBRREFHE
MRMEBH 2 BRERBRIMATFZ A
EHERE -

ERBEAVBRRE EFARH
h BEEERERLEZEN  YEER
BATRERSELLEREEZEE MU
LERAPBELERGHER  KIFES
BEER BEREBRIEFLEE 7
BEHMBERZBERTER

ERZBEEMDEZETEE B
ZHHHREBRZEE -

i
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Independent Auditor’s Report

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5HEHABIN - LABITIIR)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

* Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

REMAETCEMBRRAEZE
(=

BEZAR RYUSRGMBHRRERER
BAFHEHRNKRFFRERMER 2 &E
ARERBANFSAERE  THAR
RESBERZRBMBRE BEFRER
RARZ1981F(RADER)FEI0HRZR
E o ERBERRBE o RN - B
FZHETAREELMLAE - BFHT
RAREZAR > HEMEMALTES
SAPEERAL -

BEREFEERNKFZERE - BIEERE
RIBC(RBBRIENDETT2ET &EX
—EAERRAGERBEEE - &
AR RTA R ERFF SRR S - R A
BERYEMERSRERERATETLE
REMBRREAERBYBREA
TR Z EBRE - RIB R Z 88 SRRt Al
WRIEERX -

R B (B 5 BEADEIT B2 8
B EZEMTHELN  RETE
EWREE - BET:

o BAIMFFEHENRFFHIERME
BReMBREFEERNERR
A2 B RERBITESRERF
NEHELRE  ARERRT R
MEAEZENERE  EFREFE
ZERE o HRNAEFAIRE S R ABRR
e ERER - EREG - 30
ERABES 2 L Bit ReEH%
BRRFMER 2 ER#HRR A
ZEBERNAERREERME
B2 BRERRM 2 AR -

o TMREFERFTMHBZIAIES - A
Rt E ZEF R - BRI IF
o BEEEARIEHZEREESR
BR-
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Independent Auditor’s Report

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FrBHEHIAIN - LABTIIR)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT BB EBA GRS BERRARIEZE
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS F(Z&)
(CONTINUED)

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies e
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use e
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and e
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e  Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
group financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work
performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

FTEEEMHEASHTRRZRE
MEREHESF M REBEE
S8 -

HEERABELLEEERL
fREMIELE® -  RIBEMERZ
BIRE BMERAFHEREFER
HERNBEZIERTBEENE - KM
AREEHY ERBZBEKLER
NEEXEERRE MREERR
FEEATEEN AV EAER
BEHETRBERAEIERE
MBmHZHEARE  REEBZ
RETR  AEFEREZRIFER
BER BFZZRAEWREENZE
AR = B LS 2 |/AHEE - A
m- RKREBESIFRAAEER &

& 40 K4
SETREFELE -

AEGAMEREZEBLTS
- BERAE  BERE - AR
GANBRRRTFERRLBR
£15 -

At RBTT BERBER - AER
AREBANERHEREMMB
FELRR  BEZENEE F
AY BERESRAMBRRER
FERBERZER - ZMAERS -
EELELREEETBENMATT
ZEFIE - BMA/BTER K
EEHEME-

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, PBREMEBIBI  EZEHEREZE LA
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of BT EIZETHE HHELH - EX
the audit and significant audit findings, including any B #RE BEEZERNETPHET
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify & &P 1% #l] 2 {F {A] &2 K 5RFE ©

during our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5HEHABIN - LABITIIR)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT

OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Yuen Man Ching, Derek
(Practising Certificate Number: P06054).

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8™ Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

25 June 2025

BB ET AN EBRRAEZE
F(E)

BEFENERZESREN  HH
EEONAABEBELME ZRERERXS
RER - WEMFUS BB ES B
RREVEESBEIYM ZMAREM
HMER  AREERZBRT » 5RE
A FE B 45 it o

tHRERZEGRBIER
MEMLEBRHYAMEEPBHRR
BN RRER AMBEXKBRETS
He BEHERBAMBEPHEAE LS
B BRIBRBRIER IR RARREEL
R XEBRFRZEAT - MRA
BEREESRETERAXFREN
ZEMERBBELEZARNGE - &
EFRETNEEREPBBZER

, & &
3 =7

PARBIYZEMREZEAEELRE
ARRXIEGEZFERT  P06054) °

EEREMEBH
e

BEBPIR

FEFTE105%
KFKE8E
—E-RFEANAZ+AA
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7851 7R)

31 March 2025 31 March 2024

—E-HE —ET_MF
=B=+—H =A=+—H
Note $’000 $’000
Bt 5T Fr Tt
ASSETS B5E
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment  ¥1% - W /FE k& #& 6 756,108 693,169
Investment properties KREME 7 185,544 229,068
Intangible assets BVEE 8 942 3,824
Investments in associates REtENm 2 E 10 89,447 82,455
Other financial assets HtemeEE 13 19,980 19,465
Other non-current assets HMIERBEE 12 87,403 29,353
Deferred tax assets EAERIEE E 23(b) 2,343 2,581
oo ba7e7 1,059,915
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 14 501,196 512,256
Trade and bills receivables BSREBRKER 12 621,016 619,157
Prepayments, deposits and other TEfJ3K » & & Kk EAb
receivables JE W BR 3K 12 62,003 53,509
Amounts due from related JE W [ & R B BR 3K
companies 32(b) 10,908 3,345
Current tax recoverable ZK A AT Uy [ #5538 23(a) 4,639 5,121
Cash and bank deposits Re RIBITHER 15 191,177 149,418
1,390,939 1,342,806
Total assets EEHE 2,532,706 2,402,721
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7851 7R)

31 March 2025 31 March 2024

—E-RE —E N4
=A=+—H =A=+—H
Note $’000 $’000
Bt 5E Fr F T
EQUITY P =
Capital and reserves ARFEBHEA
attributable to equity FE AL BR A K% 1 48
shareholders of the Company
Share capital & 2 16 202,146 202,146
Other reserves H th 5 1% 18 201,198 189,229
Retained earnings bl 18 675,440 601,629
Total equity EEEE 1,078,784 993,004
LIABILITIES =R+
Current liabilities nEBAE
Trade payables g RN KRR 19 432,389 462,793
Accruals and other payables FEET B A K Hoh &
AR 19 225,603 307,684
Bank borrowings RITEE 20 381,659 333,833
Lease liabilities HEAE 22 4,496 3,329
Amount due to an associate FETEE 2 AR ER 10 11,770 2,331
Amounts due to related JEfT A E QR BRI
companies 32(b) 3,919 3,696
Current tax payable AN ERFE AT R 1B 23(a) 121,898 99,077
1,181,734 1,212,743
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7851 7R)

31 March 2025 31 March 2024

—E-1EHE —E N4
=B=+—H =A=+—H
Note $’000 $’000
B o Fr T
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Bank borrowings RITEE 20 154,500 195,859
Loan from a controlling ZIRIR R E R
shareholder 21 100,000 —
Lease liabilities HEAE 22 16,871 276
Provision for long service RHIRG B E
payments 609 638
Deferred tax liabilities REHIABRE 23(b) 208 201
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 272,188 196,974
Total liabilities EEHEE 1,453,922 1,409,717
Total equity and liabilities EzkBaEHEE 2,532,706 2,402,721
Net current assets RBEEFE 209,205 130,063
Total assets less current EEHERARBAR
liabilities 1,350,972 1,189,978

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors RZTE_RAFSAZ+THHABREZEESH

on 25 June 2025. I R ARAE T3 o
Ho Cheuk Fai Chan Ming Mui, Silvia
i 2 BR & ok
Director Director
EE EF

The notes on pages 141 to 286 form part of these financial  Z141F 2868 2 it ARG RE 72—
statements. A o
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 82— - hF=A=+—HILFE

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7TA17R)

2025 2024
—EHE —EUFE
Note $’000 $'000
B & Fr Tt
Revenue WA 24 3,231,329 2,915,981
Cost of revenue NN 25 (2,759,253) (2,545,842)
Gross profit E F 472,076 370,139
Distribution and selling expenses 7§ & 5 & & F 25 (27,436) (22,556)
General and administrative — R ERITHER
expenses B 25 (121,262) (89,271)
Other net income H b Yo A F 58 24 5,301 6,110
Net valuation losses on REMEGEERE
investment properties H R 7 (43,653) (36,050)
Operating profit  && wM o 285,026 228372
Finance income B 75 A 2,629 2,704
Finance costs B 75 K AR (41,086) (42,855)
Finance cost, net | MR BE 27 (38,457) (40,151)
Share of profits/(losses) of JE 1 B 2 A )
associates m A (B 18) 10 1,007 (1,222)
Profit before taxation B Bt A& F 247,576 186,999
Income tax Frig#t 28 (43,095) (17,340)
Profit for the year FEREA 204,481 169,659
Earnings per share attributable ZAOATERFE A
to equity shareholders of FE AL 5 IR % A
the Company
Basic earnings per share BRE A
(HK cents) (F&AL) 29 10.1 8.4
Diluted earnings per share BEEEREF
(HK cents) (& AL) 29 10.1 8.4

The notes on pages 141 to 286 form part of these financial
Details of dividends payable to equity  #b7

BB A Z RS ERFIN 0 -

statements.

shareholders of the Company attributable to the profit for

the year are set out in note 30.

FINE26B 2T AAMBERR 2—
D BRAFE &AH 2 B ARR)#E
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE=ZT=FRF=HA=1+—HILFE (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LAETHI7R)

2025 2024
—E-RE —EMF
Note $000 $'000
Bt &F T T
Profit for the year FERA 204,481 169,659
Other comprehensive income FEHM2MEUA :
for the year:
Items that will not be reclassified T & & #7778 £ 18 2
to profit or loss: ZIEE
Remeasurement of provision for =EIfRTE & B # 2
long service payments BN E 129 213
Share of other comprehensive — FE{5 & A A 2 HAD
income of an associate 2H KA 10 — 2,070
Items that may be reclassified ~— R 1&FAJfEE R 5 E
subsequently to profit or loss: EBmZHEA :
Exchange differences on BMERBUINEBY
translation of financial BWMRFAEEZ R
statements of operations BmER
outside Hong Kong 18 12,658 (55,159)
Changes in fair value of other HemEERQTE
financial assets Z B E 18 127 103
Other comprehensive income FEHM2EK A
for the year 12,914 (52,773)
Total comprehensive income FEZEHVRALE
for the year 217,395 116,886

The notes on pages 141 to 286 form part of these financial

statements.

e

14
fj\o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BlZ—F_hF=A=+—HILFE (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JA/& 7TFI7R)

Share Other  Retained Total
capital reserves earnings equity
RA HiteE RERN BRAE
(Note 16) (Note 18)
(M&E16)  (MEET18)
Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Pt T T T T
Balance at 1 April 2024 “ECNFNA-BRZER 202,146 189,229 601,629 993,004
Changes in equity BE-S-IF=A=t-
for the year ended A
31 March 2025: LEERHZRT:
Profit for the year FE A _ — 204,481 204,481
Other comprehensive income  F 1 2 E it A — 12,785 129 12,914
Total comprehensive income 2 E A 85 = 12,785 204,610 217,395
Dividends paid in respect of Bk EFERE
the previous year 30(b) = — (80,858) (80,858)
Dividends paid in respect of ~EIRAFE K &
the current year 30() = = (50,536) (50,536)
Treasury shares and shares  ETZAR {0 K 1 2 B &t &1 2
purchased for share award ~ B EE
plan 17(b) — (3,247) — (3,247)
Vesting of shares of share fin B8 2 RSB
award plan 17(b) — 3,026 — 3,026
Release upon lapse of share X & K % 2 1 5%
options 18(a) — (595) 595 —
Balance at 31 March 2025 —Z-HfF=A=+-H
ZER 202,146 201,198 675,440 1,078,784

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 £ 135



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE=ZT=FRF=HA=1+—HIEFE (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LAETHI7R)

Share Other  Retained Total
capital reserves earnings equity

BA HittFE FREER BRAE
(Note 16) (Note 18)
(MisE16)  (BiEE18)

Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
ff & T T T T
Balance at 1 April 2023 “EC=FNA-BZER 202,146 244,285 490,331 936,762
Changes in equity BE-Z-MF=A=1+-
for the year ended FLEERzZET:
31 March 2024:
Profit for the year FEE N — — 169,659 169,659
Other comprehensive income {1 2 [ i A = (55,056) 2,283 (52,773)
Total comprehensive income 2 ER A £ 5 — (55,056) 171,942 116,886
Dividends paid in respect of Bk EFE RS
the previous year 30(b) — — (30,322) (30,322)
Dividends paid in respect of B IRAFE K &
the current year 30(a) S = (30,322) (30,322)
Balance at 31 March 2024 —Z-NF=A=1-H
A ] 202,146 189,229 601,629 993,004

12286 B 2 ARG BHREK 2—

o

The notes on pages 141 to 286 form part of these financial
statements.

o

14
)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BlZ—F_hF=A=+—HILFE (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JA/& 7TFI7R)

2025 2024
—E-fHF —EMF
Note $’000 $'000
B 5E T T
Cash flows from operating RETHZHERE
activities
Profit before taxation B %% B & A 247,576 186,999
Share of (profits)/losses of TTE iR RNE]
associates O R /E18 10 (1,007) 1,222
Depreciation and amortisation of #13 « W& E &k &2
property, plant and equipment T & % # §H 6 106,844 89,153
Amortisation of intangible assets &2 & & 2 # i5 8 2,926 1,656
Gain on disposal of property, HEWME BEKR
plant and equipment &z W s 24 (204) (131)
Write-down of obsolete and RERBHFEZ
slow-moving inventories b/ 14(b) 10,414 1,348
Recognition of loss allowance for & 5 & 5 & fE g R 5%
trade and bills receivables EEBEEER 12 12,870 4,532
Provision for long service RHRG BE
payments 99 69
Net valuation loss on investment & & ¥ %5 {E & 18
properties 7 43,653 36,050
Share based payment expenses: RN XNE A : KK
Share award plan Z BT & 17(b) 3,026 —
Interest expenses B X 41,086 42,855
Interest income FEKA (2,629) (2,704)
Foreign exchange loss/(gain) SNESTE S 18
(%) 2,621 (15,565)
Operating profit before working 8 E& & # Al 2
capital changes carried REBENNEE
forward 467,275 345,484

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 £ 137



Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HIZE=Z=FF=A=1+—HILFE (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA B TFI|7R)

2025 2024
—E-8EHE —EUE
Note $’000 $'000
Bt 5E Fr Tt
Operating profit before working AAEBEE S B EAI
capital changes brought 2R A
forward 467,275 345,484
(Increase)/decrease in inventories & 2 (3 h0), & 4 (51,244) 119,563
Increase in trade and bills B R EBEKRERR
receivables 2 320 (14,728) (66,218)
Increase in prepayments, AR Be kHA
deposits and other receivables & U AR 3 2 38 (8,492) (14,275)
Increase in amounts due to ERBEEARERRZ
related companies & 223 79
(Decrease)/increase in trade BEFENERZ
payables (Rt ) /18 hn (30,434) 116,309
Decrease in accruals and other  fE&T 2 A & E 4th fE
payables ERZEL (83,091) (158,041)
Increase/(decrease) in amount  JEfSEEZ RBIERR Z
due to an associate =GR d) 9,439 1,327)
Increase in amounts due from JEWEERRIBRRZ
related companies & (7,563) (760)
Net cash generated from REELEZERS
operations 281,385 340,814
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid ERNEENEH (18,875) (21,970)
PRC tax paid 2 B (755) (750)
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded iR i & & F15 & 83 66
Net cash generated from RETHEEZ
operating activities FHRE 261,838 318,160
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BIZE=ZT=FF=A=1+—RILFE (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA B 7LFI7R)

2025 2024
—E-ERE —EMF
Note $000 $'000
Bt 5F T T
Cash flows from investing RETHZHRERE
activities
Payment for the purchase of BEYWE BEER
property, plant and equipment & 2 i 5K (145,536) (89,039)
Payment for additions to NBEREWMEZNK
investment properties 7 (129) (410)
Proceeds from disposal of HEME - BEKRRK
property, plant and equipment & 2 FT15 5% 627 765
Payment for acquisition of other BEHEMEMEE 2
financial assets (N — (5,881)
Payment for acquisition of BEETVEEZIMNK
intangible assets 8 (44) (2,193)
Interest received 2 F & 2,240 2,323
Net cash used in investing REZFBHMAZ
activities FRE (142,842) (94,435)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HIEZZ=FF=A=1+—HILFE (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA B TFI7R)

2025 2024
—E-REF —E-mF
Note $’000 $'000
Bt 5E T T
Cash flows from financing METHZRERE
activities
Interest paid EENEAIPS) 15(b) (39,257) (42,512)
Proceeds from new bank MIRTTEEZABR
borrowings 15(b) 605,581 630,950
Repayment of bank borrowings fEERITEE 15(b) (602,763) (753,630)
Capital element of lease rental BEffHEHE 2 &R
paid 215 15(b) (5,851) (6,267)
Interest element of lease rental EBEfHERE 258
paid i) 15(b) (998) (343)
Dividends paid 2k & B (131,395) (60,644)
Proceeds loan from a controlling Z R R E R 2
shareholder T8 3k 15(b) 100,000 —
Purchase of own shares for share B {7 2% B 5+ 2 & [@
award plan NSV §v) 17(b) (3,247) .
Net cash used in financing METBRAAZ
activities FHRE (77,930) (232,446)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash HERBELEEBY 2
and cash equivalents SR, CR D) 41,066 (8,721)
Cash and cash equivalents FHAZHRERREE
at the beginning of the year BY 15 149,418 159,445
Effect of foreign exchange HEEREH o XE
rate changes 693 (1,306)
Cash and cash equivalents FRzESRERSSE
at the end of the year (=% 15 191,177 149,418

The notes on pages 141 to 286 form part of these financial ~ S£141E286H Z M R A HRK 2 —
statements. B e
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HBRIN - LABITIIR)

GENERAL INFORMATION

Karrie International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are
principally engaged in

— Metal and Plastic Business (“M&P”): providing
mechanical engineering solutions, manufacturing
and sales of metal and plastic parts, including
moulds and the relevant plastic and metal parts
products for information and communication
technology industry, etc.; and

— Electronic Manufacturing Services Business
(“EMS”): manufacturing and sales of magnetic
tape data storage, point-of-sale system, and other
computer peripherals.

The Company is a limited liability company
incorporated in Bermuda on 29 October 1996. The
address of its registered office is Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda.

The shares of the Company have been listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited since 16 December 1996.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in unit of Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), unless otherwise
stated.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B #HBAIN - LABITEIR)

2

142

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards,
which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”), Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”). Material accounting policies
adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are first
effective or available for early adoption for
the current accounting period of the Group.
Note 2(c) provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Group for the current
accounting period reflected in these financial
statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2025 comprise the Group
and its interest in an associate. The measurement
basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except for
investment properties, other financial assets and
employee benefit liabilities which have been
measured at the lower of carrying amount and
fair value less cost to sell.

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS Accounting Standards
requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRS Accounting Standards that
have significant effect on the financial statements
and major sources of estimation uncertainty are
discussed in note 4.

2 EE

(b)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN - LABITEIR)

2

144

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(0)

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amended
HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
HKICPA to these financial statements for the
current accounting period:

Amendments to HKAS 1,
Presentation of financial

Classification of liabilities as
current or non-current
statements

Amendments to HKAS 1, Non-current liabilities with

Presentation of financial covenants
statements
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Leases — Lease liability in a sale
and leaseback
Amendments to HKAS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures
Statement of cash flows and — Supplier finance
HKFRS 7 arrangements

The above developments do not have significant
impact on the Group’s results and financial
position or any substantial changes in the
Group’s accounting policies. the
Group has not adopted any new standard or

In addition,

interpretation that is not yet effective for the
current accounting period.

set out on
note 2 summaries the accounting policies of the
Group after the adoption of these policies to the

The “material accounting policies”

extent that they are relevant to the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5

2 EE®

2  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(0

Changes in accounting policies (continued)
Possible impact of amendments, new standards
and interpretations issued but not yet effective
for the year ended 31 March 2025.

Up to the date of issue of these financial
statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of
new or amended HKFRS Accounting Standards,
which are not yet effective for the year ended 31
March 2025 and which have not been adopted in
these financial statements. These developments
include the following which may be relevant to
the Group.

Effective for
accounting
periods
beginning on
or after

Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of
changes in foreign exchange rates: Lack of
exchangeability

1 January 2025

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Financial instruments
and HKFRS 7, Financial instruments:
disclosures — Amendments to the
classification and measurement of financial
instruments

1 January 2026

Annual improvements to HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 11

1 January 2026

HKFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in
financial statements

1 January 2027

HKFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public
accountability: Disclosures

1 January 2027

(0
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN - LABITEIR)

2

146

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(0)

(d)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

The Group is in the process of making an
assessment of what the impact of these
amendments is expected to be in the period
of initial application. So far it has concluded
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a
significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements, except for HKFRS 18, where the
presentation and disclosure of the consolidated
financial statements are expected to change.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the
Group. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group
and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated
into the consolidated financial statements from
the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases. Intra-Group balances,
transactions and cash flows, and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-Group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-Group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

2 EE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
a subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly
to the Company, and in respect of which the
Group has not agreed any additional terms with
the holders of those interests which would result
in the Group as a whole having a contractual
obligation in respect of those interests that meets
the definition of a financial liability. For each
business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net
identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position
within equity, separately from equity attributable
to the equity shareholders of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the results of
the Group are presented on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of
the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between non-controlling
interests and the equity shareholders of the
Company.

Changes in the Group'’s interests in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions, whereby
adjustments are made to the amounts of
controlling and non-controlling interests within
consolidated equity to reflect the change in
relative interests, but no adjustments are made to
goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

(d)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN - LABITEIR)
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148

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d)

(e)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition of a financial asset or,
when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition
of an investment in an associate (see note 2(e)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(k)(ii)).

Associates
An associate is an entity in which the Group
has significant influence, but not control or
joint control, over its management, including
participation in the financial and operating policy
decisions.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

2 EE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e)

Associates (continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted
for in the consolidated financial statements
under the equity method. Under the equity
method, the investment is initially recorded at
cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s
share of the acquisition-date fair values of
the investee’s identifiable net assets over the
cost of the investment (if any). Thereafter, the
investment is adjusted for the post-acquisition
change in the Group’s share of the investee’s
net assets and any impairment loss relating
to the investment (see note 2(k)(ii)).
acquisition-date excess over cost, the Group'’s
share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of

Any

the investees and any impairment losses for the
year are recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share of the
post-acquisition, post-tax items of the investees’
other comprehensive income is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. Adjustments are made
on consolidation to the financial information of
associates where necessary to ensure consistency
with the accounting policies adopted by the
Group. In cases where the reporting dates of
the associates are different from that of the
Group, the attributable share of the results
and associates is included in the consolidated
financial statements based on either financial
statements made up to 31 March or pro-rated
amounts adjusted for any material transactions or
events occurring between the date the financial
statements are available and 31 March.

(e)
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e)

Associates (continued)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its
interest in the associate, the Group’s interest
is reduced to $nil and recognition of further
losses is discontinued except to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest
is the carrying amount of the investment under
the equity method, together with the Group’s
long-term interests that in substance form part of
the Group’s net investment in the associate.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the investees, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred, in which
case they are recognised immediately in profit or

loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture, retained interest

is not remeasured. Instead, the investment
continues to be accounted for under the equity

method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to
have significant influence over an associate, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest
retained in that former investee at the date when
significant influence is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition of a financial asset
(see note 2(f)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

2  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()

Other investments in debt and equity securities
The Group’s and the Company’s accounting
policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries
and an associate, are as follows:

Investments in debt and equity securities are
initially stated at fair value, which is their
transaction price unless it is determined that the
fair value at initial recognition differs from the
transaction price and that fair value is evidenced
by a quoted price in an active market for an
identical asset or liability or based on a valuation
technique that uses only data from observable
markets. Cost includes attributable transaction
costs, except for those investments measured
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL") for
which transaction costs are recognised directly
in profit or loss and where indicated otherwise
below. These investments are subsequently
accounted for as follows, depending on their
classification.

(i) Investments other than equity
investments
Non-equity investment held by the Group
are classified into one of the following
measurement categories:

— Amortised cost, if the investment is
held for the collection of contractual
cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest.
Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest
method (see note 2(v)(iii)).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(f) Other investments in debt and equity securities
(continued)
(i) Investments other than equity
investments (continued)

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED = R B B = IR B R 2 7

Fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”) (recycling), if
the contractual cash flows of the
investment comprise solely payments
of principal and interest and the
investment is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by
both the collection of contractual cash
flows and sale. Changes in fair value
are recognised in other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition in
profit or loss of expected credit losses,
interest income (calculated using the
effective interest method) and foreign
exchange gains and losses. When the
investment is derecognised, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive
income is recycled from equity to
profit or loss.

FVPL, if the investment does not meet
the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling).
Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

2  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()

(g)

Other investments in debt and equity securities

(continued)

(i)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is
classified as FVPL unless the equity
investment is not held for trading purposes
and on initial recognition of the investment
the Group makes an irrevocable election
to designate the investment at FVOCI
(non-recycling) such that subsequent
changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis,
but may only be made if the investment
meets the definition of equity from the
issuer’s perspective. Where such an election
is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the other
financial assets revaluation reserve until
the investment is disposed of. At the time
of disposal, the amount accumulated in the
other financial assets revaluation reserve
is transferred to retained earnings. It is not
recycled through profit or loss. Dividends
from an investment in equity securities, if
any, irrespective of whether classified as at
FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or
loss as other income.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and buildings

which are owned or held under a leasehold
interest (see note 2(i)) to earn rental income and/
or for capital appreciation. These include land

held for a currently undetermined future use and
property that is being constructed or developed
for future use as investment property.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(g

(h)

Investment properties (Continued)

Investment properties are stated at fair value,
unless they are still in the course of construction
or development at the end of the reporting
period and their fair value cannot be reliably
measured at that time. Any gain or loss arising
from a change in fair value or from the retirement
or disposal of an investment property is
recognised in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (including
right-of-use assets and land use rights) are stated
at historical cost less accumulated depreciation
or amortisation and impairment losses. Historical
cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All
other repairs and maintenance are expensed in
profit or loss during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

[tems may be produced while bringing an
item of property, plant and equipment to the
location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. The proceeds from selling any such
items and the related costs are recognised in
profit or loss.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED E R B =R E R 2 7

2

EESRBERE)

(g

(h)

REWME(E)

BREWMERIDRRAFEIK -
FROEREMER R EH R
EEZRAZEET  AER
HAFETERAEAERME
A WEMELRFEZE
BoARBEILEREYE
FRES 2 E K EKERY
RIEEHER -

ME BERKE

ME BEERREEREER
BEENLHERB)IRESL
AR E Rt T E S
WEBRIE ELKAE
HREEZRBREERGZE
A -

BEKRAEEANESAKHE
TREZHEBAHEIAKE
Az - FRIRZIER 2 KANEE
ASERTER TEERREEZ
REEXERSBELEE (W
BR) BB B2 FER
NEAEZS - FREEMAEE
EFREBEERANREL 2WHH
AARNIE S e

EVME BMERRHBENTA
BEEEMEFETAZLE
MENMMEHTEEZY M -
HEZEWMmZIAER R
ME B A AR 18 o FE AR



Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

2  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(h)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Gain or losses arising from the retirement or
disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised
in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal.

Construction-in-progress represents buildings,
plant and machinery under construction and
pending installation and is stated at cost. Cost
includes the costs of construction of buildings,
the costs of plant and machinery, installation,
testing and other direct costs. No depreciation is
made on construction-in-progress until such time
as the relevant assets are completed and ready
for intended use. When the assets concerned
are brought into use, the costs are transferred
to other property, plant and equipment and
depreciated in accordance with the policy as
stated in below.

Depreciation and amortisation is calculated to
write off the cost of items of property, plant and
equipment using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives. The annual rates used
for the calculation of depreciation are:

— Land use rights and Over the lease term
leasehold land

— Buildings 2% to 4%

— Fixtures and leasehold 8% to 33.33%

improvements

— Machinery 6.67% to 20%

— Tools and equipment 20% to 50%

— Furniture and computer 15%
equipment
— Properties leased for Over the lease term

own use
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2

(h)

(i)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Both the useful life of an asset and its residual
value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the use of
the identified asset and to obtain substantially all
of the economic benefits from that use.

(i) Asalessee

Where the contract contains lease
component(s) and non-lease component(s),
the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated
non-lease components as a single lease
component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the
Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a
lease liability, except for short-term leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less
and leases of low-value assets. When the
Group enters into a lease in respect of a
low-value asset, the Group decides whether
to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease
basis. The lease payments associated with
those leases which are not capitalised are
recognised as an expense on a systematic
basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(i) Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using
a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability
is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or rate are
not included in the measurement of the
lease liability and hence are charged to
profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a
lease is capitalised is initially measured at
cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability plus any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date,
and any initial direct costs incurred. Where
applicable, the cost of the right-of-use
assets also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or
the site on which it is located, discounted
to their present value, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see
notes 2(h) and 2(k)(ii)).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

O

Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

The initial fair value of refundable rental
deposits is accounted for separately from
the right-of-use assets in accordance
with the accounting policy applicable to
investments in debt securities carried at
amortised cost (see notes 2(f)(i), 2(v)(ii) and
2(k)(i)). Any difference between the initial
fair value and the nominal value of the
deposits is accounted for as additional lease
payments made and is included in the cost
of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when
there is a change in future lease payments
arising from a change in an index or rate,
or there is a change in the Group’s estimate
of the amount expected to be payable
under a residual value guarantee, or there
is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability
is remeasured in this way, a corresponding
adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(i) Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when
there is a change in the scope of a lease
or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract
(“lease modification”) that is not accounted
for as a separate lease.
lease liability is remeasured based on the

In this case the

revised lease payments and lease term using
a revised discount rate at the effective date
of the modification. The only exceptions are
rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
and met the conditions set out in paragraph
46B of HKFRS 16 Leases. In such cases, the
Group has taken advantage of the practical
expedient not to assess whether the rent
concessions are lease modifications, and
recognised the change in consideration as
negative variable lease payments in profit
or loss in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the rent concessions
occurred.

In the consolidated statement of financial
position,
assets that do not meet the definition of

the Group presents right-of-use

investment property in “property, plant and
equipment” and presents lease liabilities
separately. The current portion of long-term
lease liabilities is determined as the
principal portion of contractual payments
that are due to be settled within twelve
months after the reporting period.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2

O

()

Leased assets (continued)

(i) As alessor
When the Group acts as a lessor, it
determines at lease inception whether each
lease is a finance lease or an operating
lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease
if it transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to the ownership of an
underlying assets to the lessee. If this is
not the case, the lease is classified as an
operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and
non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis. The rental income from
operating leases is recognised in accordance
with note 2(v)(ii).

Intangible assets

Other intangible assets that are acquired by
the Group are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses (see note
2(k)(ii)). Operating rights acquired in a business
combination are recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Amortisation of intangible assets
is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the assets’ estimated useful lives.

Both the period and method of amortisation are
reviewed annually.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance
for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on the
following items:

— financial assets measured at amortised
cost (including cash and bank
deposits, trade and bills receivables
and prepayments, deposits and other
receivables);

— contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15
(see note 2(n)); and

— debt securities measured at FVOCI
(recycling).

Financial assets measured at fair
value,
equity securities designated at FVOCI

(non-recycling), are not subject to the ECL

including debt securities and

assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate
of credit losses. Credit losses are measured
as the present values of all expected cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(9]

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets (continued)
Measurement of ECLs (continued)

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted
using the following discount rates where the
effect of discounting is material:

— fixed-rate financial assets, trade and
other receivables: effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof;

— variable-rate financial assets: current

effective interest rate.

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to
credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into
account reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue
cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(k) Credit losses and Impairment of assets

(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets (continued)
Measurement of ECLs (continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the
following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that
are expected to result from possible
default events within the 12 months
after the reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible
default events over the expected lives
of the items to which the ECL model
applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on
these financial assets are estimated using
a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors
and an assessment of both the current and
forecast general economic conditions at the
reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the
Group recognises a loss allowance equal
to 12-month ECLs unless there has been
a significant increase in credit risk of the
financial instrument since initial recognition,
in which case the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(9]

Credit losses and Impairment of assets

(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of
a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument
assessed at the reporting date with that
assessed at the date of initial recognition.
In making this reassessment, the Group
considers that a default event occurs when
(i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held) or (ii) the
financial asset is 90 days past due. The
Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable,
experience and forward-looking information

including historical

that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is
taken into account when assessing whether
credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition:

— failure to make payments of principal
or interest on their contractual due
dates;

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial instrument’s
external or internal credit rating (if
available);
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(k) Credit losses and Impairment of assets

(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments

and contract assets (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

(continued)

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the

technological, market, economic
or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the
debtor’s ability to meet its obligation to

the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either
an individual basis or a collective basis.
When the assessment is performed on a
collective basis, the financial instruments
are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics, such as past due status and
credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting
date to reflect changes in the financial
instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL
amount is recognised as an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss for all
financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account, except
for investments in debt securities that are
measured at FVOCI (recycling), for which
the loss allowance is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in
the fair value reserve (recycling).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(k) Credit losses and Impairment of assets

2

166

(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets (continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income
Interest income recognised in accordance
with note 2(v)(iii) is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated
based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the
financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Groups assess
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired.
A financial asset is credit-impaired when
one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

— significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default
or past due event;

— it becoming probable that the borrower
will enter into bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment
that have an adverse effect on the
debtor; or

— the disappearance of an active market
for a security because of financial
difficulties of the issuer.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(k) Credit losses and Impairment of assets

(continued)

(i)

(if)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets (continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset is written off (either partially or in
full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the
case when the Group determines that the
debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash
flows to repay the amounts subject to the
write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information
are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to identify indications that the
following assets may be impaired or, except
in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or
may have decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment;

— intangible assets;

— goodwill; and

— investments in subsidiaries in the
Company’s statement of financial

position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 58 &AM - LA TTHIR)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2

168

(9]

Credit losses and Impairment of assets
(continued)

(ii) Impairment of other assets (continued)
— Calculation of the recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is
the greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined
for the smallest Group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently

(i.e. a cash generating unit).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(continued)

(i)

Impairment of other assets (continued)
— Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in
profit or loss if the carrying amount
of an asset, or the cash-generating
unit to which it belongs, exceeds
its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the
cash-generating unit (or Group of
units) and then, to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the
unit (or Group of units) on a pro rata
basis, except that the carrying value
of an asset will not be reduced below
its individual fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable) or value in use

(if determinable).

— Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if
there has been a favourable change
in the estimates used to determine the

recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is
limited to the asset’s carrying amount
that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised
in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss
in the year in which the reversals are

recognised.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN - LABITEIR)

2

170

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(9]

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)
(iii) Interim financial reporting and

impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is
required to prepare an interim financial
report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim
financial reporting, in respect of the first six
months of the financial year. At the end of
the interim period, the Group applies the
same impairment testing, recognition, and
reversal criteria as it would at the end of the
financial year (see notes 2(k)(i) and 2(k)(ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim
period in respect of other financial assets
are not reversed in a subsequent period.
This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller
loss, would have been recognised had the
impairment been assessed only at the end
of the financial year to which the interim
period relates. Consequently, if the fair
value of another financial asset increases in
the remainder of the annual period, or in
any other period subsequently, the increase
is recognised in other comprehensive
income and not profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HBRIN - LABITIIR)

2  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

M

Inventories and other contract costs

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in
the ordinary course of business, in the process
of production for such sale or in the form of
materials or supplies to be consumed in the
production process.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value as follows:

(i) Manufacturing
Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out
method and comprise all costs of purchase,
costs of conversion and other costs incurred
in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less
the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sales.

When inventories are sold, the carrying
amount of those inventories is recognised
as an expense in the period in which the
related revenue is recognised. The amount
of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories
are recognised as an expense in the period
the write-down or loss occurs. The amount
of any reversal of any write-down of
inventories is recognised as a reduction in
the amount of inventories recognised as an
expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
() Inventories and other contract costs (continued)

(if)

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED = R B B = IR B R 2 7

Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the
incremental costs of obtaining a contract
with a customer or the costs to fulfil a
contract with a customer which are not
capitalised as inventory (see note 2(l)
(i), property, plant and equipment (see note
2(h)) and intangible assets (see note 2(j)).

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are
those costs that the Group incurs to obtain
a contract with a customer that it would not
have incurred if the contract had not been
obtained (for example, an incremental sales
commission). Incremental costs of obtaining
a contract are capitalised when incurred if
the costs relate to revenue which will be
recognised in a future reporting period and
the costs are expected to be recovered.
Other costs of obtaining a contract are
expensed when incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
() Inventories and other contract costs (continued)

(if)

Other contract costs (continued)

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised
if the costs relate directly to an existing
contract or to a specifically identifiable
anticipated contract; generate or enhance
resources that will be used to provide goods
or services in the future; and are expected
to be recovered. Costs that relate directly
to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract may include
direct labour, direct materials, allocations
of costs, costs that are explicitly chargeable
to the customer and other costs that are
incurred only because the Group entered
into the contract (for example, payments
to sub-contractors). Other costs of fulfilling
a contract, which are not capitalised as
inventory, property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at
cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses. Impairment losses
are recognised to the extent that the
carrying amount of the contract cost asset
exceeds the net of (i) remaining amount
of consideration that the Group expects
to receive in exchange for the goods or
services to which the asset relates, less (ii)
any costs that relate directly to providing
those goods or services that have not yet

been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is
charged to profit or loss when the revenue
to which the asset relates is recognised. The
accounting policy for revenue recognition is
set out in note 2(v).
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN - LABITEIR)
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(m) Trade and other receivables

(n)

A receivable is recognised when the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration.
A right to receive consideration is unconditional
if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue
has been recognised before the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration, the
amount is presented as a contract asset (see note
2(n)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses (see note 2(k)(i)).

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue (see note 2(v)) before being
unconditionally entitled to the consideration
under the payment terms set out in the
contract. Contract assets are assessed for ECL in
accordance with the policy set out in note 2(k)(i)
and are reclassified to receivables when the right
to the consideration has become unconditional
(see note 2(m)).

A contract liability is recognised when the
customer pays non-refundable consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue
(see note 2(v)). A contract liability would also be
recognised if the Group has an unconditional
right to receive non-refundable consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue.
In such cases, a corresponding receivable would
also be recognised (see note 2(m)).

For a single contract with the customers, either
a net contract asset or a net contract liability is
presented. For multiple contracts, contract assets
and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are
not presented on a net basis.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5

2 EES

2  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(n)

(o)

(p

(q)

Contract assets and contract liabilities
(continued)

When the contract includes a significant
financing component, the contract balance
includes interest accrued under the effective

interest method (see note 2(v)).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially
at fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings
are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Interest expenses is recognised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy for borrowing costs (see note 2(x)).

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods
or services that have been acquired in the
ordinary course of business from suppliers.

Trade and other payables are initially recognised
at fair value, and are subsequently stated at
amortised cost unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are

stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, having been within three months of
maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that
are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
cash flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents
are assessed for ECL in accordance with the
policy set out in note 2(k)(i).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(r)

Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave and
long service leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of
the reporting period. Employee entitlements
to sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

Group companies operate a defined
contribution plan under which the Group
pays fixed contributions into a separate
entity on a mandatory, contractual or
voluntary basis. The Group has no legal
or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employees the
benefits relating to employee service in the
current and prior periods. The contributions
are recognised as employee benefit expense
when they are due and are not reduced by
contributions forfeited by those employees
who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully
in the contributions. Prepaid contributions
are recognised as an asset to the extent that
a cash refund or a reduction in the future
payments is available.

Long service payments obligations
The Group has the long service payments
obligations under Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance as a defined benefit plan.

2
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V=1

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2 EBEESHEREE)
() Employee benefits (continued) rn EERHNGE)
(iii) Long service payments obligations (i) RBBBEEE(E)

(continued)

The Group’s net obligation under the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance in respect
of long service payments on cessation of
employment under certain circumstances is
the estimated discounted amount of future
benefit that employees have earned in
return for their services in the current and
prior periods. The obligation is calculated
annually using the projected unit credit
method, taking into account offsetable
accrued benefits related to the Group’s
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) Scheme
contributions. Under this method, the cost
of providing retirement benefits is charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and the consolidated statement of other
comprehensive income so as to spread
the regular cost over the service lives of
employees.

The obligation is calculated using the
projected unit credit method, discounted
to its present value and reduced by
entitlements accrued under the Group’s
retirement plans that are attributable to
contributions made by the Group. The
discount rate is the yield at the end of the
reporting period on high quality corporate
bonds which have terms to maturity
approximating the terms of the related
liability. The actuarial gains or losses are
credited or charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the current

period.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(r)

)

Employee benefits (continued)

(iv) Other compensations
Other directors’ and employees’ compensations
are recorded as a liability and charged
to profit or loss when the Group is
contractually obliged or when there is a
past practice that has created a constructive
obligation and the associated services are
rendered by the employees.

Share-based payments

The Company operated a number of
equity-settled, share-based compensation plans
including the Share Options Schemes and
Share Award Plan, under which the Company
received services from employees in return for
the granting of equity instruments (share options
or share awards) of the Company. The fair value
of share options and awarded shares granted
to employees is recognised as an employee
cost with a corresponding increase in a capital
reserve and shares held for share award scheme,
respectively, within equity. The total amount to
be expensed is determined by reference to the
fair value of the options granted:

— including any market performance
conditions;

— excluding the impact of any service and
nonmarket performance vesting conditions
(for example, profitability, sales growth
targets and remaining an employee of the
entity over a specified time period); and

— excluding the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save).
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2 EE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(s)

Share-based payments (continued)

Non-market vesting conditions are included in
assumptions about the number of options that are
expected to vest. The total expense is recognised
over the vesting period, which is the period over
which all of the specified vesting conditions
are to be satisfied. At the end of each reporting
period, the entity revises its estimates of the
number of options that are expected to vest
based on the non-marketing vesting conditions.
It recognises the impact of the revision to the
original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

The cash received for the shares issued when the
options are exercised is credited to share capital
(nominal value) and share premium, net of any
directly attributable transaction costs.

The grant by the Company of options over its
equity instruments to employees of a subsidiary
in the Group is treated as a capital contribution.
The fair value of employee services received,
measured by reference to the grant date fair
value, is recognised over the vesting period
as an increase to investment in the subsidiary,
with a corresponding credit to share-based
compensation reserve until either the option is
exercised (when it is included in the amount
recognised in share capital for the shares issued)
or the option expires (when it is released directly
to retained profits).

For those awarded shares which are amortised
over the vesting periods, the Group revises
its estimates of the number of awarded shares
that are expected to ultimately vest based
on the vesting conditions at the end of each
reporting period. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years
is charged/credited to employee share-based
compensation expense in the current year, with
a corresponding adjustment to shares held for
Share Award Plan.

(s)
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(®

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax
and movements in deferred tax assets and
liabilities. Current tax and movements in deferred
tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit
or loss except to the extent that they relate
to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(®

Income tax (continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all
deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax
assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those
that will arise from the reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse either in the same period as the expected
reversal of the deductible temporary difference
or in periods into which a tax loss arising from
the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when
determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred
tax assets arising from unused tax losses and
credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in
which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred
tax assets and liabilities are those temporary
differences arising from goodwill not deductible
for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets
or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor
taxable profit (provided they are not part of a
business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the
extent that, in the case of taxable differences,
the Group controls the timing of the reversal
and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case
of deductible differences, unless it is probable
that they will reverse in the future.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(®

Income tax (continued)

Where investment properties are carried at their
fair values in accordance with the accounting
policy set out in note 2(g), the amount of
deferred tax recognised is measured using the
tax rates that would apply on sale of those
assets at their carrying value at the reporting
date unless the property is depreciable and is
held within a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the property over time,
rather than through sale. In all other cases, the
amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation
or settlement of the carrying amount of the
assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period
and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the
extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the
distribution of dividends are recognised when
the liability to pay the related dividends is
recognised.
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2 EEEFBERAE)

2  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

®

Income tax (continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances,
and movements therein, are presented separately
from each other and are not offset. Current tax
assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and
deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities,
if the Company or the Group has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and
liabilities, the Company or the Group
intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and
liabilities, if they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on
either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in
each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current
tax assets and settle the current tax
liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(u)

v)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group
or the Company has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated
at the present value of the expenditure expected
to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to
settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed
by another party, a separate asset is recognised
for any expected reimbursement that would be
virtually certain. The amount recognised for the
reimbursement is limited to the carrying amount
of the provision.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue
when it arises from the sale of goods, the
provision of services or the use by others of
the Group’s assets under leases in the ordinary
course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a
product is transferred to the customer, at the
amount of promised consideration to which the
Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.
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2 EE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

v)

Revenue and other income (continued)

Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing
benefit to the customer for more than 12 months,
revenue is measured at the present value of the
amount receivable, discounted using the discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction with the customer, and
interest income is accrued separately under the
effective interest method. Where the contract
contains a financing component which provides
a significant financing benefit to the Group,
revenue recognised under that contract includes
the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. The
Group takes advantage of the practical expedient
in paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust
the consideration for any effects of a significant
financing component if the period of financing is
12 months or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Sales of manufacturing goods
Revenue from the sales of goods is
recognised when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the products. Any
advance payments received from customers
prior to delivery of goods are recorded as
contract liabilities (see note 2(n)).

In the comparative period, revenue
from sales of manufacturing goods was
recognised when the goods are delivered to
the customer, the customer has accepted the
products and the related risks and rewards
of ownership and collectability of the
related receivables is reasonably assured.

v)
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

v)

Revenue and other income (continued)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

Rental income from operating leases
Rental income from operating leases
is recognised in profit or loss in equal
instalments over the periods covered by
the lease term, except where an alternative
basis is more representative of the pattern
of benefits to be derived from the use of the
leased asset.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues
under the effective interest method using
the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset. For
financial assets measured at amortised
cost or FVOCI (recycling) that are not
credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of the
asset. For credit-impaired financial assets,
the effective interest rate is applied to the
amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount
net of loss allowance) of the asset (see note

2(k)(i)).

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the
statement of financial position initially when
there is reasonable assurance that they
will be received and that the Group will
comply with the conditions attaching to
them. Grants that compensate the Group for
expenses incurred are recognised as income
in profit or loss on a systematic basis in
the same periods in which the expenses
are incurred. Grants that compensate the
Group for the cost of an asset are deducted
from the carrying amount of the asset and
consequently are effectively recognised in
profit or loss over the useful life of the asset
by way of reduced depreciation expenses.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(w) Translation of foreign currencies

(i)

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements
of each of the Group’s entities are
measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is
the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions during the
year are translated at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that
are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. The transaction date is the
date on which the Group initially recognises
such non-monetary assets or liabilities.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are
stated at fair value are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the
fair value was measured.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(w) Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

(x)

Transactions and balances (continued)
The results of operations with functional

(if)

currency other than Hong Kong dollars
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the exchange rates approximating the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the transactions. Statement of financial
position items are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the closing foreign exchange
rates at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated separately in equity in the
translation reserve.

On disposal of an operation with functional
currency other than Hong Kong dollars,
the cumulative amount of the exchange
differences relating to that operation is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss
when the profit or loss on disposal is
recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of
an asset which necessarily takes a substantial
period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that
asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part
of the cost of a qualifying asset commences
when expenditure for the asset is being
incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the
asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended
or ceases when substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its
intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.
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2 EESHH

2  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(y) Related parties

A person, or a close member of that

person’s family, is related to the Group if

(a)

that person:

(iii)

has control or joint control over the
Group;

has significant influence over the
Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of
the following conditions applies:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The entity and the Group are members
of the same Group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member
of a Group of which the other entity is
a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2

(y)

(2)

Related parties (continued)
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of
the following conditions applies: (continued)

(v) The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a Group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person
are those family members who may be
expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of
each segment item reported in the financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing
the performance of, the Group’s various lines of
business and geographical locations.
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2  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(2)

(aa)

Segment reporting (continued)

Individually material operating segments are
not aggregated for financial reporting purposes
unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the
nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

Distribution of non-cash assets to owners

Upon loss of control of a subsidiary through
distribution of shares in the subsidiary to
the shareholders of the Company where the
subsidiary is ultimately controlled by the same
parties both before and after the distribution, the
Group (a) derecognises the assets and liabilities
of the subsidiary at their carrying amounts at
the date when control is lost; and (b) measures
the distribution and the liability to distribute
non-cash assets as a dividend to its owners
at the carrying amount of the net assets to be
distributed.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(@)

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: currency risk, interest rate risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall
risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's
financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by the Group’s
Finance and Accounting department (“Group
F&A”) under policies approved by the Board of
Directors. Group F&A identifies, evaluates and
mitigates financial risks in close co-operation
with the Group’s operating units. The Board is
responsible for overall risk management which
covers currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk,
use of derivative financial instruments and cash
management.

The Group’s exposure to the aforesaid risks
and the financial risk management policies and
practices used by the Group to manage these
risks are described below.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(@) Financial risk factors (continued)

(i)

Currency risk

The Group operates primarily in Hong Kong
and the Mainland China and most of its
business transactions, assets and liabilities
are denominated in HK$, United States
(“US$”) and Renminbi (“RMB”).
Currency risk arises from commercial

dollars

transactions, recognised assets and liabilities
and net investments in foreign operations
that are denominated in a currency that
is not the entity’s functional currency. As
HK$ are pegged against US$, management
considers that the Group is mainly exposed
to foreign currency risk with respect to
Management will continue to
monitor foreign exchange exposure and will

Renminbi.

take measures to minimise the currency
translation risk. The conversion rate of
Renminbi to foreign currencies is subject
to the rules and regulations of foreign
exchange control promulgated by the PRC
Government.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 3
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

3

194

(@)

Financial risk factors (continued)

(i) Currency risk (continued)
The following table details the currency
portfolio of the Group’s monetary assets/
(liabilities) denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the
entity to which they relate. For presentation
purposes, the amounts of the portfolio are
expressed in HK$, translated using the spot
rate at the end of the reporting period:

BHEREEREMIAQNTE
(&)
@ MBEBREZEGE)
(i) SNEEREE)
MR AEEAERM
ERDEEBEUINEM
EERBUzERBMLE
E/(aB)za%is -
SEJRE HEEZ
T A RS B R BB
R WABTTIPR

At 31 March 2025
RZE-HF=ZHA=1+—-H

HK$ US$ RMB THB Others
BT Ex AR% =Y Hitr
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T T T Fr
Trade and bills receivables & 5 &% 2 fE Y 8
and other receivables M HAb e M
X — 512,487 2,249 - 422
Other financial assets HiemEE — 19,980 — — —
Cash and bank deposits 3 & k175 % 3,869 93,060 21,901 54 1,000
Amounts due from related &4 % & 2 5] BR 3%
companies — — 721 — —
Trade payables EHRMTER @) (280,429)  (20,154) — —
Accruals and other EAERAREME
payables 1 B 5 — (17) . = —
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(@) Financial risk factors (continued)
(i) Currency risk (continued)

HK$
BT
$'000
T

HHERRBEEREMITIALQTE
(%)
@ HMBREBRREEGE)

(i) MR (E)

At 31 March 2024
RZZE-ZWE=A=1—H
Us$ RMB THB  Others
Xt AR R Hith
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T T T

Trade and bills receivables &% & = 1 e I iR
and other receivables M H AR
BR —
Other financial assets HtomEE —
Cash and bank deposits & K R177 % 3,893
Amounts due from related &Y & A 5] BR &

companies —
Trade payables BEHRMNER —
Accruals and other FEstE RN e

payables £ 8 3 —

552,351 1,130 — 143
19,465 — — -
79,529 1,026 39 3,344
— 780 — -
(310,320)  (42,425) - (36)
(40) = = =

At 31 March 2025, if HK$ had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against the RMB
with all other variables held constant,
post-tax profit for the year and retained
earnings would have decreased/increased
approximately $392,000 (2024: $1,807,000),
mainly as a result of the net foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of
Renminbi-denominated trade and other
receivables, cash and bank deposits, trade
and other payables and amounts due from/
to related companies.

R_E_RAF=ZA=+—
B - WEMEEHAEE
BAE BTRARK
REFAE%  FEH
1% i ) #5818 0 £
392,000 (ZFE 4 -
1,807,0007T) ° L JhEE
AmEAARBTEZ
ZEOREBRKERK
HEMmEWER Rek
RITFER - BESHENER
Ko H i & A< BR 3R K P U
S ER BB AR R KA

EEZFHNERR B
i~
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(@)

Financial risk factors (continued)

(i)

(i)

Currency risk (continued)

The sensitivity analysis above indicates
the instantaneous change in the Group's
profit after tax (and retained earnings) and
other components of equity that would
arise assuming that the change in foreign
exchange rate of HK$ against the RMB had
occurred at the end of the reporting period
and had been applied to re-measure those
financial instruments held by the Group
which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk, including inter-company payables
and receivables with the Group which are
denominated in a currency other than the
functional currencies of the lender or the
borrower. The analysis is performed on the
same basis for 2024.

Interest rate risk

Monetary assets/liabilities acquired at
variable rates and at fixed rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk and
fair value interest rate risk respectively. The
Group’s interest rate risk arises from bank
borrowings and bank deposits which are
primarily issued at variable rates.

3
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (58 &AM - LA TLHIR)
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(@) Financial risk factors (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The following table details the interest rate
profile of the Group’s interest-bearing assets
and liabilities at the end of the reporting
period:

3 HEEREEREBMIEAFHE
(&)
@ HXEEBREZR(E)

(i) RIEE (&)
TRFNRREHERN
SETEEERABER
v

At 31 March 2025 At 31 March 2024
RZBZEE=F=+-A R-B-EE=A=1+-H
Effective Effective

interest rate interest rate

Note % $'000 % §'000
it e ERAZ T ERENZ T
Fixed rate interest-bearing assets/ EEREHEEE/
(liabilities): (BF):
Deposits with banks with 3 months = {8 A% & & 3152
or less to maturity when placed /T 3 15 2.88% 72,662 4.46% 58,144
Key management insurance IZERERRAN
contracts 13 2.01% 19,980 2.01% 19,465
Lease liabilities HEAR 2 713%  (21,367) 5.43% (3,605)
Variable rate interest-hearing I BFRFEEE/
assets/(liabilities): (Bf):
Cash at bank ROHER 15 0.01% 116,802 0.01% 90,459
Bank borrowings RIOGEE 20 450%  (536,159) 5.2%  (529,692)
Loan from a controlling shareholder 1§ it & & & 21 3.88%  (100,000) — —

At 31 March 2025, with all other variables
held constant, if the interest rate had
increased/decreased by 50 basis points, the
corresponding increase/decrease in interest
expenses on bank borrowings and loan
from a controlling shareholder and interest
income from bank deposits at variable rates
will result in a net decrease/increase in the
Group’s post-tax profit by approximately
$2,072,000/$2,644,000 (2024: decrease/
increase $1,759,000/$2,202,000).

R_ZE-_RAF=A=1+—
B FrEAEMEFHEAZE
BRTE WA XLER
STHRAAHEZF - HE
#wm/ Bz RITEE
MEZTHEERERE
KF B RIBITER
M EW A EARNEE
1% i B R R 10 A
2,072,0007T 2,644,000
T (ZE M@ E - R/
4/ # 0 1,759,000 7T
,2,202,0007C) °
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(@)

Financial risk factors (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group’s profit
after tax (and retained earnings) and other
components of equity that would arise
assuming that the change in interest rates
had occurred at the end of the reporting
period and had been applied to re-measure
those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk. In respect of the exposure
to cash flow interest rate risk arising from
floating rate non-derivative instruments held
by the Group at the end of the reporting
period, the impact on the Group’s profit
after tax (and retained earnings) and other
components of equity is estimated as an
annualised impact on interest expense or
income of such a change in interest rates.
The analysis is performed on the same basis
for 2024.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a
counterparty will default on its contractual
obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group and is managed on a Group
basis. The Group’s credit risk mainly arises
from financial assets and deposits with
banks and financial institutions, as well as
credit exposures to customers, including
outstanding trade and other receivables.
For banks and financial institutions, only
independent parties with high credit rating
are accepted.

3
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HBRIN - LABITIIR)
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 3 HXEREERESEBIAEAFEE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) (&)
(@ Financial risk factors (continued) @ HMBRBEZEE)
(iii) Credit risk (continued) (i) 5 &R (E)

Trade receivables and contract assets BHRWERRANEE
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is AEERH2EERR
influenced mainly by the individual TEXRINEERPZMER
characteristics of each customer rather REBATE MERTP
than the industry or country in which the FIESE1TREPMERR
customers operate and therefore significant At s E&EFEER
concentrations of credit risk primarily FrEREAEZEERZ
arise when the Group has significant FHBEERAR  -RZ
exposure to individual customers. There is TRFE=A=+—8"
a concentration of credit risk in respect of TREGREREKRE
trade and bills receivables as the Group’s RZEFEESRER
sales are made primarily to a few key JE W BR TR A ER K 77% (=
customers. At 31 March 2025, the trade T VOF : 84%) °

and bills receivables from five largest
customers accounted for approximately
77% (2024:84%) of the total trade and bills

receivables.

Individual credit evaluations are performed REBHERBEB—ERE
on all customers requiring credit over a RBEEZMBEREFPET
certain amount. These evaluations focus & Bl 15 AR 1l o thF &Y
on the customer’s past history of making HEHELEENIH
payments when due and current ability IRy 2 & R AC 8k [ IR B 52
to pay, and take into account information e - XEEEFZE
specific to the customer as well as ERPERNEFPHR&
pertaining to the economic environment BREZHEBER - &
in which the customer operates. Trade FRWEBE R —RNEE
receivables are usually due within 150 HE—BATARAAZIEH -
days from the date of billing. Normally, AEBEB-—RIEAEP
the Group does not obtain collateral from Yo B K #R am e
customers.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(@)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(iii) Credit risk (continued)

(iv)

Prepayment, deposits and other receivables

Credit risk in respect of other receivables,
the Group monitors the exposures
and manages them based on historical
settlement records and past experience,
current conditions and forecast of future
economic conditions.

Amounts due from related parties

Credit risk in respect of amounts due from
related parties are limited given that the
Group assesses and closely monitors their
financial conditions and the related parties
have sufficient reserves of resources to settle
the amount as they fall due. Therefore, the
ECL allowance is considered insignificant.

Cash and bank deposits

The credit risk on cash at banks is limited
because the counterparties are banks with
high credit ratings assigned by international
credit rating agencies.
relation to derivative financial instruments,

Transactions in

if any, are only carried out with financial
institutions of high reputation. The Group
has policies that limit the amount of credit
exposure to any one financial institution.
Cash and cash equivalent are normally
placed with major licensed banks.
Management does not expect any of these
licensed banks or financial institutions to fail
to meet their obligations.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and the
availability of funding through an adequate
amount of credit facilities. The Group aims
to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping
credit lines available at all times.

3
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 5 ¥ R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HBRIN - LABITIIR)

3 UHBEREEREMIAAFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(@)

Financial risk factors (continued)

(iv) Liquidity risk (continued)
The table below analyses the Group’s
financial liabilities classified into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the end of the reporting period to
the contractual maturity date. The amounts
disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due

within twelve months equal their carrying

balances as the impact of discounting is not

significant.

(&)

(@)

MBEREEGE)
(ivy RBE SRR E)

TROMAKREZ SR
BfE ZBERKEHRSE
HREAHNIHAKTH
MANDBEABEHA
e RPABRESER
BRARMBEZAERE -
HRR 2 EITE
KRB+ EARIIHZ
MR EREEMRS

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

ERAFRARER
Between Between
Carrying  Less than Tand 2and5
amount 1 year 2 years years Total
RAE JSR-F -Z@ME CZEIf GRS
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
r r r r r
At 31 March 2025 RZBZEF
=R=t-H
Trade payables EHRMEN 432,389 432,389 = — 432,389
Accruals and other payables 5T & F [ H th JE f
iR 192,919 192,919 — — 192,919
Amounts due to related EREELRRR
companies 3,919 3,919 — — 3,919
Amount due to an associate  fEfTEE & A R BR 3k 11,770 11,770 — — 11,770
Lease liabilities HEAR 21,367 5,852 5,570 13,461 24,883
Bank borrowings RITfEE
— without repayableon  — REREX
demand clause EEER 484,626 344,948 126,301 36,275 507,524
— with repayable on _MEREX
demand clause (note) BEEK
(&) 51,533 44,685 8,518 - 53,203
Loan from a controlling BREBERER
shareholder 100,000 3,120 3,882 111,647 118,649
1,298,523 1,039,602 144,271 161,383 1,345,256
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3
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 3 HMEEREERSMIAATE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) (&)
(@) Financial risk factors (continued) @ BHXEREZEGE)
(iv) Liquidity risk (continued) (ivy REVE Rk (#&)
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
SRAFRES RN
Between Between
Carrying  Less than T and 2 and
amount 1 year 2 years 5 years Total
REE SR-F -ZmF ZEnF af
$000 $000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T T T T
At 31 March 2024 R-ZBZRF
ZA=t+-H
Trade payables BHRTEN 462,793 462,793 = — 462,793
Accruals and other payables BT & B R At e {4
o 287,245 287,245 — — 287,245
Amounts due to related eI B E AR
companies 3,696 3,696 — — 3,696
Amount due to an associate  JEfTEE 2 AR BRI 2,331 2,331 = = 2,331
Lease liabilities MEEE 3,605 3,403 282 — 3,685
Bank borrowings RITEE
— without repayable on —REREX
demand clause BEER 404,544 223,457 93,170 117,542 434,169
— with repayable on —MBERER
demand clause (note) BEES 125,148 66,164 58,806 7,199 132,169
1,289,362 1,049,089 152,258 124,741 1,326,088

Note: As disclosed in note 20, the Group does
not consider probable that the bank will
exercise its discretion to demand repayment,
taking into account such consideration as the
prevailing market conditions, its relationships
with finance providers and the status of
compliance with loan provisions to date.
Accordingly, the analysis also includes the
expected undiscounted cash outflows where
the future cash outflows are adjusted based
on the scheduled repayment dates.

MEEE: &0 B sE20FF it - K
EmMEEINEA S
HBRR - REEHE
BMEFTZBEUR
ESBTFERIEZ
BRERK R A
RIT AT Y
BREEREREER -
Bt ZzomER
EHEBARKFER S
M ERRKRE
b =R TE T E
HEHETRE -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern in order to provide returns
for equity shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to
reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the net gearing
ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided
by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total
bank borrowings and lease liabilities less cash
and bank deposits. Total capital is calculated as
the total equity as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

SEASN - LA TTITR)

3 HBEREEREMIAQAFE

7 43
(&)

(b)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN - LABITEIR)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

(o)

204

Capital risk management (continued)

The Group’s strategy, which is unchanged from
prior year, is to maintain an acceptable net
gearing ratio. The net gearing ratios at 31 March
2025 and 2024 are as follows:

3

HHERRBEERREMITAQTE

(%)
(b)

ReABREE(E)
ARETFHETE  BEF

—B - DRRBFTEE 2P
BELE R-B-HER
F-ME=A=+—-B2FR

TEELERNAT:
2025 2024
—E-REF —E N4
$000 $'000
Fr Tt
Total bank borrowings RITEERRE 536,159 529,692
Loan from a controlling ERBRRE R

shareholder 100,000 =
Lease liabilities HERE 21,367 3,605
Less: Cash and bank deposits B RIBTER (191,177) (149,418)
Net borrowings FEE 466,349 383,879
Total equity EmeE 1,078,784 993,004
Net gearing ratio FRELX 43% 39%

Fair value estimation (© AFEEMLE

The carrying value less impairment provision
for trade and bills receivable, other receivables
and trade and other payables are a reasonable
approximation of their fair values. The fair value
of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is
estimated by discounting the future contractual
cash flows at the current market interest rate that
is available to the Group for similar financial
instruments.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ERER 2 7
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HBRIN - LABITIIR)

3 HEEREEREMIAQAFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(9]

Fair value estimation (continued)

The table below analyses financial instruments
carried at fair value, by valuation method. The
different levels have been defined as follows:

— Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1).

— Inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from
prices) (Level 2).

— Inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (that is,
unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

(%)

© AFELEHE
TERNMABBBEEDTRATF
BABZSMTA - FAE

REES AR
5 2 1B (R G 30 B) (5
—@) -

BRTE—EMBRIRE
5h - REEHBEBEZAER
RZHBE  IREREH
10 (B 1%) =X B &% (AR
BEB(E_E) -

A 3 £ 8 T B R 4B
By EEREET BB
(EETBRBE)(E=
B
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

3

206

3 UBEREEREMIAAFE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) (%)
(c) Fair value estimation (continued) © DFEMEF(E)
The following table presents the Group’s financial TRIBAEER_T_RF
assets that are measured at fair value on a A=+ —HUEEEERRD
recurring basis at 31 March 2025: FEFEZEREE:
2025 2024
—E-RHF —TEMF
$000 $'000
Fr Tt
Assets: BE:
Level 3 F=
— Key management insurance — F2ERER
contracts (note 13) & 49
(B 5E13) 19,980 19,465

The Group's key management insurance
contracts categorised in Level 3 are managed
by independent insurers. The fair value of these
insurance contracts is recorded based on the
account value supplied by the insurers.

During the year 31 March 2025, there were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfer
out or into of Level 3 (2024: nil).

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ERER 2 7
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HBRIN - LABITIIR)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 3 HMEEBREEREMIAATE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) (#&)
Fair value estimation (continued) (0 DFEMGF(E)
The movement during the year in the balance FALSE=BLFEFE
of these Level 3 fair value measurements are as B BT
follows:
2025 2024
—E-RE —E-mF
$000 $'000
T T
Key management insurance TEEEERR
contracts CE
Beginning of the year 1 19,465 13,067
Additions Ayl — 5,881
Interest income recognised REEERZME
in profit or loss WA 388 380
Exchange gain recognised RERERZER
in profit or loss e zs — 34
Fair value gain recognised EWF%M%EH&
in other comprehensive income ABRZDFE
during the year s 127 103
End of the year FE 19,980 19,465
There were no fair value gains or losses for the RZEB_RAFR-_T_NF=

years included in profit or loss for these assets

held at 31 March 2025 and 2024.

)EJE‘T‘ AFiEEEELRE
NFEEUZEHEEBRIENE
= e
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208

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES 4
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates may be different from the actual results.
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in future years are
discussed below.

(@ Expected credit loss allowance for trade

receivables

The Group maintains a loss allowances of trade
receivables measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECL of receivables stated at amortised
cost. The loss allowance is estimated using a
provision matrix based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factor that
are specific to the debtors and an assessment of
both the current and forecast general economic
conditions at the reporting date. If there is a
change in the financial condition of the debtors,
actual write-offs would be higher or lower than
estimated.

(b) Write-down of inventories

Inventories are written down to the net realisable
value based on an assessment of the realisability
of inventories. Write-downs on inventories
are recorded where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not
be realised. The identification of write-downs
requires the use of judgement and estimates.
Where the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying value and write-downs of inventories.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group’s chief operating decision-maker (the
“Management”) reviews the Group’s internal reports
periodically in order to assess performance and
allocate resources. The Management has determined
the operating segments based on these reports.

The Group is organised on a worldwide basis into
two (2024: two) major operating segments. They
are (i) metal and plastic business; and (ii) electronic
manufacturing services business during the years
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

The Management considers the business from both
a geographic and products and services perspective.
From a products and services perspective, the
Management assesses the performance of metal
and plastic business and electronic manufacturing
services business. In addition, there is further
evaluation on a geographic basis (Japan, Hong Kong,
Mainland China, Asia (excluding Japan, Hong Kong
and Mainland China), North America and Western
Europe). The Management assesses the performance
of the operating segments based on operating profit.
Segment information provided to the Management for
decision making is measured in a manner consistent
with that in the financial statements.

A measurement of segment assets and liabilities is
not provided regularly to the Group’s most senior
executive management and accordingly, no segment
assets or liabilities information is presented.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by
those segments and the expenses incurred by
those segments or which otherwise arise from the
depreciation or amortisation of assets attributable
to those segments. Segment profit is defined as
the operating profit generated from the reportable
segment before finance income, finance cost, share of
profit of associate and income tax expense with inter
segment profit being excluded.

72 B 3 &
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr 35 #BAIN - LAETTHIR)

5 SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 5 SEW|EST(E)
The segment results for the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-_T-_RAF=A=+T—HILHF
are as follows: BEZneEEWT:
2025
“ECHE
Electronic
manufacturing
Metal and services
plastic business business Others Total
bk EFE%
BRERK RIEK Hith Bt
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
r r i Tr
Segment revenue AHEA
Revenue from external customers MEEEZBA 2,027,028 1,204,282 19 3,231,329
Inter-segment revenue AEHEKA 13,640 - - 13,640
Reportable segment revenue BESPRA 2,040,668 1,204,282 19 3,244,969
Gross profit Y 429,463 42,612 1 472,076
Distribution and selling expenses and ~ DR HEBRAR—K Rk
general and administrative expenses THEHR (136,497) (11,686) (515) (148,698)
Other net income At NFE 4,598 63 640 5,301
Net valuation loss on investment RENEHEBRFE
properties — — (43,653) (43,653)
Segment profit/(loss) PEHEH/(EB) 297,564 30,989 43,527) 285,026
Segment profit includes: AHENERE:
Depreciation and amortisation of nE BERRELNE
property, plant and equipment REH 103,900 2,944 — 106,844
Amortisation of intangible assets BVEE S 2,926 — — 2,926
Write-down of obsolete and RERBHEFE MR
slow-moving inventories 10,111 303 — 10,414
Recognition of loss allowance for trade  E5 Rk EHEREREE
and bills receivables BE BER 10,989 1,881 — 12,870
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HBRIN - LABITIIR)

5  SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 5 2B®WEE)
The segment results for the year ended 31 March 2024 BRE_T_MNE=A=+—HIF
are as follows: BE2oEEBWT:
2024
“TIME
Electronic
manufacturing
Metal and services
plastic business business Others Total
ik ETEX
BBEK RI¥K X At
$'000 §'000 $'000 $'000
Fr T Fr T
Segment revenue 2HBA
Revenue from external customers NEEPZIRA 1,725,255 1,190,648 78 2,915,981
Inter-segment revenue AEHEKA 20,791 - - 20,791
Reportable segment revenue REDHWA 1,746,046 1,190,648 78 2,936,772
Gross profit M 335,988 34,151 — 370,139
Distribution and selling expenses and ~ H#EREEERR—K R
general and administrative expenses THER (102,216) (10,058) 447 (111,827)
Other net income RN 5,035 435 640 6,110
Net valuation loss on investment RENERBEEEFR
properties — — (36,050) (36,050)
Segment profit/(loss) PEHEH/(EB) 238,807 24,528 (34,963) 228,372
Segment profit includes: FHENEE:
Depreciation and amortisation of nE BERRELNE
property, plant and equipment REH 85,556 3,560 37 89,153
Amortisation of intangible assets BYEESH 1,656 — = 1,656
Write-down/(reversal of write-down) of BEREHTE ZHE/
obsolete and slow-moving inventories  ([E % #{ i) 2,579 (1,231) = 1,348
Recognition of loss allowance for trade  EHREHREWERER
and hills receivables B BER 4333 199 = 4,532
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5

212

SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)
A reconciliation of segment profit to profit before
taxation is provided as follows:

oEEE (&)
7 B MY AR E R AR M AT

2025 2024

—E_RE —T-F

$’000 $'000

Fr Tt

Operating profit 78 & A 285,026 228,372

Finance income B M A 2,629 2,704

Finance costs B 75 B 7R (41,086) (42,855)
Share of profits/(losses) R RN g

of associates wm A (EE) 1,007 (1,222)

Profit before taxation B 750 AT & 247,576 186,999

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue
and (ii) the Group’s property, plant and equipment,
investment properties, intangible assets and
investment in an associate (the “specified non-current
assets”). The geographical location of revenue is
based on the country in which the final destination
of shipment is located or services are provided and
properties are located. The geographical location
of the specified non-current assets is based on the
physical location of the asset, in the case of property,
plant and equipment, investment properties and the
location of the operations to which they are allocated,
in the case of intangible assets and investments in
associates.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HBRIN - LABITIIR)

SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

The Group's revenue

5

2 EB R E (F)

Specified non-current assets

AEBEZBA EEERBEE
2025 2024 2025 2024
“E-Rf ZT-NmF -E-HF ZT-NE
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Tr T T T
Hong Kong (place of domicile) BB (FEM) 1,123,733 1,089,865 16,108 23,660
Japan AX 17,267 39,509 — —
Mainland China B A 655,549 604,411 839,004 842,567
Asia (excluding Japan, Hong Kong &M (T B2EBA
and Mainland China) EBERFEAL) 264,931 221,396 176,929 142,289
North America 6% M 734,168 549,995 — —
Western Europe 75 B 435,681 410,805 — —
Sub-total g 2,107,596 1,826,116 1,015,933 984,856
3,231,329  2,915981 1,032,041 1,008,516
The Group’s customer base includes four (2024: four) AEBAFNA(ZT M :-WA)R

customers with whom transactions have exceeded
10% of the Group’s revenue. For the year ended
31 March 2025, the total revenue from sales of
merchandise in the metal and plastic business and
electronic manufacturing services business, including
sales to entities which are known to the Group to
be under common control with these customers,
amounted to approximately $2,814,531,000 (2024:
$2,630,416,000) and arose in all geographical
regions in which the businesses are active. Details
of concentrations of credit risk arising from these
customers are set out in note 3(a)(iii).

The Group’s sales are made primarily to a few key
customers. For the year ended 31 March 2025, the
revenue derived from five largest customers accounted
for approximately 90% (2024: 92%) of the Group’s
total revenue.

FzRHERBBEAEEI%Z W
AeBE-_T_RAFE=-A=+—H
JtEJ* KEAWHERSPRBER

ETrEERIXEB2ERES
WA (BIERBAERRTASE 1
EXPHRAZH 2 ERBZHE) D
#2,814,531,0007C (= & = Y 4 :
2,630,416,0007T) * I R A B8 %1
ERZAEMHERBEL - 5

E‘:PTLEEJ—L RRENERF 2
5 & 7 7 B 5 3()(iii) °
REB 7 HHETERHLRAH

BEHEK HE-_ZE-_AF=HA
=+—HLEFE REEREFZ
WAEAEERIALIO% (ZF
Z PO 1 92%) °
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN - LABITEIR)

6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 6 ME BERRZ®E
Land use Properties Fixtures and Furniture and
rights and leased for ~ Construction- leasehold Tools and computer
leasehold land Buildings ownuse in-progress improvements  Machinery equipment  equipment Total
tHERER RER FRR
HErH B HENEAR ERIE VES B% IEREE EERE af
§000 §'000 §000 §'000 §000 §'000 §000 §'000 §000
fn fr fn fr fn fn fn fn fn
Cost: B
AT April 2024 RoZ-mE
mA-A 211491 415,292 20,127 174 168,274 724,069 95,846 132,668 1,577,941
Adjustment 2% - — - — (2,412) - - - (2,412)
Additons 5g - 2013 23419 7 53,689 19,692 58,863 5045 162,797
Disposals i - - - - - (3,296) (856) (3,249) (7400)
Reclassification L] - - = = 094 = (694) = =
Exchange adjustmens RARE - - 1,261 - 2,022 580 345 132 9,584
AL 31 March 2025 RZEZRE
ZR=t-A 1491 417,305 44,807 250 222,267 746,289 153,504 134,59 1,740,509

Accumulated depreciation, it E - BHR
amortisation and AERE:
impairment losses:

AT April 2024 R-Z-mE

mA-A 8,331 79,733 16,886 = 74,953 520,883 63,203 120,693 884,772
Adjustment ik = = = = (2,412) = = = 2,412)
Charge for the year EEMR 423 10,596 5,685 = 12,981 44,997 25,089 6,873 106,844
Written back on disposals BHEzHE - = = = = (2,932) (801) (3,245) (6,978)
Reclassification ] = = = = 19 = (19) - -
Exchange adjusiments iR LS - - 1,090 - 433 543 % 13 2175
At 31 March 2025 RZZZRE

ZA=t-H 8,754 90,329 23,861 = 85,074 563,491 87,658 124,334 984,401
Net hook value: FEFE:
At 31 March 2025 RIR-RE

ZA=t-H 12,737 326,976 20,946 250 136,203 182,798 65,846 10,262 756,108
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HBRIN - LABITIIR)
6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 6 Y% BERR®E(E)

Land use Properties Fixtures and Furniture and
rights and leased for ~ Construction- leasehold Tools and computer
leasehold land Buildings ownuse in-progress  improvements  Machinery  equipment  equipment Total
THERER RER EAR
BELH BF BENZAR EEIE  hike BE  IARRE EhRE Ak
§000 §000 §000 §000 §000 §000 §000 §000 §000
Tr T Tr T T T T T T
Cost: BA:
AT April 2023 Ot St
mA-A 0117 296,576 20,853 130,734 161,072 047,322 92,989 132,581 1,504,904
Additions mE = 066 921 13,173 15,521 107,793 9,119 5,57 152,450
Disposals it & - - - - - (1,405) 701) (735) (2,641)
Reclassfication ERipiE - 135,866 - (136,060 19 9) 29 - -
Exchange adjustments R EiLS (1,286) (17,816) (1,647) (7,673) (8,513) (29,612) (5,590) (4435) (76,572)
At 31 March 2024 R-F-mE
ZA=t-A 1,491 415,292 20,127 174 108,274 724,069 95,846 132,608 1,577,941
Accumulated depreciation, it E - BHR
amortisation and HEFR:
impairment losses:
AT April 2023 i S—
mA-A 8,354 74,942 12,037 = 06,733 500,318 54315 117,557 834,256
Charge for the year ERAR 0 9,178 5,786 = 11,561 41,683 12,865 7,65 89,153
Written back on disposals RitEz#E = = = = = (807) (702) 698) 2,207)
Reclassification EEipE - - - - - (1) I = =
Exchange adjustments BEAZ (447) 4387) 937) — (3,341) (20,310) (3,186) (3,822) (36,430)
At 31 March 2024 R-B-m%F
ZA=+-A 8,331 79,733 16,866 — 74953 520,883 03,293 120,693 884,772
Net ook value: REAE:
At 31 March 2024 R-E-DRE
=A=t-A 13,160 335,559 3,41 174 93,321 203,186 32,553 11,975 093,169
Depreciation and amortisation expense of Ir & M # B B 99,363,000
$99,363,000 (2024: $81,907,000) and $7,481,000 7T(=Z & = MM % :81,907,0007T)
(2024: $7,246,000) has been charged to cost of &7481,000c(= T — 1§ &F:
revenue and general and administrative expenses, 7,246,0007T) 7 All 5 AL A B AR K
respectively. —MRITHER -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN - LABITEIR)
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 6

(@)

¥k BERRKEGE)

Right-of-use assets @ EHEEREE
The Group’s interests in right-of-use assets at AEBGEEREEE R
their net book values are analysed as follows: REREF BT
2025 2024
—E-RE —E-MF
$’000 $000
T T
Leasehold land and buildings REAEFAEZEE -
in Hong Kong, held on M AEF10E509F
leases between 10 to 50 HA 2z 78 & (B &% (i)
years (note (i) 1,454 1,559
Land use rights and buildings 70 f Bl $5 A 1 30 (% A #
in the PRC, held on leases KIEF102 504 8
between 10 to 50 years 2 18 & (Bt =% i)
(note (ii)) 338,259 347,160
339,713 348,719
Properties leased for own use MEMFXBRAZITER
carried at depreciated cost B A (B 7 (iii))
(note (iii)) 20,946 3,241
360,659 351,960
Notes: B E
(i) Leasehold land and buildings in Hong Kong held () HEEBHELIHREFHE
for own use BA

The Group holds several buildings for its office and
warehouses. The Group is the registered owner of
these property interests, including the whole or part
of undivided share in the underlying land. Lump
sum payments were made upfront to acquire these
property interests from their previous registered
owners, and there are no ongoing payments to
be made under the terms of the land lease, other
than payments based on rateable values set by the
relevant government authorities. These payments
vary from time to time and are payable to the
relevant government authorities.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED = R B B = IR B R 2 7
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

6  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

(@)

(b)

Right-of-use assets (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Land use right and buildings in the PRC held for
own use

The Group holds several buildings for its factories.
The Group is the registered owner of these
property interests, including the underlying
land use rights. Lump sum payments were made
upfront to acquire these property interests from
their previous registered owners, and there are no
ongoing payments to be made under the terms of
the land lease.

Properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use other
properties as its warehouses through tenancy
agreements. The leases typically run for an initial
period of 2 to 5 years with no extension options.
None of these leases includes variable lease
payments.

Buildings leased out under operating leases

The Group leases out an insignificant portion of
factories located in PRC under operating leases.
The leases typically run for an initial period of 1
year. None of the leases includes variable lease
payments. Undiscounted lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases in place at the
reporting date will be receivable by the Group in
the coming year is $nil (2024: $nil).

SEASN - LA TTITR)

6 MX BERRHEE)

(@

(b)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 F #

ERREEEHE)
i aE (4

(i) HFEFEIHEAEREF
=P
AEERBBAETETIEAMR
F-AKEBERLEYEER
(BREELERE 2
MAEBAN REBA—F1B
T8 SR A b ) 5 2 B RE AR
BREANKBYZED A%
3 AR R 4 M A E R KE
FEETZMR -

BEERNEEDA
AEBCEBEEGEM
EBYMEEARAB AR
e AESNBESBAE
ERERMETEEE - 1
SHERSOETRDHEE
3 -

(iii)

BELEHEEEZEF
AEBEBNUKEREZ A H
ANRPBRZ— N HE -
HHSVNBEEAE—F  HFE
HEMERENEHBEN
Fo AEBRBEATHEEZ
TAIBECERETZ REXR
WERAERKES AT (=
T FE T e

217



Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN - LABITEIR)
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218

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 7 BREWE
2025 2024
—E-RE —ZE -
$000 $'000
T T
Beginning of the year F 1] 229,068 281,865
Additions //J\\E 129 41 0
Fair value loss NEEERE (43,653) (36,050)
Exchange differences HiaER S (17,157)
End of the year FE 185,544 229,068

The investment properties are under construction
and located in the PRC under lease terms of 40 years
expiring in August 2050 to January 205T.

Fair value measurement of properties

(@) Fair value hierarchy
As at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, the fair
value measurement of the Group’s investment
properties is categorised into Level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair
value measurement.

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and
2024, there were no transfers between Level
1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level
3. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers
between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the
end of the reporting period in which they occur.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Z R B B 2= R E R 2 7

RABZERTREVETDIRIE
REN+F(R=ZTERATFNAE
—ER-F-AFHZHEENM
SR

MEZ AT ENE

(a)

NFERER
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

7 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
Fair value measurement of properties (continued)

(@)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The valuation of the Group’s investment
properties as at 31 March 2025 was conducted
by Masterpiece Valuation Advisory Limited,
an independent professional valuer, which has
among its staff members of Hong Kong Institute
of Surveyors. The investment properties were
valued on the basis that it would be suspended
in development in accordance with the Group’s
latest development proposals. The Chief Financial
Officer has discussion with the independent
professional valuer in the valuation assumptions
and valuation results when the valuation is
performed at each annual reporting date.

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is
recognised in the line item “net valuation losses
on investment properties” on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements

Valuation approach

fHER%E

SEASN - LA TTITR)

7 REWHEE)

ME2LATFEFEE)
(@ DFEEBRE)

(b)

Unobservable inputs

FABREZBE

R-_E-_RF=A=+—8"
REBZREMERLBILE
(T HENTEBRERA
AfAE - EEEBERBAIE
MEBesrg88 KEMED
BEASESHERERS
EERE AR EETH
B -ESREFEREBET
HER EFEVBEREBEYE
XM EEREKMEE
HERETH®R -

BREMEZRTFEABIRN
REBRmR EZ[REMEM
BEEFE|—AER -

FHEE=-EBRAVEFTEZE
*ﬁl

Range
i)

Investment properties-land  Direct comparison
in the PRC method
REWE — RPEz I BELEE

Investment properties- Direct comparison

property under method
development in the PRC
REW® —RPEz  BELEE

ERME

Adjustment factor on time, size and
location of the properties

RE - DEEERUEZAEARER

Adjustment factor on time, size and
location of the properties

BE - DEXEERUEZAEAER

-15% to -10%
(20241 -20% to -5%)
-15%—-10%
(ZFZmF:
-20%—-5%)

-15% to -10%
(2024: -20% to -5%)

15%—-10%
(ZEZmF:
-20%--5%)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN - LABITEIR)

7

220

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
Fair value measurement of properties (continued)

(b)

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements (continued)

The fair value of land that in the PRC classified
as investment properties is determined using
the market comparison approach by making
reference to the comparable sales transactions
as available in the relevant market was adopted.
The adjustment factors used have been adjusted
for the size and location of the properties. The
fair value measurement is positively correlated to
the adjustment factors on size and location of the
properties.

The fair value of property under development
in the PRC classified as investment properties is
determined using the residual method by making
reference to the comparable transactions or
asking cases as available in the relevant market
and it had taken into account the construction
costs incurred and profit with a discount on
suspended construction. The adjustment factors
used have been adjusted for the size and location
of the properties. The fair value measurement is
positively correlated to the adjustment factors on
size and location of the properties.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Z R B B 2= R E R 2 7

7

REWE(E)
ME2LAFEFEE)

(b)

BFEFE=-ZEBRAVEFTEZE
®(E)
RFBESHER/RREMEZL
w2 RFETIERTSLER
EEE  WBEMREmSAE
BALBHERS - EAZ
HAERNZERVWEZEER
EETHE RFEAE
HEYEMBERIUE 2 AER
=JJIEEAMRE -

RPBESBEAREMEZE
BWEZRAVFETERFG
REE  W2EREMISAE
BALBHER S YW E
BEAHEERBILECESL
ZEBKRAREFRT 2
FE - EFRAZHABRRERE
BYWERzEBERUEETH
B -RAFEFEEYEEE
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HBRIN - LABITIIR)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

8 HEFEE

Computer
software
B HH
$'000
T
Cost: RN
At 1 April 2024 MRZZTZMEmMA—H 16,643
Additions NE 44
At 31 March 2025 RZE-_RF=A=+—H 16,687
Accumulated amortisation: Rat#Ee:
At 1 April 2024 R-ZZE-MFM@A—H (12,819)
Charge for the year (note 25) FE B (B 7E25) (2,926)
At 31 March 2025 R-ZE-_RF=HA=+—H (15,745)
Net Book Value: BREFE:
At 31 March 2025 R-ZZE_RAF=H=+—H 942
Cost: )5 N
At 1 April 2023 and at 31 March 2024 RZZE_=FNW—AK
S R-FB-_WN#=A=+—-H 16,643
Accumulated amortisation: Ret#Ee:
At 1 April 2023 R-ZZEZ_=FMHA—H (11,163)
Charge for the year (note 25) FE B (M 7E25) (1,656)
At 31 March 2024 RZEZME=H=+—H (12,819)
Net Book Value: BREFE:
At 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_WME=H=+—H 3,824

Amortisation of $2,926,000 (2024: $1,656,000) was
included in general and administrative expenses in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year

ended 31 March 2025.

BHE_ZT_-_AF=A=1+—HIt&E
[+ 2,926,0007T 2 #H(—ZZF =M
% :1,656,0007T) BERTREE®
KPR —MRITHER -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN - LABITEIR)

9 SUBSIDIARIES 9 Vol NG|
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the RARBIR_ZE_hF=A=+—H
Company as at 31 March 2025 are: FEWNBRARI ZER:

Place of incorporation/

establishment and Principal activities and Particulars of issued/ Interest
Name types of legal entity place of operation paid-up capital held
i/ HI%R
tH EERBRER IRXRREELA BRf/BERAZEE  FERE
Karrie Industrial Company Limited Hong Kong, limited liability  Sale of server casings, office Ordinary shares of 100%
company automation products, visual §1,000

accessories, plastic and metal parts, ~ Non-voting deferred

metal stamping dies and plastic shares of $5,000,000

injection moulds and provision of (i

management services, Hong Kong
FHERARAR ERERELLT BERRENR BAEXEER-  EEKL000T 100%
vRAN 2BReRAN 2B ERZRELK
RERAREBRARRAEER 5,000,007 i)

mht

=il

Karrie Technologies Company Limited ~ Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Manufacturing and sales of plastic Ordinary shares of 100%
company parts, sales of metal stamping $30,000,000

dies and plastic injection
moulds, provision of electronic
manufacturing services and
investment holdings, Hong Kong
i RERBEZRUN 2BREER  TBR300000007 100%
FrRA RUTTEXAIR
BREEER &R

i

FNRRBRERDA BRAR

m|
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HBRIN - LABITIIR)

9 KERRE)

SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Place of incorporation/

establishment and Principal activities and Particulars of issued/ Interest
Name types of legal entity place of operation paid-up capital held
i/ HIBER
tH EERBRER IRXBREELA BRfT/BERAZEE  FERE
Karwin Engineering Company Limited ~ Hong Kong, limited liability  Design, manufacture and sale of Ordinary shares of $10 100%
company server casings, office automation Non-voting deferred
products and visual accessories; sale shares of $100 (i)
of plastic and metal parts, metal
stamping dies, plastic injection
moulds and investment holdings,
Hong Kong
FEBRIRARLA ERBRRELT Rt RERBEARENG WD EERwoT 100%
EXEERRTRAN BEEE  ERFRELR
FEBIf  SBREEARIE 1007 )
RARREZR FE
REEEREEBLOARA The PRC, limited liability ~ Manufacture of server casings, office Paid-up capital 100%
company automation products and metal $174,755,000 (i)
parts, the PRC
RERRATAA RERRENR WOEZXEERR  CHEER55,0007 100%
e ELRLE (i
REBEEREBLEARAA The PRC, limited liability ~ Manufacture of server casings, office Paid-up capital 100%
company automation products, visual $129,823,000 (iii)
accessories, moulds and plastic
parts; provision of electronic
manufacturing services, the PRC
PEERALD RERHERRENG WOEXE  EHEA29823,0007 100%
En TRAK BEARZBHA i)
RERETEXAIRE ©@
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SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

9

224

Place of incorporation/

9 KERRE)

establishment and Principal activities and Particulars of issued/ Interest
Name types of legal entity place of operation paid-up capital held
i/ HIB%R
tH EERBRER IRXBREELA BRf/BERAZEE  FEBRE
REREETEZRRRA The PRC, limited liability ~ Property holding, the PRC Paid-up capital 100%
company $428,000,000 (iv)
PEERAMLAA BENE 4 B &£ 75426,000,0007 100%
(iv
ERZHBBARREERAA The PRC, limited liability ~ Property holding, the PRC Paid-up capital 100%
company 15$20,000,000 (v)
PEARAMCAA #ENE T8 B &1720,000,000 100%
£
HEBHEZARAT The PRC, limited liability ~ Property holding, the PRC Paid-up capital 100%
company USS16,000,000 (vi)
RERRATAA SRR B 414 716,000,000 100%
70
Karwin Thai Advanced Technology Thailand, limited liability ~ Manufacturing and selling of server Paid-up capital 100%
Industrial Limited company casing and metal parts, Thailand THB448,450,000
FARRALLA RERBEARENAREESS - CHEZ448450,000 100%

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Z R B B 2= R E R 2 7
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(iii)

(iv)

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (58 &AM - LA TLHIR)
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Notes:

The non-voting deferred shares have no voting rights,
are not entitled to dividends, and are not entitled
to distributions upon winding up unless a sum of
$200,000,000,000 has been distributed by the relevant
companies to holders of the ordinary shares.

REBEMZBE2BRSER QA is a wholly-owned
foreign enterprise established in the PRC with an
operating period of 15 years up to 19 May 2026.

REBEMELERBRASEMR AT is a wholly-owned
foreign enterprise established in the PRC with an
operating period of 15 years up to 24 May 2026.

ERBEEFEEXARAT is a wholly-owned foreign
enterprise established in the PRC with an operating
period of 25 years up to 18 February 2030.

EHZMNEBERERZEEFR LA is a wholly-owned
foreign enterprise established in the PRC with an
operating period of 40 years up to 2 December 2049.

HHEGFEXAERADAF is a wholly-owned foreign
enterprise established in the PRC with an operating
period of 40 years up to 22 March 2051.

AR (&)
W g

() ERERETCRHOEERZER T
EESZRERKRIEBERARTE
BREFERMELTERRRELER
$8200,000,000,0007C © & B % &
BHEEIZEMDIE °

iy REBEERBBEBASERAFTD

fﬁ¢l&j%§%ﬁ%§ﬁ¥
HEZHMBATREF  R_T-X
FRA+ABER -

iy RxBE=L2BASERARD
—#¢I&j%§%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ¥
HEZHRAETREF  RZT=-X

FRAAZTMARER

(ivv REREEFTEXERQAALI N
TEKZEERAIEDLE  HE
EHRR_THF  R-ZT=FF
“AtNRER -

v EERMNBBAERZEBARAA
Ti—1 Ei?l)ﬂ%i%’é%ﬁﬁl\ﬁﬁ
X HEXHRAN+E
OMAF+=—A-BER® -

i) EEBFEEARA —R
Iﬁkiééi‘éﬁ*ﬁ_’il\ém% HEX
HRAO+4  W-ZTh—F=A8
—tZHEW -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN - LABITEIR)

10

226

INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES 10 REEQARIZRE
2025 2024
—E-RE —E O
$’000 $'000
F T
Share of net assets EREEFE
Beginning of the year F 1] 82,455 82,810
Share of profits/(losses) of FEMRER & RA 2w A,
associates for the year (& ?E) 1,007 (1,222)
Share of other comprehensive BB E R E 2
income of an associate H b 2w A — 2,070
Exchange difference HRER 5,985 (1,203)
End of the year FIK 89,447 82,455
Balances with an associate HEE NTR 2 &8
Amount due to an associate FE B & N A BR 3K
(note 32(b)) (Bt 5E32(b) 11,770 2,331

The outstanding balances due to an associate are

unsecured,
and are denominated in RMB.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ERER 2 7

interest-free and repayable on demand,

BERRRHRKEERNZE

BT - TEAE - LEBKKE
B RAARBRENMN-



10

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

Notes to the Financial Statements

INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Particulars of the associate of the Group is as follows:

SHEAYN - LUBTTEIR)
10 REBEEQARAZRE(E)
AEBEBERR ZFMIBRUOT

Proportion of ownership interest

BERRLA
Place of establishment ~ Principal activities and Particulars of issued and ~ Group's effective ~ Held by
Name of associate  and types of legal entity  place of operation paid up capital interest a subsidiary
RIHR BR{T/BARA
BENRER EERREN TERRREERE PA:3 AREERER  AKELARAE
EREBHZARE  The PRC, limited liability  Research, sales of industrial ~ Ordinary shares of 30% (2024: 30%)  30% (2024: 30%)
RAERAT company robots and robot RMB10,000,000 (2024:
(%)) peripheral automation Ordinary shares of
(“Cuifeng”) equipment, and RMB10,000,000)
provision of automation
solution, the PRC
PEERRLAT B% BEIXBEAR  ERBARE0000000  30% 30%
EEINGE DGR (CE-RF - ERR (ZR-R%: (Z2-mE:
RREMEBLRAAR  AREI00000007T) 30%) 30%)
P
T. Krungthai Industries - The Kingdom of Thailand,  Manufacturing plastic Ordinary shares of 38.99% 38.99%
Public Co., Ltd limited liability products, and produce THB350,780,000 (2024: 38.99%) (2024: 38.99%)
("TKT") company moulds (note) (2024: Ordinary shares
of THB350,780,000)
ZEERELLT BEBBHHRER LEMR350780,000% % 38.99% 36.99%
(K (C2-mF EBkK (ZB-R%F: (ZF-m%:
350,780,000% &) 38.99%) 38.99%)

Note: TKT is a listed corporate entity on Stock Exchange of

Thailand whose quoted market price is available.

All of the above associates are accounted for using
the equity method in the consolidated financial

statements.

TKTR BB FRZAEE - X
BETERE -

&

bt 2B E QR DR ERER
RAPBmMERAR -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN - LABITEIR)

10 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 10 REBEQARZRE(E)
Summarised financial information of the associates BESHTBRRZEMNEERFNRR
adjusted for any differences in accounting policies and ZEERTMBERBE - g
reconciled to the carrying amount in the consolidated B WK 2 BREE # 1T 8 R
financial statement are disclosed below: Banh

TKT Cuifeng

Rig

31 December 31 December 31 March 31 March
2024 2023 2025 2024
“ENE Z—E-ZF CZE-Hf —T_QNF
+=A +=A =A =A
=t-8 =t-H =t-8 =t-H
$000 $'000 $000 $'000
Fr T Fr T

Gross amounts of the associates H& ATz BH

Current assets mEE E 121,336 117,176 69,088 52,009
Non-current assets ERBEE 142,916 130,597 2,648 3,593
Current liabilities nEEE (94,200) (100,009) (22,583) (9,621)
Non-current liabilities ErBasE (22,517) (12,758) (279) (891)
Net assets/equity BEFE/BH 147,535 135,006 48,874 45,090

For the For the

year ended  year ended

from from

1 January 1 January

2024 to 2023 to

31 December 31 December
2024 2023 2025 2024

H-B-NF #-F-=F
—-A—-BZ —A—-HZ

—E-ME —T-=F

+=8 +-A
=+-B%E =t-BfE -ZT-1Hf =—T-@EF
$'000 $'000 $'000 $000
Fr T Tr T
Revenue KA 250,798 265,656 59,300 66,500
(Loss)/profit for the year EF(ER)/ & (328) (5,825) 3,784 3,496

Total comprehensive (loss)/income & 2 E (&1#8),/

for the year N X (328) (516) 3,784 3,496
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx 5B 5t8A5N - ALY TR)
10 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 10 REZEQATIZRE(E)

TKT Cuifeng
Hig
31 December 31 December 31 March 31 March
2024 2023 2025 2024
“ECME CZT-=fF ZE-RF ZToQEEF
+=A +=A =R =A
=t+-H =t-H =+-H =t—-H
$'000 $'000 $'000 $000
Tr T T T
Reconciled to the Group's interests 3 &i 2 7% & 8 }A B &
in the associates AR ZEH
Gross amounts of net assets of the Ei & A7) 2
associates FEERR 147,535 135,006 48,874 45,090
Fair value adjustments on WEPERZ
identifiable intangible assets EREVEE
upon acquisition RTERE — — 28,404 28,404
Fair value adjustment on WEPERZ
identifiable net assets upon AHREEE
acquisition ATEAE 25,816 25,816 — —
Capital injection by the Group AEEITE — — (12,960) (12,960)
173,351 160,822 64,318 60,534
Group's effective interest TEEZERER 38.99% 38.99% 30% 30%
Group’s share of net assets TEBEEKE QTR
of the associates BEEE 67,589 62,704 19,295 18,160
Goodwill BE — — 3,943 3,943
Impairment losses recognised HEEERR — — (2,490) (2,490)
Exchange difference RBER 1,110 138 — —
Carrying amount in the REaRBRET
consolidated financial FEE
statements 68,699 62,842 20,748 19,613
Market value of the listed shares — FTf&{p m1E Not Not
Appl|cab|e Appllcable
33,030 55,145 AR 1~ E A

The statutory financial year for TKT is 31 December.
The Group has recognised the share of result of TKT
for the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December
2024 (2024: 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023).

TKTZ A EVBREABEEZ+_A
=+—H -AEBEHERIFEZ
E_NE-A-BE-E-ME+=
A=+— H%ﬁﬁﬁﬂdZ%FL_
T_NE:_TE-_=ZF—H—HZF

T _=F+_A=+—H)-
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230

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORIES 11 RENI2EZE®MIA
Financial assets measured
Financial assets measured at fair value through other
at amortised cost comprehensive income Total
BAVETARBZERA
NBEHRAHEZEHER LEREE a4
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
g 32 a1} g 3 1} - g 3 2
§000 §000 §000 §/000 §000 §/000
n T Tr T Tr T
Assets BE
Trade and bills receivables 2 7R E 15 e Mt
(note 12) ARV 621,016 619,157 — - 621,016 619,157
Prepayments, deposits and Bf% B4R
other receivables (note 12)  Eft U 3
(f3t12) 149,406 82,862 — - 149,406 82,862
Other financial assets Htepaz
(note 13) (Ri3E13) — — 19,980 19,465 19,980 19,465
Cash and bank deposits & RB1EH
(note 15) (Wi 3¥15) 191,177 149,418 - — 191,177 149,418
Amounts due from related  EMBEELE K
companies (note 32(0)  (FFE32(b) 10,908 3,345 = = 10,908 3,345
972,507 854,78 19,980 19,465 992,487 874,247
Financial assets measured at
amortised cost
D#EmAtECemAE
2025 2024
—E_RHE —E-ME
$’000 $'000
Fr Tt
Liabilities afE
Trade payables, accruals and other B 5 E{JBRX « FEET
payables (note 19) ERRHMERNERK
(Pt 3£19) 657,992 770,477
Bank borrowings (note 20) R1718 5 (M1 5E20) 536,159 529,692
Loan from a controlling shareholder #% % i% 3 & X
(note 21) (B 5E21) 100,000 —
Amount due to an associate JE 1<) Bt & A B BR 3K
(note 10) (FF5E10) 11,770 2,331
Amounts due to related companies J& 1< 8 i& A & BR 3¢
(note 32(b)) (B #£32(b)) 3,919 3,696
1,309,840 1,306,196
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HBRIN - LABITIIR)

12 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS, 12 BEZREBEWER FAMR - &
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES & Hfth B UK BR X
2025 2024
—E-RE —E N4
$’000 $'000
T3 ¥
Trade and bills receivables Bk ZHEEKERR 641,070 626,341
Less: Loss allowance for trade and  J& : B 5 & Z & fE UK IR
bills receivables REBEEE (20,054) (7,184)
621,016 619,157
Prepayments, deposits and other ~ FBff 3 ~ & & &
receivables H th & Y BR 3K 149,406 82,862
770,422 702,019
Less: Other non-current assets W EMIEREE E
(note) (B 3%) (87,403) (29,353)
683,019 672,666
Representing: Ra&k:
Trade and bills receivables, B EHERWER -
net of allowance Mer R E 621,016 619,157
Prepayments, deposits and BRR - Ee Rk
other receivables o B WBR K 62,003 53,509
683,019 672,666
Other non-current assets HM3Ems&EE 87,403 29,353
Note: Other non-current assets represent deposits paid Mizr: HMFERDEEKRKKBEDE -
for the purchase of property, plant and equipment BMERZEREVAEZEM
and intangible assets amounted to approximately B & 2 B|H# /587,403,000t (=
$87,403,000 (2024: $29,353,000). = — P04 : 29,353,0007T) °
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232

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS,

DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
The Group generally grants credit periods ranging
from 30 to 90 days, except for six (2024: six) of the
customers who is granted a credit period over 90
days. An ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables,

12

BEZRE }F'FE”&E'ET)\ %E{-J-H‘A 1:
SRHMEBEWERIR(E)

BREPASU(ZEDMF: SO E
P2 E BB NEE—R

wTEPZEMHBE30HAEIH - B
SHREBEEREFTIZEZEHG

based on invoice date, is as follows: HZHREBEDTOT
2025 2024
—E-RE —E-mF
$’000 $'000
Fr T+
0 to 90 days 0Z290H 584,882 599,932
91 to 180 days 91£2180H 36,846 24,886
181 to 360 days 1812 360H 18,849 1,518
Over 360 days 360H A 493 5
641,070 626,341

The carrying amounts of trade and bills receivables,
prepayments, deposits and other receivables
approximate their fair values.

The receivables are expected to be recovered within
one year. Any amounts not expected to be recovered
within one year are not included in current assets.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade and
bills receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As
the Group’s historical credit loss experience does
not indicate significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the loss allowance based
on past due status is not further distinguished between
the Group’s different customer bases.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Z R B B 2= R E R 2 7

B REBERIRR  BAR &
T REMEBRER ZREERE
N ERT

EREFREHE-—FAKD - I
mMeEBEHRAIAeE—FAKDA
TEERRABEEN -

AEBESRRBERBER 2B
BRBAERENBEAFENZ
ﬁ%ﬁf%%Zi% % B 18
BERBBERTHE - ARAKHE
ZF%FE%%%%I*%%T
AEPHZBEREATEREE
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HBRIN - LABITIIR)

12 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS, 12 BEFREBERWERN  BAAR - &
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) ERHEMEBBWRERGE)
The following table provides information about the TREMRHNR=A=1T—HEH
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade and AEBEESGREBRREREE
bills receivables as at 31 March: B fe & T8 Bl (5 E B 18 -
2025
—E-HEF
Gross

Expected carrying Loss

loss rate amount allowance

FHEEER REAE BiEEE

% $’000 $’000

Fr Tr

Current (not past due) &R (K@ H) 0.21 562,918 1,211

1 to 90 days past due #ER1ZE90H 5.15 56,413 2,909

91 to 180 days past due #1 H1912180H 55.40 13,017 7,212

Over 180 days past due # ER180H A £ 100.00 8,722 8,722

641,070 20,054

2024
—E-NF
Gross

Expected carrying Loss

loss rate amount allowance

TEHEEX FREAE EEREE

% $'000 $'000

T T

Current (not past due) EREI(REHE) 0.11 557,611 597

1 to 90 days past due BHEI1ZE90H 6.38 66,239 4,225

91 to 180 days past due #1 B191£180H 92.81 1,794 1,665

Over 180 days past due #HR180 R A £ 100.00 697 697

626,341 7,184
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12

234

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS,
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience in the past. These rates are adjusted to
reflect differences between economic conditions
during the period over which the historic data has
been collected, current conditions and the Group’s
view of economic conditions over the expected lives
of the receivables.

Movement in loss allowance account in respect of
trade and bills receivables is as follows:

12

BEREEREWERR AR &
EREMEBERERRE)

BHEBERXENRBEZERER
BE - WENREHBEARRY S
FES 2R HIm 2 BN BA
AR R0 AN SR (B S R U RR SR TR B R
HzRBERABEZLHAZER -

BME DR E R R R
BB T

2025 2024

—E_-REFE —EMF

$000 $'000

T F 7T

Beginning of the year F 9] 7,184 2,679
Recognition of allowance FRREE TR

during the year 12,870 4,532

Exchange difference HBER — (27)

End of the year FE 20,054 7,184

The recognition of allowance for impaired receivables
is included in general and administrative expenses in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired
related to a number of independent customers that
had a good track record with the Group. Based
on past experience, management believed that no
impairment allowance was necessary in respect
of these balances as there had been no significant
change in credit quality and the balances were still
considered fully recoverable.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of
the reporting period is the carrying value of trade and
bills receivables, deposits and other receivables stated
above. The Group does not hold any collateral as
security.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Z R B B 2= R E R 2 7
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HBRIN - LABITIIR)

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS,
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

credit quality of the Group’s trade and bills
ivables, deposits and other receivables that

are past due but not impaired has been assessed

by r
coun
do n
soun

eference to the historical information about
terparty default rates. The existing counterparties
ot have significant defaults in the past and have
d financial position to their liabilities past due.

Therefore, the specific ECL allowance is considered

12

EZREBRERWERN AR &
TR EMEBBYRERR(E)
2ERARFPHRXERN  A&H
HeRHmMEARREZES REE
FEU BR 3K 1R & N Eo At FE M BR X
ZIEREELERFG  REEFPB
EXREERERTHEEEER
%%%#ﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁf°

CRHERBMEESRERA /Y
$@%°

insignificant.
OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 13 Hthe®mEE
2025 2024
—E-RHE —EpF
$’000 $'000
T Tt
Financial assets measured BEAFEFAEMER
at FVOCI (recycling) WA FTEB)EZ
SREE
— Key management insurance — FEERERRELD
contracts (unlisted investments) (GEEMERE)
(note (i) (B 3£ ) 19,980 19,465
Notes: Mt -
(i) At 31 March 2025, the insurance contracts represented i)y RZZE-_AF=ZA=+-—H ' ZR
life insurance plans with investment elements relating BEARTEEMEZEIEZEEREA

to two key management personnel of the Group. The
total sum insured is US$11,141,000 (approximately
$87,120,000) (2024: US$11,141,000 (approximately
$87,120,000)), with an annual minimum guaranteed
return of 4.2% to 5.25% for the first years and 2.0% for
the years afterwards.

At 31 March 2025, if the Group terminated the insurance
contract, the account value, net of a surrender charge
of US$2,382,000 (approximately $18,627,000) (2024:
US$2,307,000 (approximately $18,039,000)), would be
refunded to the Group. The amount of surrender charge
decreases over time and is no longer required from the
18th year of contract conclusion onwards.

BrZBEERNOZ ASRE - B1R
B A11,141,0003 7t (487,120,000
JC)(=Z = /0 4 : 11,141,0003 T
(#87,120,0007T)) * B FHIERF
E3REAFFL42%5E5.25%K% H1%
FF2.0% °

RZZE-_RAF=A=+—H' AR
EERIEZRBRAL RBEFE
BEMNBRERIRE % 52,382,000%
JC(#918,627,0007T) (ZZ — PO 4 :
2,307,0003 7£(4918,039,0007T) ) &
Bl A o RARIRE BEFFE s
ERZENETERETN\FRTAR
HY o

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 £ $& 235



Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 ¥ 3R MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN - LABITEIR)

14

236

INVENTORIES

(@)

(b)

14

Inventories in the consolidated statement of

&

@ REAMBURRARZIFEE

financial position comprise: ¥
2025 2024
—E-HE —EZOF
$000 $'000
T TIT
Raw materials JR# # 121,315 99,777
Work-in-progress + 2K 86,434 85,570
Finished goods B AR & 293,447 326,909
501,196 512,256

The analysis of the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense and included in “cost
of revenue” in the consolidated statement of

profit or loss (note 25) is as follows:

b)) FEZLHERRRIER

EBRRER

BRARAMEA

B AN (Bt 3£ 25) D AT a0

2025 2024
—E-RE —E N4
$’000 $'000
F T Tt
Carrying amount of inventories sold E&F & 2

REE 2,307,931 2,137,094

Write-down of obsolete and PRERFHTE
slow-moving inventories 2 HORR 10,414 1,348

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ERER 2 7
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (58 &AM - LA TLHIR)
15 CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS 15

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

RERBITEX
@ ReRBESEBYWEHE:

2025 2024
—E-HE —E-mF
$’000 $000
F 5 Fr
Cash at bank and in hand RITERERBE S 118,515 91,274
Deposits with banks with 3 months =1& A3k 5 %2 2| Hj
or less to maturity when placed ZIRITFE R 72,662 58,144
Cash and cash equivalents in the REEERESHE
consolidated cash flow statement E{H 2R & K
B4 = EY 191,177 149,418
Notes: B 3T -

The bank balances of RMB20,997,000 (equivalent
to HKD22,677,000) and RMB28,197,000 (equivalent
HKD$30,453,000) as at 31 March 2025 and 2024
respectively placed with banks in Mainland China are
subject to relevant rules and regulations of foreign
exchange control promulgated by the People’s Republic
of China (“the PRC”) Government.

RZEBE-_RAF=A=+—HBRZ-ZZ-_NF
ZA=+—HBHEAFE R RITZRT
ek o BB A R20,997,0000T (FHE R
22,677,0007T) & A K #28,197,0007T (A8
B 130,453,00000) ' HETFRPAEAR
SR B (7P B ) BT P 78 45 2 1N EE B 6
150 K AR Al o
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15 CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS (CONTINUED) 15 RERBITERGE)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from b BMEZBDFELEZEEYHER
financing activities R o
The table below details changes in the Group’s TRAMAEBKREREE
liabilities from financing activities, including both ZEBEE2E BEADNIE
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising Re@y MEEHEL L
from financing activities are liabilities for which BERHEBATRENBEX
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, *KEHK%?éﬁ‘f/ﬁ%
classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow RPERARBMEETYMESE
statement as cash flows from financing activities. RengzBE -

Loan from a
Bank Lease controlling
borrowings liabilities ~ shareholder Total
BITEE HERE ZRRRER aft
(Note 20) (Note 22) (Note 21)
(Hf &20) (Hf &£22) (Kt & 21)
§'000 §'000 §'000 §'000
i Tr Tr Tr
At 1 April 2024 R-B-QmE
e BRZR D992 305 SO
Changes from financing cash flows: BEREHEZ
28
Proceeds from new bank borrowings #1718 & 2
FER 605,581 — — 605,581
Repayment of bank borrowings BRBITRE (602,763) = — (602,763)
Proceeds loan from BRREEHZ
a controlling shareholder e - = 100,000 100,000
Capital element of lease rentals paid EffHEM % 2
ERHH - (5,851) — (5,851)
Interest element of lease rentals paid B EH &2
fEHn — (998) - (998)
Interest paid ENHE (39,257) = = (39,257)
Total changes from financing RERGREL
Ccashilows RgeE IR R L2
Exchangeadjustments  REA% % LI =
Other changes: E2s:
Increase in lease liabilities HERBZEM = 23,419 — 23,419
Interest expenses M E X 39,257 998 — 40,255
Total other changes L@ gmpE 39,257 24,417 — 63,674
At 31 March 2025 R-B-5%
=B=t-H 536,159 21,367 100,000 657,526
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15 CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS (CONTINUED) 15 BEREBITERE)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from by METBAMELE2EEBEHER

financing activities (continued)

(%)

Bank Lease
borrowings liabilities Total
RITEE MEBE At
(Note 20) (Note 22)
(F 5%20) (B 5E22)
$'000 $'000 $'000
T T T
At 1 April 2023 R-B-=#F
... RBA-B 052,372 A7 662,109
Changes from financing REREREZ
cash flows: BE:
Proceeds from new bank MRTEEL
borrowings R 630,950 — 630,950
Repayment of bank borrowings ~ BERITEE (753,630) — (753,630)
Capital element of lease rentals  ENHERE 2
paid BAREH — (6,267) (6,267)
Interest element of lease rentals BN HERE 2
_ EED - 343) 343)
Interest paid ERFE (42,512) — (42,512)
Total changes from financing MEREREZ
Ccashflows kypwe® (06519 6610) (171,802)
Exchange adjustments  G@#= = 786) (786)
Other changes: Hitt# 8
Increase in lease liabilities MEBEZEM — 921 921
Interest expenses MEX 44,463 343 44,806
Capitalised borrowing costs BRLEERAR (1,951) — (1,951)
Total other changes HehEaam(E 42,512 1,264 43,776
At 31 March 2024 R-ZB-NF
=ZA=+-H 529,692 3,605 533,297
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15 CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS (CONTINUED) 15 RERBITERGE)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases c HERESARHLAE
Amounts included in the cash flow statement for RREREXRANZHEHESEE
leases comprise the following: BENRT:

2025 2024
—EB-HF —E-mF
$’000 $'000
T T
Within operating cash flows MEEXEBES
MEZNRN 7,908 8,010
Within financing cash flows REERE
mMEZN 6,849 6,610
14,757 14,620
16 SHARE CAPITAL 16 BRZA
2025 2024
—EC-RE —E-mE
Number of Nominal Number of Nominal
shares value shares value
BROEE HE &t B HE
000 $'000 ‘000 $'000
T Tr ¥ T
Authorised: FEERAK:
Ordinary shares of HK10 cents TEREREE
each 10741 4,000,000 400,000 4,000,000 400,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTREMRERE:
Ordinary shares of HK10 ERREREE
cents each: 10784 -
At the beginning and FORER
the end of the year 2,021,459 202,146 2,021,459 202,146
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

16 MR

SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

(a)

During the year ended 31 March 2025 and 31
March 2024, no share option has been exercised
to subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company.

SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

(@)

Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme
on 24 August 2012 (the “Scheme”) under which
it may grant options to employees of the Group
(including executive directors of the Company)
and other third parties to subscribe for shares
in the Company, subject to a maximum of 30%
of the nominal value of the issued share capital
of the Company from time to time excluding for
this purpose any shares issued on the exercise of
options. The exercise price will be determined
by the Company’s board of directors and shall
at least be the highest of (i) the closing price of
the Company’s shares on the date of grant of
the options, and (ii) an average closing price of
the Company’s shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the
options.

(a)

SEASN - LA TTITR)

V8=
(A5

HE-_T-_hAF=A=+—H
F—E-NF=ZA=+—HIE
FEAN AR REEMAKRG
HERITEARBLER -

17 AR 0 15 3R B

(@
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FHRTEEREMEIT R
11)30%BBR - ZIBREITE
BEBARAICEESET -
AR ARIRMD AR ERERT
AzlmE: RiHBEEXTE
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D2 TE -
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17  SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

242

(@)

Share Option Scheme (continued)

On 11 August 2014, a total of 18,000,000
share options (the “2014 Share Options”) were
granted to certain qualified participants of the
Group (including an executive director of the
Company) under the Scheme. The 2014 Share
Options entitle the grantees to subscribe for a
total of 18,000,000 new shares of $0.10 each in
the share capital of the Company. Depending
on the financial performance of the Group and
other conditions of the 2014 Share Options, not
more than 50% of the 2014 Share Options were
vested on 1 August 2015 and not more than 50%
of the 2014 Share Options were vested on 1
August 2017. The exercise price of the 2014 Share
Options is $0.419 per share, which represents
the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares
of the Company of $0.405 per share as stated
in the daily quotation sheet issued by the Stock
Exchange on the date of grant; (ii) the average
closing price of the shares of the Company of
$0.419 per share as stated in the daily quotation
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares
of the Company of $0.10 per share. All the 2014
Share Options were accepted by the grantees.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED E R B R E R 2 7
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17 SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

(@

Share Option Scheme (continued)

On 27 October 2016, the Company granted a
total of 24,700,000 share options (the “2016
Share Options”) to certain qualified participants
of the Group (including executive directors of the
Company) under the Scheme. The 2016 Share
Options entitle the grantees to subscribe for a
total of 24,700,000 new shares of $0.10 each in
the share capital of the Company. The exercise
price of the 2016 Share Options is $0.70 per
share, which represents the highest of (i) the
closing price of the shares of the Company of
$0.70 per share as stated in the daily quotation
sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on the date
of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the
shares of the Company of $0.656 per share as
stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by
the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii)
the nominal value of the shares of the Company
of $0.10 per share. All the 2016 Share Options
were accepted by the grantees.

On 20 April 2021, the Company granted a total
of 15,000,000 share options (the “2021 Share
Options”) to certain qualified participants of
the Group (including executive directors of the
Company) under the Scheme. The 2021 Share
Options entitle the grantees to subscribe for a
total of 15,000,000 new shares of $0.10 each in
the share capital of the Company. The exercise
price of the 2021 Share Options is $1.69 per
share, which represents the highest of (i) the
closing price of the shares of the Company of
$1.69 per share as stated in the daily quotation
sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on the date
of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the
shares of the Company of $1.484 per share as
stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by
the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii)
the nominal value of the shares of the Company
of $0.10 per share. All the 2021 Share Options
were accepted by the grantees.

SEASN - LA TTITR)

17 URHBSHREH(EZ)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN - LABITEIR)

17 SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 17
(@ Share Option Scheme (continued)
(i) The terms and conditions of the Share

BURR 3 15 SR B (42

@ BRESE)
(i) BB ARAE 2 5 3K % A6k £ 40

Options are as follows: I
Exercise ~ Number
price per  of share Vesting
share  options condition Expiry date
sk
THEER BREXE BT #HRH AR
Share options granted BRERTFES:
to directors:
—on 11 August 2014 — R=ZT—[MF $0.419 5,000,000 Not more than 10 August 2024
NB+—H 5,000,000 share options
vesting on
1 August 2015*
% #5,000,00013 ko 115
BRER-_ZT-1F NATH
NA—HEE*
—on 11 August 2014 — =T -4 $0.419 5,000,000 Not more than 10 August 2024
NA+—H 5,000,000 share options
vesting on
1 August 2017*
% #5,000,00013 e 113
BREX-Z-tF  JATH
NA—BEEB*
—on 27 October 2016 — R-F—~&E $0.70 3,150,000  Vesting on 1 July 2017 26 October 2026
+AZt+AH
RZZ—t# ZTIRE
tR-BEE +A=+,H
—on 27 October 2016 — R-F—X~&E $0.70 3,150,000  Vesting on 1 July 2018 26 October 2026
+A=++AH
RZZ-N\%F —ECRE
tA-BEEB TAZ+~H
—on 27 October 2016 — R-ZE—~F $0.70 4,200,000  Vesting on 1 July 2019 26 October 2026
+A=++AH
RZZ-NEF i S
+tA-BREB +AZ+<H
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HBRIN - LABITIIR)

17 SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 17 BRGNS HRME)
(@) Share Option Scheme (continued) @ BRESSEZE)
(i) The terms and conditions of the Share (iy BRREZEREEEN
Options are as follows: (continued) T (%)
Exercise ~ Number
price per  of share Vesting
share  options condition Expiry date
=103
TRER BREHE B G# HHBH
—on 20 April 2021  —R=F-—F $1.69 3,150,000 Vesting on 20 April 19 April 2022
mA=+A 2021
—E-—F “ECCF
MAZTHER MA+HA
Share options granted BRERFEI:
to employees:
—on 11 August 2014 — RZZT—M4F $0.419 4,000,000 Vesting on 1 August 10 August 2024
NAt+—H 2015
“E-1F “T-NF
NA—BEE NA+A
—on 11 August 2014 — RZZ—MF $0.419 4,000,000 Vesting on 1 August 10 August 2024
NAt+—H 2017
Bt i 13
NA—BRE NA+A
—on 27 October 2016 — R-F—X<&E $0.70 4,260,000  Vesting on 1 July 2017 26 October 2026
+A=t+H
RZB—+F —ECR
tA—-B%E t+AZtAXAH
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN - LABITEIR)

17 SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 17 DRGNS ®EM(Z)
(@) Share Option Scheme (continued) @ BRESTEE)
(i) The terms and conditions of the Share (i) BEIRHE 2 &R A& A a0
Options are as follows: (continued) T (%)

Exercise ~ Number

price per  of share Vesting
share  options condition Expiry date
B
TEER BREMR BF Rt A
—on 27 October 2016 — R-F—K<&E $0.70 4,260,000  Vesting on 1 July 2018 26 October 2026
+A-++H
R-ZB-\%F It Sy 2
tA—-BBE TAZTRH
—on 27 October 2016 — R-ZE— K F $0.70 5,680,000  Vesting on 1 July 2019 26 October 2026
+A-t+E
R-F-N%& ik ¥
tA—-BREB THAZT<AH
—on 20 April 2021 —R-F-—F $1.69 11,850,000 Vesting on 20 April 19 April 2022
MA=+H 2021
“E--F “S--F
MA-THEE mA+AR
Total number of share B [ 22 & 57,700,000
options
e The vesting of the Share Options granted * MARBATEERT
to an executive director of the Company is 2B BBEURAR
subject to the performance of the Group and RERE 2 B R A MK
other conditions. o

246 KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ERER 2 7



Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B &SN - LAETTHIR)

17 SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 17 LRG| (42)
(@) Share Option Scheme (continued) @ BRESTEE)
(ii) The number and weighted average exercise (i) BEREZHBEXMEFY
prices of share options are as follows: TTEENT:
2025 2024
—EC-RE “E-mE
Weighted Weighted
average  Number of average  Number of

exercise price share options exercise price share options

& ¥ BRE  MEFH W I 1

THRE A T8 &8
'000 ‘000
T T

Outstanding at the RE W iE RTTHE

beginning of the year $0.7 2,000 $0.7 2,000
Exercised during the year AT — — — -
Lapsed during the year —~ FRA% M $0.7 (850) - -
Outstanding at the end RN [ i R 1T

of the year $0.7 1,150 $0.7 2,000
Exercisable at the end ~ RFEAITE

of the year $0.7 1,150 $0.7 2,000
The Share Options outstanding as of 31 R-BE_RF=HA=1+—
March 2025 had an exercise price of $0.7 B mARITEE 2 B
(2024: $0.70) per share and a weighted ZATRE®KR0.707T (=
average remaining contractual life of 1.57 T M :0.707T) K AN
years (2024: 2.57 years). During the year BT EELF .57
ended 31 March 2025, 850,000 share F(ZF W F:257
options have lapsed (2024: nil share F)oe BE—_TE-_RHF=
options have lapsed). The value of vested A=t—RHLEFEER "
options which lapsed during the year was 850,000 (= & — [0 £ :
amounting to $595,000 and was released EIRBERW - RFER
directly to retained profits (2024: $nil). MEFBBEREZEE

£595,0007C (= & — M
F:ER)EEFARE

R o
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN - LABITEIR)

17 SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 17 ARG (E)
(@) Share Option Scheme (continued) @ BRESTEE)
(iii) Fair value of the Share Options and (iii) BREZAFLERREBR

assumptions

The fair value of services received in return
for share options granted is measured by
reference to the fair value of share options
granted. The estimate of the fair value of
the 2014 Share Options and 2016 Share
Options granted was measured based
on the Trinomial Model, after taking into
account the terms and conditions upon
which the share options were granted.
The contractual life of the share option
and expectations of early exercise were
incorporated into the Trinomial Model. The
significant assumptions and inputs used in
the valuation model are as follows:

Fair value of and assumptions for 2014
share options

Fair value at $0.176 to

measurement date $0.194
Share price $0.405
Exercise price $0.419
Risk-free interest rate 1.97%
Expected volatility 52.84%
Expected dividend yield 2.47%
Expected exercise multiple 2.2t02.8

Fair value of and assumptions for 2016
share options

Fair value at $0.239 to

measurement date $0.271
Share price $0.70
Exercise $0.70
Risk-free interest rate 1.00%
Expected volatility 51.27%
Expected dividend yield 5.00%
Expected exercise multiple 1.8 to 4.0

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED = R B B 1= IR B R A 7

P 2 R i BUE R F IR
) AR AT 158 3% B AU 2 AR
B2 R FEIZ2RMAEK
HERE 2 A TEAE -
Pt =2 — /U8 BR 4
MZZ-—RNEBEREZRA
FEMHARGFRZEFE
PR AR h 2 1R K
B RRE =R ER
TR BRBZANTF
HEREITE AR
MAZBAELR - 4
BEEAMERNZEAR
R BEMT

—E-IBERELQTE
AR &

REtERZ $0.176%

NS $0.194
M E $0.405
T E $0.419
= b A X 1.97%
R 1R 52.84%
HHRE 2.47%

W 55 =

BHITFEEEH  22%2.8

—E-R"ERERAFE
&N R

RtER2Z2 $0.239F

¥E $0.271
1B $0.70
1TEE $0.70
= 3 R X 1.00%
T8 HA K 1R 51.27%
78 Hii% B 5.00%

BHITERSE  1.824.0



Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HBRIN - LABITIIR)

17 SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 17 URGAHRMEZ)
(@) Share Option Scheme (continued) @ BRESSEZE)
(iii) Fair value of the Share Options and (iii) BREZAFLERREBR

assumptions (continued)
Fair value of and assumptions for 2021
share options

Fair value at $0.2509 to

measurement date $0.2520
Share price $1.69
Exercise $1.69
Risk-free interest rate 0.05%
Expected volatility 44.58%
Expected dividend yield 5.00%
Expected exercise multiple 2.2t02.8

Risk-free interest rate is based on the yields
of the Hong Kong Exchange Fund Notes at
the grant date. Expected volatility is based
on the historical volatility (calculated based
on the weighted average remaining life of
the share options). Expected dividend yield
is based on historical dividend trend of the
Company and expected future dividend
policy determined by management.

The vesting of the share options granted are
subject to the performance of the Group
and other conditions. Such non-market
conditions have not been taken into account
in the grant date fair value measurement
of the share options. There are no market
conditions associated with the share options
granted.

The Trinomial Model is subject to certain
fundamental limitations because of the
subjective nature of and uncertainty relating
to the assumptions and inputs to the model
as well as certain inherent limitations of
the model itself. Any changes in the above
assumptions or inputs may materially affect
the fair value estimation.

(&)
—E--BREALAFE
KR &

RitEHZ $0.2509%

NS $0.2520
1B $1.69
THE $1.69
== b A X 0.05%
8 HI K 1R 44.58%
BHRE 5.00%

Wz =

EHTERZS  22%28

BERBRANXEREERE
SNEESBEHAEREH
ZWas R o BEHKIE R
R 2R e (IR 1% BB AR
1 2 DN AE 15 R 64 B IR
ArE) - HHREREE
INVNET AL § 5 5
REBEBRAARKBE
BUR e

Rz BikiE 5B I
RINAEBZ ZERE
i 168 #F o 1tk 3F T 35 16 1
EZBRERD AR
ERINRAFEZTE -
RAERA BRI R E
HEcmEEENHZ
e

CHARBEFRLEEN
REl - REBZHEENME
AEREEBIEZINEE
- ARETEAEREA
REZBRM - EARER
% BUR B R &L Al aE
HRFEMLHAELEEX

==
rE°
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN - LABITEIR)

17  SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

250

(@)

(b)

Share Option Scheme (continued)

(iv) The total expense recognised in profit or
loss for the year ended 31 March 2025 in
respect of the Share Options is $nil (2024:
$nil) (note 26(a)).

Share Award Plan

On 30 August 2023 (“the Adoption Date”),
a share award plan (the “Share Award Plan”)
was approved and adopted by the board of
directors of the Company under which shares
of the Company may be awarded to selected
participants which include employees, directors,
service providers of the Group. The purpose of
the Share Award Plan is to recognise and reward
the contribution of certain Eligible Participants
to the growth and development of the Group
and to provide incentives in order to retain them
for continual operation and development of the
Group; and attract suitable personnel for further
development of the Group.

Unless otherwise cancelled or amended, the
Share Award Plan shall be valid and effective for
a term of 10 years from the Adoption Date and
shall expire on 29 August 2033 unless terminated
earlier by the Board. Details of the Share Award
Plan are set out in the circular of the Company
dated 28 July 2023.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Z R B B 2= R E R 2 7
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

17 SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Share Award Plan (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the
trustee of the Company for the purpose of
the Share Award Plan at the direction of the
Board purchased an aggregate of 5,796,000
existing shares of the Company from the
market amounting to approximately $3,247,000.
The acquired shares were recognised and
accumulated in equity under the heading of
“Treasury shares and shares held for share award
plan”.

The Share Award Plan was subsequently
amended on 25 June 2025.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, details of
the shares awarded are set out below:

SEASN - LA TTITR)

17 URBSHREH(EZ)

(b)

B 43 58 B 5t &8l (42)
BHE_ZT_-_RAF=A=+—
AEFEEARA - A2aBKRH
HEtEmZHEE E
5,796,000/ R &) 2 &7 * &
%8 49 £3,247,0007T ° P B A%
MEEEZFUIEGFRHG X
D EENETEIFA 2R ]IB
BETHERMES -

Bein B2 B a8 E 1R
FARNAZTHRAESR

N_—_E-FH

Jti&“lfﬂ Tx%ﬁxfﬁzuil A
T

Fair value per Number of
Date of award Vesting period share shares awarded
BER#Hz
¥R BEA MY BR¥FHE RBYE
1 August 2024 1 August 2024 to 0.80 5,720,000
1 August 2025
—T_MENA—H f?flﬂi)\ﬁ H=
—E-AF/\A—H
The fair value of the awarded shares was based BRYRDZAFETIDRER

on the closing price per share that was publicly
traded on the Stock Exchange at the date of
grant and adjusted to account for the dividends
The
dividends are held in trust by the trustee during

associated with the awarded shares.

the vesting period, grantees are entitled to these
dividends, which will be payable or transferable
upon vesting.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the
share-based payments relating to the Share
Award Plan recognised as an expense in profit or
loss amounted to HK$3,026,000 (2024: HK$nil)
(note 26(a)).

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 F #
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EREABREBELRL
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B 7% AR MY aE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN - LABITEIR)

18 OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS 18 ELfth ek 5 R AR B 7 Al
(@) Group @ F*&£HEH
Other reserve
AR
Other Treasury
financial shares and
Capital ~ Share-based assels shares held
Share Capital Merger  redemption ~ compensati revaluati Translation for share  Total other Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve award plan reserve earnings
Ehed ERRHR
5 URHRA £ RA&BHY f
BOEE 4Rk AKEE  REBE MERE  EfBE  BERRE  ROBE  BEEE  REE
(Note 17(b))
(K& 170)
$000 $000 $000 §000 §000 §000 §'000 §'000 §'000 §'000

fn frn fn fn fn fn fn T frn fn

Balance at 1 April 2024 RZB-mEMA-R
A3 301,098 2,608 (38,000) 1941 352 256 (79,226) - 189,229 601,629

Proft for the year EREN - - - - - - - - - 204,481
Remeasurement of provision for & B & & &

long service payment LEHiE - - - - - - - - - 129
Dividends paid in respect of the  2ELFER S

previous year - - - - - - - - - (80,858)
Dividends paid inrespect of e B EAFER S

current year - - - - - - - - - (50,536)
Currency translation differences EMAEEE - - - - - - 12,658 - 12,658 =
Fair value gain on other financial £t 4 BEELTE

assets (recycling) bLSACETE) - - - - - 17 - = 17 =
Share of other comprehensive  E(EBEDE 2

income of associate Efg2ERA - - - - - - - - - -
Treasury shares and shares EFRARRG &

purchased for share award plan &7 A E = S = = = = = (3,47) (347 =
Vesting of shares of share award 13 13 82

plan kA58 - - - - - - - 3,026 3,026 =
Release upon lapse of share ~~ REX M 2B

options - - - - (595) - - - (595) 595

Balance at 31 March 2025 R-B-1%=5
St-Azés 301,098 2,608 (38,000) 1941 @3) 383 (66,568) (221) 201,198 675,440
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B 5 ¥ R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HBRIN - LABITIIR)

18 OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS 18 HitRERREGER(E)
(CONTINUED)
(@) Group (continued) @ XEBE)
Other reserve
Kbk
Other Treasury
financial shares and
Capital  Share-based assels shares held
Share Capital Merger  redemption ~ compensati Juati Translat for share  Total other Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reseve  award plan reserve earnings
sl ERRHR
Bx NRbGRA BEz FOECEE] i
R iEE EREE  AMEE  BEEE IMeER  EMER  HEHE  CRhEE BREE REEA
(Note 17(b)
(Fz17(b))
§000 §000 §000 §000 §1000 §000 §000 §000 §000 §000

T T fn fn tn tn n tn i T

Balance at 1 April 2023 R-g=Z%RA-A
B8 301,098 2,608 (38,000) 1,941 552 153 (24,007) — 244285 490,331

Profit for the year FRET = = = = = = = = = 169,659
Remeasurement of provision for & B & & &

long service payment LEFHE - - = = = = = = = 213
Dividends paid in respectof ~ BKEFERE

the previous year - - - - - - - - - (30,322)
Dividends paid in respectof ~ EEAEERE

the current year = = = = = = = . = (30,322)
Curtency translation differences  EHEZE - = = = = = (55,159) = (55,159) =
Fair value gain on other financial - EH £ BEEATE

assels recycling) & (EER) - - - - - 103 - - 103 -
Share of other comprehensive  E(EB AR 2

income of associate EH2ERA = = = = = = = = = 2,070

Balance at 31 March 2024 R-B-mE=§
St-Rzgs 301,098 2,608 (38,000) 1941 552 256 (79,226) = 189,229 601,629
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B 7% AR MY aE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr 35 #BAIN - LAETTHIR)
18 OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS

254

18 HRBHERREBH (&)

(CONTINUED)
Company (b) AT
Other reserves
RiRE
Other ~ Treasury
financial ~ shares and
Capital Share-based assets  shares held
Share  redemption  Contributed compensation  revaluation ~ forshare  Total Other ~ Retained
premium reserve  supls  resee  reseve  awardplan  resene  eamings
ERRAR
&x HEB%f RheREE RAZMHE L4
RiEE  WERE  HARR JHERR ZEGEBRE  (REEE  REEE  RERA
(Note 17(h)
(Bf & 17(0)
§1000 §/000 §000 §1000 §000 §/000 §1000 §/000
T i i i i i i i
Balance at 1 April 2024 R-B-mE
BA-Rz48 301,09 1,941 193,185 55 U — 496,800 87,37
Profitfor the year ERRA - - - - - - - 98,369
Remeasurement of provision for long & S £ B8 2
service payment Eifit g - - - - - - - 3
Dividend paid in respectof the ~~ BIE LEERE
previous year - - - - S - = (60,858
Dividend paid in respect of curent~ EFAEE 2
year - - - - - - - (50,536)
Fairvalue losses on other financial £ £BEELTE
assets fecycling ZER(TER) - - - - 0) - 0) -
Treasury shares and shares purchased R R i £ B33l
forshare award plan LBHEE - - - - - (3,47 (3,47 -
Vesting of shares of share award plan 1% £ 813782
hi5E - - - - - 3026 3026 -
Release upon lapse ofshare options ~ FRE X1, Bl - - - (595) - - (595) 59
Balance at 31 March 2025 e k3
SBSH-R2EE 3010 196 ®) n Q) B 4%
Balance at 1 April 2023 Rogzzg
BA-B2k& 301,098 1941 193165 52 3 - s 4%
Profi for the year EgaT - - - - - - — 100
Remeasurement of provision for long & S £ B8 2
service payment Bt e - - - - - - - (104
Dividend paid in respectof the ~~ BJE LEERE
previous year - - = = = = = (30322
Dividend paid in respect of curent 2 EAFE 8
year - - - - - - - (30,322
Fairvalue losses on other financial £ £BEELTE
assets (recycling) 2 EBR(TER) - - = - (1) = (12 >
Balance at 31 March 2024 R-8ZRF
ZRE-RzkB 301,09 1941 193165 32 U . A
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

18 OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS
(CONTINUED)

(b)

(0

Company (continued)

Under the Bermuda Companies Act 1981,
contributed surplus is distributable to
shareholders, subject to the condition that the
Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or
make a distribution out of contributed surplus if
(i) it is, or would after the payment be, unable
to pay its liabilities as they become due, or (ii)
the realisable value of its assets would thereby
be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its
issued share capital and share premium account.

At 31 March 2025, the aggregate amount of
reserves available for distribution to equity
shareholders of the Company was $248,115,000
(2024: $280,512,000). After the end of the
reporting period, the directors proposed a
final dividend of HK3.0 cents per ordinary
share (2024: final dividend of HK4.0 cents per
ordinary share), amounting to $60,633,000 (2024:
$80,858,000) (note 30a). This dividend has not
been recognised as a liability at the end of the
reporting period.

Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from
the translation of the financial statements
of entities outside Hong Kong. The reserve
is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 2(w).

SEASN - LA TTITR)

18 HittRERERREER(E)

(b)

(0
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éfEZT'ﬁ’“IEF@H% i
RE %IE&HE§§TTHx$&
B HE AR AR - BIAR

AITAEM  AIRE - it
BABBRIELDIK °

RZE-_RAF=A=+—H"
AHSEGARERFEALZ
15 1 42 % 5248,115,0007T (=
T~ /4 : 280,512, ooofc)
REBHKREZE EFSERR
BRBAREERE @Hﬁ 075
W ZEZmF: RBPREF
H& EI @ HX“—.O/;\ELE TIJJ) 7 %,E E
60,633,0007C (= & — Y 4 :
80,858,0007T) (Y 7E30(@a)) °
I AR BR 3 45 HA R I oK T 3R
RBE

MEZMEREW
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BB IR IEM 2w
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN - LABITEIR)

18 OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS
(CONTINUED)

256

(0

Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(i) Merger reserve

Merger reserve represents the difference
between the consideration paid and the
net book values of the acquirees and debt
capitalisation during reorganisation due to
spin-off and separate listing of KRP Group.

(iii) Other financial assets revaluation reserve
The other financial assets revaluation
reserve comprises the cumulative net
change in the fair value of other financial
assets held at the end of the reporting
period and is dealt with in accordance with
the accounting policies set out in note 2(f).

(iv) Capital redemption reserve

During the year ended 31 March 2025,
upon cancellation of 850,000 shares, an
amount equivalent to the par value of
the shares cancelled of $595,000 was
transferred from share capital to the capital

redemption reserve.

18 HitREERERERF(F)

(0
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HEZMHEREWN(E)
(iiy &0t E

B REE BB R R
WEhzREENMESR
BB LT EAH
REFENMCZER -

(i) HtbeMEEEMGHE
HtheMEESRFHRE
BRERARBEHRFTALZ
HitcmMEERAFEZ
REEEHFE LRE
ffEE2(h) B 5 2 & 5T R

BRig o

(iv) EXREE A

HE_ZEZ_-_HAE=A
=+ —HBLEFEA-

850,000 A% {7 #% 5F 35 - 4
& 7 595,0007T B 5T $85 i%
MEEZSBHBRAE

BMEEANFORE



Notes to the Financial Statements
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HBRIN - LABITIIR)

19 TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER 19 BESZENENR EtEARHEME
PAYABLES R
2025 2024
—E-REF —EUE
$000 $'000
Fr Tt
Trade payables HZEMES 432,389 462,793
Accruals for short-term lease EErREHEE
expenses 1,928 1,928
Accruals for purchase of property, [EETHEEMHE - BEX
plant and equipment & 21,095 21,242
Salaries and staff welfare payable [EfT & & &k B T#E7F 97,605 128,205
Other payables and accruals H A FE A5 RR AR % JE BT
&M 72,291 116,168
Receipts in advance (see note (a)  FBYER K (R T 71
below) BT 5% () 32,684 40,141
225,603 307,684
657,992 770,477

The carrying amounts of trade payables, accruals and
other payables approximate their fair values. All trade
payables and accruals as at 31 March 2025 and 2024
are expected to be settled within one year.

BHRNER B ERARHEME
NERZEEESAQFEMEI -
RZE_AFR-_T-_NF=H
=+—HZFBEESEMNEXR  H
HEMNERKEFERBBHN —
FRNEN
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19 TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER 19 BESENER EBtEARHEHME
PAYABLES (CONTINUED) AR (&)
Trade payables ageing analysis, based on invoice date, BHRNETZEZARFE R
is as follows: BT
2025 2024
—E-ERE —E-MF
$’000 $000
Fr T
0 to 90 days 0£90H 387,796 416,208
91 to 180 days 91£2180H 42,132 42,881
181 to 360 days 1812 360H 1,839 3,378
Over 360 days 3608 A £ 622 326
432,389 462,793
(@) Receipts in advance @@ TR
Typical payment terms which impact on the BUKRERTZTECDHERAENE
amount of contract liabilities recognised are as B2 BENRIERET
follows:
— Manufacturing segment — HEXDH
When the Group receives a deposit before EAEBRELEERDHA
the production activity commences, this will BATW B IR - &8
give rise to contract liabilities at the start EEHFRELESNEA
of a contract, until the revenue recognised & BICHRZERNK
on the project exceeds the amount of the ANBBEETERIL -
deposit. The amount of deposit is negotiated RecBREARBR
on a case by case basis with customers. HESHE -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HBRIN - LABITIIR)

19 TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER 19
PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

Receipts in advance (continued)

BEZRNERN B ERARHEME
R (&)
@@ FEWRNKE)

Movements in contract liabilities: aHhaEzEF:
2025 2024
—E-HE —E N4
$’000 $'000
T Tt
Beginning of the year F 10 40,141 172,732
Decrease in contract liabilities as 75 A #& 32 F 1)
a result of recognising revenue BHBREBZEE
during the year that was included YW AZB &L
in the contract liabilities at the BERL
beginning of the period (19,702) (147,572)
Increase in contract liabilities as U B T8 1+ BR 3K
a result of receiving receipts in BYENEE
advances 2 10 12,245 15,706
Exchange difference =R S (725)
End of the year FIK 32,684 40,141

As at 31 March 2025, the amount of receipts in
advance expected to be recognised as revenue
after more than one year are $nil (2024: $nil).

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its sales contracts
for manufacturing products and properties
development such that information about
revenue that the Group will be entitled to when
it satisfies the remaining performance obligations
that had an original expected duration of one
year or less need not to be disclosed.

R-ZE_AF=A=+—H"
BERER (T _NF - &)
BN —FRERBRUA -

AEECBBBMIEHRELE
BISE1I5SR B121R 2 A 1THEE
FERAREREEXERE]
EXERIHESH  ALLER
AEERBZEEERARTE
TEEREARR A — F s AT 2 F 84
BHOBFEZHABRA - EER
TEEELEE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 4 259



Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 ¥ 3R MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN - LABITEIR)

20 BANK BORROWINGS 20 WITEE
2025 2024
—E-RE —ZE -
$000 $'000
F T
Portion of bank borrowings —FREEXXEER

repayable within one year or are B EE KRR I 5
subject to repayment on demand AR ENBE 2 RIT
clauses, and classified as current & B &5

CNabilities L L SERpE
Portion of bank borrowings —FRERLASER

repayable after one year and FEMBREZIRITE

classified as non-current liabilities & &85
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRER_-FA 119,500 83,859
After 2 years but within 5 years —FRBEBEREFA 35,000 112,000

154,500 195,859

Total bank borrowings IRITEERLT 536,159 529,692
Representing: Ra&k:
Secured (note (ii)) B AR (BT 3T i) 28,750 15,630
Unsecured 7 3 13 507,409 514,062
Total bank borrowings IRITEERSE 536,159 529,692
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20 BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

21

(i)  As included in the bank borrowings classified as
current liabilities, certain loan agreements with
a term of 2 years (2024: 2 years), amounting
to $51,533,000 (2024: $125,148,000), includes
an overriding repayment on demand clause,
which gives the lender the right to demand
repayment at any time at their sole discretion.
Notwithstanding that the Group does not expect
the lender to exercise its rights to demand
repayment provided that the Group timely repay
such loan as scheduled, these liabilities are
classified as current because the Group under
such an agreement does not have a right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least twelve
months after the reporting period.

(i) As at 31 March 2025, a banking facility of the
Group is secured by the property, plant and
equipment with an aggregate carrying amount of
$17,037,000 (2024: $15,630,000).

(iii) The Group’s certain banking facilities are subject
to the fulfilment of covenants relating to the
Group’s statement of financial position ratios. If
the Group were to breach these covenants, the
drawn down facilities would become payable
on demand. As at 31 March 2025 and 2024,
all of these covenants have been complied by
the Group. The Group did not identify any
difficulties complying with the covenants.

LOAN FROM A CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

The loan from New Sense Enterprise Limited bears
a variable interest rate at a prevailing market rate
of 3-month HIBOR per annum, is unsecured and
repayable on 26 December 2029. New Sense
Enterprise Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of
TMF (B.V.]) Ltd. with Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai as settlor.

20 SRITBE(E)

21

i) BAEARBAGBEZRITHE
E ZEABMEZERH
F(CE-_NEFE:—F) &
51,533,000 (ZE = Y4 :
125,148,00070) B & R B R E
TREEBIER L TERARE
FIATRERIZEERKER - &BE
AEEVEFHERALER
EERER NI EER -
ZIBEBEYBEARBIIER
KREBEZHE NN HRERE
EO+ @RI EERTEE

(il RZE-_RAF=A=+—8"
AEBZRTHRENERAZ
#17,037,0007C 2 % - B E

BREEER (T ZMHF:
15,630,0007T) °

(i) XEESE TRITHEAFE
RASE BB RELE
LEHETIIEE - WAK
BERZERY %E%m
Zﬂé&a&gxgﬁ
= _ﬁﬁﬁ—g_mi:ﬁ
=+—8 ' AEEEETFTET
BRRY - REBEW REH
HETROGERERE -

ERBRRER

New Sense Enterprise Limited 2 &
b/ Ip=) Dxfﬁﬁﬁi%ﬂ¥51lﬂiﬁ
BIRITRAEREFE  REEARE
FoBEARZEAFTZAZTR
H & & - New Sense Enterprise
Limited STMF (B.V.I) Ltd. {9 2 & F
DA AEBRERKIYE -
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22 LEASE LIABILITIES 22 HEAE
At 31 March 2025, the lease liabilities were repayable RZZE-_RF=A=+—HAzZHE
as follows: BEEEWT:
2025 2024
—EC-EfE “ToMF
Present value Present value
of the lease  Total lease  of the lease  Total lease
payments payments payments payments
HEAR HEAR HENK HENK
ZHBE HE ZRE ok
$'000 $’000 $'000 $000
Fr T T T
Within 1 year — &R 4,496 5,852 3,329 3,403
After 1 year but within 2 years ~ —FHERZFR 4,527 5,570 276 282
After 2 years but within 5 years ~ ZF®ERAFR 12,344 13,461 — —
21,367 3,605
Less: total future interest expenses J, : AR KA 87 2 %8 (3,516) (80)
Present value of lease liabilities ~ HE&B8EZRE 21,367 3,605
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23 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 23 RESHBMRRRFHE
FINANCIAL POSITION

(@) Current taxation (@ AHHE
2025 2024
—E-RE —E -4
$000 $'000
Fx T

Provision for Hong Kong Profits 2N [€ & & F| 15 % 2

Tax for the year B 27,625 16,348
Provisional Hong Kong Profits 217 & # & & R 55
Tax paid (18,791) (21,904)
8,834 (5,556)
Balance of Hong Kong Profits AEFEEH BN FH 2
Tax provision relating to Bimasn
prior years (1,460) 529
Provision for PRC taxes FEIFTE R 2 BE 109,885 98,983
117,259 93,956
Current tax recoverable ZN HA AT Y [B] 7% 18 4,639 5,121
Current tax payable N B FE A5 R 1B (121,898) (99,077)
(117,259) (93,956)
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23 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 23

264

FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

REEMBRRRPREE)

(b) Deferred taxation (b) IEZEFIE
Fair value
loss of
Accelerated investment
depreciation properties Total
AFEZ
Deferred tax liabilities IEZEHIBEBAE nsE w8 BXx &
$'000 $'000 $'000
T T T+
At 1 April 2023 R=-ZTZZ=
/MA—H 615 1,794 2,409
Credited to profit or loss R E @&t A (414) (1,685) (2,099)
Exchange difference HpER — (109) (109)
At 31 March 2024 and R=-ZE-NE=A
1 April 2024 =+t—-BR
—EWEF
A—H 201 — 201
Charged to profit or loss 718 & X 84 7 — 7
At 31 March 2025 R-ZE-HF
=A=+—H 208 — 208
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23 RESHMBMRRRPBIRGE)

23 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

(b) Deferred taxation (continued) (b) EZLERIE(Z)
Tax losses Others Total
Deferred tax assets EEHEEE BIEEE Hib aH
$'000 $'000 $'000
T T T
At 1 April 2023 R-B-=fF
M A—H (6,636) (2,315) (8,951)
Charged/(credited) to ~ REB@m 8~
profit or loss (Gt A) 6,105 (127) 5,978
Exchange difference H#ER 392 — 392
At 31 March 2024 and R=—ZT_-_WF=A
1 April 2024 =+—BR
=t =¥
MA—H (139) (2,442) (2,581)
Charged to profit or P18 25 X 8
loss 41 197 238
At 31 March 2025 R-ZZE-EF
=A=+-—H (98) (2,245) (2,343)
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23 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 23 REEUBRRERIBEE)
FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

(b) Deferred taxation (continued) (b) EFERIE(Z)
The deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset ERETERENAKIELTHIE
when there is a legally enforceable right to set BERELEMNBARERE -
off and when the deferred income taxes relate to MELEFTEB P RE %
the same tax jurisdiction. The following amounts, R RIFTISRERIRE E
determined after appropriate offsetting, are Eﬁi?_iﬁlﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
shown in the consolidated statement of financial S pﬁ')\L?-?ﬁfﬁ & Ty e
position: REEa B RR KA
2025 2024
—E-EHF —EMF
$/000 $/000
Fr T+
Deferred tax assets BEEMRIBEE (2,343) (2,581)
Deferred tax liabilities EXEMIEAE 208 201
(2,135) (2,380)
At 31 March 2025, in accordance with the R—ZE-_RF=ZA=+—8"
accounting policy set out in note 2(t), the RS g B M 200
Group had unrecognised deferred tax assets of REBERER Jﬁkﬁﬂﬁéﬁ%
approximately $19,092,000 (2024: $19,502,000) %719,092,0007T (= E = P4 :
primarily representing the tax effect of 19,502,0007T) * F R K &
cumulative tax losses (subject to agreement by AHEERZHETE (AR
relevant tax authorities) which can be carried FABBHRERE) 228
forward against future taxable income, of which, ATEAR R ERE M A K EH -
tax losses of $115,709,000 (2024: $118,191,000) I8 B 18 49115,709,0007T (=
can be carried forward indefinitely. = Z /M4 :118,191,0007T) A]

EREHAEE -
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(i)  During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group
received subsidies of $1,298,000 (2024: $746,000) from
the PRC government. The purposes of these subsidies are
to encourage the use of high-technologies machineries,
promote the development of human resources and to
provide financial support to enterprise.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 F ]

24 REVENUE, OTHER NET INCOME 24 WA HIRAFRE
2025 2024
—E-EE —E N4
$000 $'000
Fr +T
Revenue from contracts with ERMBEHREEAELS
customers within the scope of REERNEEFZE
HKFRS 15 KA
Sales of merchandise & o 36 &
— Metal and plastic business — T eBRBER 2,027,028 1,725,255
— Electronic manufacturing — BFEXRI
services business E 1,204,282 1,190,648
— Others — Hfth 19 78
3,231,329 2,915,981
Other net income: Hih W A F5:
Fixed rental income Eiakisical /N 2,385 2,619
Gain on disposal of property, HEWME - BENZE
plant and equipment Z Wz 204 131
Government grants received BERZBNEDE
(note (i) (Bt 3% i) 1,349 2,033
Others HA 1,363 1,327
5,301 6,110
Notes: B 5 -

HE-_T-RAE=A=+—HIt&E
FER - 2 & B UL ER AR B BT 2 4 B
1,298,0007T (ZZ = PU4F : 746,000
L) WEZBR BN TS EE
AallE#s  BRAATEIR
REGCEMBLIE -
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25 EXPENSES BY NATURE 25 EMEIBEZEM

268

2025 2024
—E_RE —E-UFE
$’000 $'000
Fr T+
Cost of materials* R DN 2,307,931 2,137,094
Depreciation and amortisation of ~ #1% - B &k Z#E 2
property, plant and equipment I & N #
(note 6) (B 5%6) 106,844 89,153
Amortisation of intangible assets & & 2 #
(note 8) (M 7£8) 2,926 1,656
Employee benefit expenses EERNMAX
(including directors’ (BREEEM)
remuneration) (note 26(a)) (K 5¥26(a)) 395,360 358,426
Rental expenses of short-term leases %2 B E 1 & 7,908 8,010
Net exchange gain/(loss) BN Wz (EiE)
ek 5,974 (1,828)
Auditors’ remuneration Z B & 3,417 3,350
Recognition of loss allowance for &5 & 15 fE W Bk 50 &
trade and bills receivables BRECER
(note 12) (M 3512) 12,870 4,532
Write-down of obsolete and RERFHEHFTEZ
slow-moving inventories WO 10,414 1,348
Other expenses B 54,307 55,928
2,907,951 2,657,669
Representing: K&
Cost of revenue U A K AR 2,759,253 2,545,842
Distribution and selling expenses %3 85 [z 5 & & 27,436 22,556
General and administrative —REITHER
expenses 121,262 89,271
2,907,951 2,657,669
*  The cost of materials excluded depreciation and E MEEATBEYE  BERRE

amortisation of property, plant and equipment, employee
benefit expenses and rental expenses.
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26 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES — INCLUDING 26 BRERAXZYH —BRERESEHE
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
(a) Employee benefit expenses during the year are as @ FAERERAMLWT:
follows:
2025 2024
—EBZEHF —ET_MF
$’000 $'000
Fr Tt
Wages and salaries FMEITE 362,033 331,815
Contributions to defined AEHFRKE
contribution retirement plans E{PA N 30,202 26,542
Provision for long service payments & B iR 7% & %= 1 99 69
Share-based payment A% 19 2 £t 3,026 —
395,360 358,426
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26 BERAXH —BEESEHSE

26 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES — INCLUDING

270

(b)

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED) (%)
Directors’ remuneration by EEME
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant RIZBEBCARERDI)FE383E
to section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies KRRmM&EDI 2 % — & th (B 8
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies EFEEMNBREROIZ
Ordinance (Disclosure of Information about EEHemELT:
Benefits of Directors) Regulation is as follows:
2025
ZECIE
Employer's  Share-based
Discretionary  contributions payment:
& director’s to retirement  Share Award
Fees Salary bonuses plans Plan Total
Rf%A:
MR  BASHE  RORRB
Name of director E24B ne ¢  EERA  ZEIHR itd af
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
n I I I I I
Executive directors HirEs
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai fiEgLsE - 4,836 3,705 = = 8,561
Mr. Zhao Kai kb = 1,336 3,412 4 159 4,949
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia B4 /) Vi — 1,007 2,015 18 159 3,199
Mr. Chan Raymond RRXALE — 1,145 2,146 18 159 3,468
Independent non-executive ~ BUFH17ES
directors
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing HEERE 165 - - - - 165
Mr. Yam Chung Shing (resigned £ Z 3% &
on 6 September 2024) (ZE-pE
AR~BRE) 69 —~ - - - 69
Mr. Lam Yin Shing, Donald ~ #i & B % &
(appointed on T July 2024) (zE2-m&
tA-BEZf) 188 = = = = 188
Dr. Lau Kin Wah BlRERL 165 — = = = 165

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ERER 2 7



Notes to the Financial Statements

B 5 ¥ R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HBRIN - LABITIIR)

26 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES — INCLUDING 260 EEEANZE —BREEMS
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED) (&)
(b) Directors’ remuneration (continued) by EEMME ()
2024
—EomE

Employer's  Share-based
Discretionary  contributions payment:
& director’s to retirement  Share Award

Fees Salary bonuses plans Plan Total

RipsH -

MER  EAEHE  ROER
Name of director 534 ik B¢ ERRM LB it aft
§'000 §'000 §'000 §'000 §'000 $'000

T T T T T T

Executive directors YnES
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai fEB%E = 4,832 3,03 = - 8,035
Mr. Zhao Kai HelfE — 1,294 2,909 23 — 4226
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia & 8/ V@ - 975 1,682 18 - 2,675
Mr. Chan Raymond BRXAGE = 1,116 1,894 18 - 3,028
Non-executive directors FUTES
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming fEA%E
(resigned on 20 November ~ (ZFZ=%
2023) +-B=1H
B 140 = = = = 140
Mr. Ho Kai Man Gl ¢i%:
(resigned on 28 March 2024)  (ZE-R%
ZF-1/H
BHf) - 506 20 18 - 544
Independent non-executive ~ HYFHTEZ
directors
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing NBERE 150 - - - - 150
Mr. Yam Chung Shing EEHLE 150 - - - - 150
Dr. Lau Kin Wah fRERL 150 - - = = 150
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26 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES — INCLUDING 260 BERAXE —BREENS
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED) (%)
(c) Five highest paid individuals © EEESFMAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the AEEEBRERS T M
highest in the Group for the year include four ALTBENA(ZTE_MEF:
(2024: four) directors whose emoluments are mME)EE HeEeH RN L
reflected in the analysis presented above. The j(“*ﬁ EAE WE#H—H(Z
emoluments payable to the remaining one (2024: T= —R)REFAT
one) individual during the year are as follows: ZJ:H @ﬂ LWL
2025 2024
—E-HF —E_EF
$’000 $'000
T T
Basic salaries and allowances EAXFH & K ER 1,011 976
Discretionary bonus B 15 M 2 FEAT 830 830
Contributions to retirement plans R K &H 8 2 # 5k 18 18
Share-based payment P 0 32 A5 132 —
1,991 1,824
The emoluments fell within the following band: ZEMEeETINHEEEHEN:

Number of individuals

ATEAB
2025 2024
—E-FHE —EpF
$1,500,001 to 1,500,001%
$2,000,000 2,000,000 1 1
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FINANCE COSTS, NET 27 BABEAE - FE
2025 2024
—E-HE —EToF
$’000 $'000
Fr T
Finance costs B % B A
— Interest expenses from financial — R K AT E 2
liabilities measured at TREENE
amortised cost X H 40,088 44,463
— Interest expenses on lease —HERBEZHNE
liabilities X 998 343
Less: interest expenses capitalised & : frd fFE W EFI S
into property, plant and X HERE
equipment (note) (B 5E) . (1,951)
41,086 42,855
Finance income B 1% WA
— Interest income from financial — Z#HKAFTEZ
assets measured at amortised TREENR
cost A (2,240) (2,323)
— Other interest income from — BRAFEFTAEAM
financial assets measured ZHEKA(FE
at fair value through other Bt 82 &/
comprehensive income BEHMANE
(recycling) WA (389) (381)
(2,629) 2,704)
Finance costs, net WA - FRE 38,457 40,151
Note: The borrowing costs had been capitalised at a rate of s BE_Z_MF=A=+—H%F
5.79% per annum for the year ended 31 March 2024. E - BERARAERES5.79% 8
B o
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28

274

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF PROFIT OR LOSS

The amount of taxation charged to consolidated
statement of profit or loss represents:

REEABRRRH BN

2025 2024
—E_EE —EpF
$’000 $'000
Frx T
Current taxation by TR
Hong Kong Profits Tax EABNFH
— Current year — KEE 27,625 16,348
— Under provision for prior years — T2 V2 E# 3,568 3,011
PRC taxes e
— Corporate Income Tax — EMER 11,657 (5,898)
Deferred taxation IE 3L B 15 245 3,879
43,095 17,340

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the
rate of 16.5% (2024: 16.5%) on the estimated
assessable profit for the year for all Group companies
incorporated in Hong Kong.

The Group’s operations in the PRC are subject
to Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC at the
standard tax rate of 25% (2024: 25%), except for two
PRC subsidiaries of the Group was rewarded with
Certificate of High and New Technology Enterprise
and entitled to a tax reduction from 25% to 15%. The
entitlement is subject to review every three years.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2025, the Inland Revenue Department
of Hong Kong (“IRD”) has issued notices of additional
profit tax assessment demanding additional tax
payable of HK$21,151,000 in total for the years of tax
assessment from 2016/17 to 2018/19 in connection
with the tax treatment relating to contract processing
arrangement in the PRC.

Having reviewed the merits of the additional tax
assessments, the directors of the Company have
determined to strongly contest the additional
assessments raised by the IRD. As of 31 March
2025, the Group has lodged objections against the
additional tax assessment for the year of assessment
2016/17 and 2017/18 and has applied to hold over
the additional tax demanded for the years of tax
assessment of 2018/19. The IRD has agreed to the
holdover the payment of the additional tax demanded
of $14,005,000 by way of purchasing an equivalent
amount of tax reserve certificates (“TRCs”) and has
agreed to holdover the remainder of $7,146,000
unconditionally. No additional tax provision has
been made during the year ended 31 March 2025 in
respect of the above additional tax assessments on
the basis that the management considers the Company
has a technical position to defend the tax treatment
adopted.

The purchased TRCs of $5,386,000 were included in
“Prepayments, deposits and other receivables” in the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position.
Subsequent to the year end of the reporting period,
the Company has further purchased the required TRCs
of $8,619,000.

28

BN UBTLAIR)
REBEERBXRPHEB(H)

BE-_T-_AF=A=+H &H
MR @EER BB HEMF SR
SRR AZE - 32016/17E2018/19
AMFEEHEPBRIBRNEHINILHE
A MIEERE  EkELmEH
7X21,151,0007 T °

KERZEMMAR 2 EKER - K
ARAEZEATARNUMFEBER
REZHEMTNR - BHE-_ZT-_HF
=A=+8 ' AEEBEER2016/17%
201718k Bt 5F & 2 %8 AN &¥ 3 4=
¥ W EE2018/19R B FE 2
M ERBEEANRER M
M- HWEREREAABESE
CREHE (@) 2 &
1% S 4N T E 5Kk 214,005,000 7T 78 0
Mk WEBGKHREEEZE MR
27,146,000 - EHE-T—
FZA=THLEFERN L
MRS RETiREIINEE  RE
TEBEERAERABRMEER
FRAEMEEENETHE -

FTE8 B 2 5,386,0007C % i % 2 5
AREBFEETBRARAZITE
N Ze & E A ERIERKIE]
o EMREHFERE  ARFIEE
— B E T /18,619,000
=
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN - LABITEIR)

28

276

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 28
OF PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)

Reconciliation between income tax expense and
accounting profit at applicable tax rates:

RESBEBRPIEB(E)

It BRERREAELZ

SN 2 B

2025 2024
—E-ERE —E-mF
$’000 $°000
F Fr
Profit before taxation B B¢ Al & A 247,576 186,999
Profit before Hong Kong Profits Tax & & & #1153 8 & 1> %
and Corporate Income Tax Fr 15 %1 Al 4 7 247,576 186,999
Notional tax calculated at REBHEAREZER
applicable income tax rate I8 38,610 24,210
Share of (profits)/losses of associates {5 Hf & A 7] 2 C& )
/BiR (201) 245
Income not subject to taxation E|mARB WA (35,980) (26,188)
Expenses not deductible for taxation N A] 1 /i 2 7
purposes 37,172 16,497
Temporary difference not AERZERER
recognised 391 (124)
Under provision for Hong Kong EFEZHEBMEZ
taxation in prior years DR B 3,568 3,011
Utilisation of previously ERAEFARERMIE
unrecognised tax losses & 18 (886) 411)
Unused tax losses not recognised KRR 2 AR AHIE
1R 421 100
Income tax expense PT1SM H 43,095 17,340
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HBRIN - LABITIIR)

EARNINGS PER SHARE 29
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing

the profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing
the profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company by weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue after adjusting the potential dilutive
effect of the outstanding share options during the year.

=1

TR AR A TR B AN R B s
FEARGGNBRAFAERITZ
EEBRINEFHEGE -

BRREEROEN DRBEARRER
FEAREGRIBRAFAERITZ
EBBRMBETFOER L AR EEE
BREZRARITEBBRETE -

2025 2024
—E-RE —E-mF
Profit attributable to equity RAFIERFBA

shareholders of the Company JE A& 4 A

($000) (F7T) 204,481 169,659
Allocation of profit attributable to B {7 BBt EIIF A 2 K

unvested shares held for Share 5B A 2 8 A 5 BT

award plan ($'000) (F7T) (385) —
Profit attributable to equity RNAFIERFFA AR

shareholders of the Company w A (238 )

(adjusted) ($'000) (F7x) 204,096 169,659
Weighted average number of BEERTEAKRZ

ordinary shares in issue (in I #E 15 8K

thousand shares) (F %) 2,021,459 2,021,459
Effect of shares purchased under 1R 1% i {7 2Z B) 51 2| iE

the Share award plan Btz &

(in thousand shares) (FR%) (5,232) —
Weighted average number of ERTERR(#E) 2

ordinary shares (diluted) in issue  JN#E F 5 &

(in thousand shares) (F %) 2,016,227 2,021,459
Effect of outstanding share options MARITEBEAE 2 & 99 -
Weighted average number of ERTERKR(#E) 2

ordinary shares (diluted) in issue AN ¥ &

(in thousand shares) (F B 2,016,326 2,021,459
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) & & £ Z<)& #) (L) 10.1 8.4
Diluted earnings per share DR ST il

(HK cents) &AL 10.1 8.4
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B 75 ¥ 3R MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN - LABITEIR)

30 DIVIDENDS

278

30 BEREKE

Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the BRAEASFERNSAQTER
Company attributable to the year BEAZRE
2025 2024
—E-HE —E-mF
$’000 $'000
Fr T
Interim dividend declared and paid EE#M&EIREH
of HK2.5 cents per ordinary share ~ Hifi% 8 & & i@
(2024: HK1.5 cents per ordinary  J&2.58U(=Z
share) “NF - BER
1.5 1) 50,536 30,322
Final dividend proposed after the 7 ¥R &5 B K & #¢
end of the reporting period of K REIRR B
HK3.0 cents per ordinary share T @ Ax3.078 1L
(2024: HK4.0 cents per ordinary ZEMF:
share) A NR4.08
filr) 60,633 80,858
111,169 111,180

The final dividend proposed after the end of the
reporting period have not been recognised as a
liability at the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 5 ¥ R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HBRIN - LABITIIR)

30 DIVIDENDS (CONTINUED) 30 BERERE(A)

(b) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the by BRE-UBEFE IRFRA
Company attributable to the previous financial e RO B 2 FE AS A B
year, approved and paid during the year BREAEAZRE

2025 2024
—E-ERE —E-MF
$/000 $°000

T T

Final dividend in respect of the ME—HMEEFER
previous financial year, approved  #t /& & R F K

and paid during the year, of Ik 3% 2 REIAX
HK4.0 cents per ordinary share B8 EAER40
(2024: HK1.5 cents per ordinary BI(ZZEZm
share) F:8EAR
1.5%810) 80,858 30,322
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN - LABITEIR)

31 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 31 AERIAER
The Group had the following significant commitments REBBUTNRBERANEGE MR
and contingent liabilities which were not provided for REGFIREBZEEZAERIA
in the consolidated financial statements: BfE:
(@) Capital commitments (@ BREIE
The Group had the following authorised and R-ZE_RF=A=+—HBXR
contracted capital commitments at 31 March SEEUTERERZDNZE
2025: A
2025 2024
—E-RE —T_mEF
$’000 $°000
Fr T
Purchase of property, BEYWE BE
plant and equipment K& 40,529 27,965
Acquisition of land W s + 3 57,683 .
In addition, the Group was committed at 31 BE SN - AN B 7202553 A31
March 2025 to enter into a new lease of 3 years HABZRITR/B3IFZ M
that is not yet commenced, the lease payments A EZEORKFAER R
under which amounted to $2,797,000 per annum. BHRAEEMES /2,797,000
5T e
(b) Guarantees (b) ER
As at the end of the reporting period, the RBEHRR EERR/AA
Directors do not consider it is probable that AR Be B\ H KB QR R
a claim will be made against the Company TRITEE A S w5 E R
under the guarantee arrangement to financial HERZHEMRERE - X
institutions in connection with the banking HWEMBR  ARBIEERER
facilities granted to its subsidiaries. The maximum Z%Kﬁfﬂf%%% B E 2 W
liability of the Company at the end of the BARRDRZAME Al
reporting period under the guarantees is the 536,159,0007T (=& Z M £ :
amount of the facilities drawn down by the 529,692,0007C) °
subsidiaries that are covered by the guarantees,
being $536,159,000 (2024: $529,692,000).
280 KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED % FIE R 2R A R 2 7



Notes to the Financial Statements

B 5 ¥ R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HBRIN - LABITIIR)

32 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32 FEBEALIRS
(@) Transactions with related parties @ HBEATzZXRS
2025 2024
—E-REFE —E-mF
$'000 $'000
Fr T

Sales of goods: HEEW:
Sales of finished goods to related [ E&E QR #HE

companies BYBX i 988 78
Others: Hl:
Consultancy fee charged by an XITEREE TS

associated company NG 6438 648
Rental charged by related e THEE

companies NG 2,468 2,467
Purchase of machinery from an Mt FIEE

associate 25 2,997 12,470
Training fee charged by ST SR IE TR

an associate NG 52 72
Repair and maintenance charged ~ Xf#ERREE

by an associate T HEE QA 6,644 6,096
Rental income from a related ) 8 3 2 =) Y ER

company GERA N 206 206
Management fee income from A3 E A R

related company BERA 640 640
Interest expenses to a controlling S 7| 8 F 15 I%

shareholder MR 830 —
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B 75 ¥R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr 35 #BAIN - LAETTHIR)

32 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32 FEMEAIXRZ(E)
(CONTINUED)

(b) Balances with related parties (by HEEEALZE&
2025 2024
—E-RE —E - NFE
$’000 $'000
Fx T

Amount due to an associate FETBEE A BIBR I

(note 10) (Pt 5E10) 11,770 2,331

o

Amounts due to related companies &1 B8 i&E A A

AR X 3,919 3,696
Amounts due from related JE s [ i A &)
companies AR 10,908 3,345
Loan from a controlling shareholder 1% fi% i% 3 & 100,000 —
The amounts due to an associate and related JEfT B & Al R ERQRER
companies are unsecured, interest-free and TR - FEAE - X'
repayable on demand. EREEE -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B &SN - LAETTHIR)

32 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel
of the Group, including amounts paid to the
Company’s directors as disclosed in note 26(b)
and certain of the highest paid employees as

32 FEBEAIXRZ(E)

© FEEEEBEMNS
REBFEEEAE ZHH
(BEIXNFARRESEZXK
BRWsF26b)HE - ME T
&= 5 B E 8 2 5 BRI R Y

disclosed in note 26(c), is as follows: FF26(c) W EE) AT ¢
2025 2024
—E-REFE —E-mF
$'000 $'000
F 5 Fr
Short-term employee benefits REREERAN 24,367 23,138
Post-employment benefits B B3k 12 4@ A 114 113
Share-based payment & 17 % 1~F 132 —
24,613 23,251

Total remuneration is included in “employee
benefit expenses” (see note 26(a)).

Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to
connected transactions

Except for the rental charged by related
companies as disclosed in note 32(a) that
constitute connected transactions, none of the
related party transactions mentioned above falls
under the definition of connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

BN BERNEEREM ]
(R P 5E26() °

d) HBEEXZERzZLTHRA
ZE A%
BR 0 M 7E32(a) PR I BB 2 XY
HeTHRERABRAER
Z9 AERR2BAEAL
RS EH A TR BIE14A
EFMAELBRERIRFE
REXS -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN - LABITEIR)

33 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 33 RAREEZHBMRRE
POSITION
2025 2024
—E-RE —E - O4F
Note $’000 $'000
Bt 3 T T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries KRB AR 2= 747,874 727,802
Other financial assets HMemreEE 7,119 6,982
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 754,993 734,784
Current assets REBEE
Amount due from a subsidiary & Y {8 A ]
AR 100,000 100,000
Prepayments, deposits and BAE RER
other receivables B b WBR K 221 224
Current tax recoverable 7N HA A] Y [e] #¢ 18 = 23
Cash and cash equivalents RekRE
EEY 4,760 4,084
104,981 104,331
Total assets EEHE 859,974 839,115
EQUITY ¥ =
Capital and reserves PANETR 5
attributable to equity BB AR
shareholders of the & A X 17
Company
Share capital & < 16 202,146 202,146
Other reserves H Ath % 18 495,981 496,800
Retained earnings R8BI 18 54,930 87,327
Total equity EmAE 753,057 786,273
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POSITION (CONTINUED)

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B HBRIN - LABITIIR)

33 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 33 AAEBEZBEMRRKE)

2025 2024
—EC_RE —E-NF
Note $’000 $'000
B 5 Fr T
LIABILITIES a8fE
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Loan from a controlling ERBKRRER
shareholder 100,000 =
Provision for long service RHRG - EE
payments 97 120
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 100097 120
Current liabilities REEE
Accruals and other payables  JEET & 3 & H A
J& 1 BR 3K 6,791 23,562
Bank borrowings RITIEE - 29,160
Current tax payable AN HA FE A B 1A 29 =
6,820 52,722
Total liabilities EEHEE 106,917 52,842
Total equity and liabilities EakB8EAE 859,974 839,115
Net current assets RBEEFE 98,161 51,609
Total assets less current EERERRD
liabilities =R 853,154 786,393

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of R-ZBE_AF A NA_ThHEHHES
directors on 25 June 2025. SR ERRETE -

Ho Cheuk Fai Chan Ming Mui, Silvia

1A f2 18 R & ok
Director Director
EZE EZE
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B FHBAIN - LABITEIR)
34 IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY 34 HERBRRKRIZEH AL

At 31 March 2025, the directors regard TMF (B.V.l.) R-EBE_RAF=A=+-—H8 &%
Limited, which beneficially owns 40.45% of the RBTMF BV.L) Limited B A
Company’s equity interests, to be the immediate and RATF40.45% MM F & - WAEAR
ultimate controlling party of the Company. Mr. Ho AlZEERREBESAL - [@kE
Cheuk Fai and Ms. Ho Po Chu are the beneficial ¥E S A AT E Tk 2 £ ATMF (B.V.L)
owners of TMF (B.V.1) Limited. TMF (B.V.L) Limited is Limited 2 Bz A A > TMF (B.V.1)
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and does not Limited 7 28 /88 BR & B¥ & B 37 JOR
produce financial statements available for public use. ERBEMBEHRREARER °
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Five-year Financial S ummary

The results of the Group for the last five financial years AREBEHE-_T-_HF= )EJ +—HBI

ended 31 March 2025 and the assets and liabilities of the TFTEMKFEZEE N_ZE_—%F -
Group as at 31 March 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024 are as Z—ZT=Z=F =% :_E&_%@_mﬁ
follows: —A=+—HZEBEEIKEBEWOT:
CONSOLIDATED RESULTS me¥E

Year ended 31 March
BZ=A=1-HLEE

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021*%
ZEZHE ZBZMFE ZZE-=F ZT-_F T+
(Restated)
(BEF)
$'000 $000 $'000 $000 $'000

Fr T T T T

Revenue KA 3,231,329 2,915,981 3,081,697 3,075,013 3,472,798
Operating profit BERN 285,026 228,372 210,785 303,296 743,992
Finance income FBKA 2,629 2,704 1,504 1,623 11,379
Finance costs B 7 B AR (41,086) (42,855) (35,655) (9,876) (7,975)
Share of profits/(losses) L PN

of associates Wi/ ( Eﬂa) 1,007 (1,222) 15,157 1,164 1,487
Profit before taxation BR B AT &R R 247,576 186,999 191,791 296,207 748,883
Income tax FEH 43,095  (17,340) (9,473)  (41,934)  (303,555)
Profit for the year from REREXBL

continuing operations FERA 204,481 169,659 182,318 254,273 445,328
Profit for the year from BRERERB

discontinued operations FE &AM = — 203,855 294,829 —
Profit for the year EERA 204,481 169,659 386,173 549,102 445,328

& Include income, expenses and profit from discontinued operations.

* BEERLEREXRHBZWRA-BRREAH -

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 F ] 287



Five-year Financial Summary

IFMBERE

CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES mEEERAE
At 31 March
R=ZA=+—-H
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—EHE —EBE-NFE —BE-=F —E-—F —_E-_—F
$'000 $000 $'000 $'000 $000
T T T Tr T
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets ERNBEE 1,141,767 1,059,915 1,152,470 1,309,610 1,007,922
Current assets mEEE 1,390,939 1,342,806 1,398,309 3,756,456 3,422,966
Total assets BELE 2,532,706 2,402,721 2,550,779 5,066,066 4,430,888
EQUITY B
Share capital BA 202,146 202,146 202,146 202,131 201,244
Reserves #E 876,638 790,858 734,616 1,494,421 1,495,462
Totalequity — @®#®E 1078784 993,004 936762 1,696,552 1,696,706
LIABILITIES 2
Non-current liabilities ERBAE 272,188 196,974 236,317 490,888 632,330
Current liabilities mEAaE 1,181,734 1,212,743 1,377,700 2,878,626 2,101,852
Total liabilities BEAE 1,453,922 1,409,717 1,614,017 3,369,514 2,734,182
Total equity and liabilities BzhkaEeE 2,532,706 2,402,721 2,550,779 5,066,066 4,430,888
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